Clemson University TigerPrints

All Dissertations

**Dissertations** 

December 2018

# Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells Release Extracellular Vesicles During Early Postnatal Neurogenesis

Mary C. Morton Clemson University, mortonm2014@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/all\_dissertations

### **Recommended Citation**

Morton, Mary C., "Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells Release Extracellular Vesicles During Early Postnatal Neurogenesis" (2018). *All Dissertations*. 2561. https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/all\_dissertations/2561

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Dissertations at TigerPrints. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Dissertations by an authorized administrator of TigerPrints. For more information, please contact kokeefe@clemson.edu.

# SUBVENTRICULAR ZONE NEURAL STEM CELLS RELEASE EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES DURING EARLY POSTNATAL NEUROGENESIS

A Dissertation Presented to the Graduate School of Clemson University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy Biological Sciences

> by Mary Morton December 2018

Accepted by: Dr. David Feliciano, Committee Chair Dr. Susan Chapman Dr. Charles Rice Dr. Lisa Temesvari

#### ABSTRACT

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are nanometer sized particles released from all cells. EVs are found in all biological fluids, including cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and blood. EVs modulate intercellular communication through the transfer of nucleic acids and proteins from donor to recipient cells. During early postnatal neurogenesis, subventricular zone (SVZ) neural stem cells (NSCs) asymmetrically divide to give rise to neuroblasts that migrate along the rostral migratory stream (RMS) and populate the olfactory bulb (OB). Other, non-neuronal cells populate the SVZ, such as microglia and endothelial cells. Microglia have been shown to regulate SVZ NSCs, but it remains unclear if this communication is bidirectional. The purpose of this study was to determine if SVZ NSCs release EVs and what physiological impact this has on postnatal SVZ development. First, we generated a protocol in which SVZ NSCs were placed in culture and EVs were isolated from NSC conditioned media. To study EVs in vivo, EVs were labeled with Dil and transplanted into the SVZ of neonatal mice. Immunocytochemistry, immunohistochemistry, and electron microscopy were used to confirm the isolation and transplantation of NSC EVs. Using this methodology, SVZ NSC EVs were transplanted into the lateral ventricles of neonatal mice. We found a majority of Dil particles coalesced with Iba1-positive microglia in the SVZ. Furthermore, Iba1positive microglia underwent a morphological shift from a stellate to rounded phenotype. RNA sequencing and analysis of EV treated microglia revealed that immune system processes and inflammatory responses were the most highly

ii

enriched and represented terms. Small RNA sequencing of NSC EVs uncovered families of miRNA, such as Let-7, that have been shown to regulate microglia physiology and morphology. The upregulation of inflammatory response transcripts included interleukin  $1\alpha$  (IL- $1\alpha$ ), IL- $1\beta$ , and IL-6. In agreement with RNA sequencing data, Luminex assays revealed cytokines, such as IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6, were significantly upregulated in treated microglia. EV-depleted microglia media was transplanted into the lateral ventricles of neonatal mice, and media collected from EV-treated microglia reduced SVZ NSC proliferation. To further investigate if SVZ NSCs release EVs in vivo, we generated a transgenic model system in which EV marker protein tetraspanin CD9 was fused to Turbo-GFP (CD9-GFP), which is derived from the copepod *Pontellina plumata*. CD9-GFP was inserted downstream of a STOP codon flanked by loxP sites. CD9-GFP was found in Nestin-positive cells in the SVZ of transgenic mice electroporated with Crerecombinase. Taken together, our data supports the release of EVs from SVZ NSCs both in vivo and in vitro. Furthermore, EVs released from SVZ NSCs regulate microglia during early postnatal development.

iii

# DEDICATION

To Dixie, Kitty and Ben.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I want to thank my mentor, Dr. Feliciano, for his guidance and honesty. Without his support, none of this would have been possible. I also want to thank my lab mates for their friendship, support and wisdom. In particular, Victoria Neckles and Jennie Holmberg who both helped me plan and execute many experiments and were always a shoulder to lean on.

Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Susan Chapman, Dr. Charles Rice and Dr. Lesly Temesvari for your counsel throughout my dissertation. Your support and guidance were always a blessing. Thank you to all of the Godley-Snell faculty. Without you all, none of this would have been possible.

To Dana and Micaela, thank you for making graduate school a positive experience. I know you will both do great things. To Kristin, thank you for all the encouragement and support when I really needed it. To my parents, thank you for always answering the phone. Finally, Ben, I'm sorry I dragged you across the country, but I think it all worked out in the end.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# PAGE

TITLE PAGE	≣	i
ABSTRACT		. ii
DEDICATIO	N	iv
ACKNOWLE	EDGMENTS	. v
LIST OF FIG	SURES	ix
LIST OF TA	BLES	. <b>X</b>
CHAPTER		
I.	INTRODUCTION	.1
	EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES	.1
	EXTRACELLULAR VESICLE CARGO	.3
	EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES AND DISEASE	.7
	BIOMARKERS AND DESIGNER VESICLES	.9
	OVERVIEW OF SUBVENTRICULAT ZONE NEURAL	
	DEVELOPMENT AND NEUROVESICLES IN BRAIN	
	DEVELOPMENT1	2
	CONCLUSIONS1	6
	DISSERTATION GOALS AND OBJECTIVES1	7
	REFERENCES1	8
	FIGURES4	13
١١.	ISOLATION OF EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES FROM	

# PAGE

# SUBVENTRICULAR ZONE NEURAL STEM

CELLS	7
ABSTRACT47	7
INTRODUCTION48	3
MATERIALS	2
PROTOCOL	3
NOTES58	3
DISCUSSION60	)
FIGURES64	4
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS68	5
DISCLOSURES68	5
REFERENCES65	5
NEONATAL SUBVENTRICULARZON NEURAL STEM	
CELLS RELEASE EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES THAT	
ACT AS A MICROGLIA MORPHOGEN	5
ABSTRACT7	7
INTRODUCTION78	3
RESULTS80	)
DISCUSSION89	Э
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS92	2
DISCLOSURES93	3
EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES	3

III.

# A CRE-RECOMBINASE-INDUCIBLE AND FLUORESCENT IV. EXTRACELLULAR VESICLE TRANSGENIC MODEL SYSTEM LABELS NEURAL STEM CELL IN THE SUBVENTRICULAR ZONE OF NEONATAL MICE......128 ABSTRACT......128 INTRODUCTION......129 DISCUSSION......135 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS......143 REFERENCES ......144 V.

# LIST OF FIGURES

1.1 Schematic of Extracellular Vesicles Release and
Exosome Uptake43
1.2 Schematic of Extracellular Vesicles and Cortical
Development45
2.1 Isolation and Transplantation of EVs from SVZ NSCs64
3.1 Neonatal SVZ NSCs Release EVs114
3.2 SVZ NSCs Release CD9 in vivo116
3.3 NSC EVs Selectively Target Microglia118
3.4 NSC EVs Act as a Microglia Morphogen120
3.5 NSC EVs Activate a Microglia Transcriptional Network,
Resulting in an NSC Feedback Loop122
S3.1 Western Blot of Primary SVZ NSC Lysates124
S3.2 CD9 is Released with N2A EVs, Related to Figure 2125
S3.3 Effect of NSV EVs on RAW 264.7 Cytokine Profile,
Related to Figure 5127
4.1 Generation of Cre-Inducible CD9-GFP Mice
4.2 CD9-GFP Labels Nestin-positive Cells in Perinatal SVZ156

# LIST OF TABLES

# PAGE

4.1 Primers Used for Long Range PCR and Genotyping ......157

#### CHAPTER ONE

#### INTRODUCTION

### **Extracellular Vesicles**

Extracellular Vesicles (EVs) are primarily membranous-derived particles ranging in size from 30 nm – 500 nm (Cocucci and Meldolesi 2015; Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002; Maas, Breakefield, and Weaver 2017). EVs are found in most biological fluids, including cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), blood, urine and saliva, and carry an array of biologically active cargo such as proteins, lipids and RNA (Valadi et al. 2007; Ramachandran and Palanisamy 2012; Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013; Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002; Wei et al. 2017). Three types of EVs have been described: exosomes, microvesicles and exomeres (H. Zhang et al. 2018; Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002; Cocucci and Meldolesi 2015). Exosomes are generated from the inward budding of an early endosome to generate intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) that populate multivesicular bodies (MVBs; Figure 1A-C) (Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002). MVB biogenesis relies on the ESCRT (endosomal sorting complex required for transport) pathway. Comprised of five complexes, the ESCRT pathway intricately delegates specific steps in MVB biogenesis to each of the complexes (Henne, Buchkovich, and Emr 2011). ESCRT-0 is required at the site of initiation to generate the early endosome (Henne, Buchkovich, and Emr 2011). Invagination of the cell membrane to generate the early endosome requires the recruitment of ESCRT complexes I and II by ESCRT-0 (Bache et al. 2003; Lu et al. 2003; Katzmann et al. 2003). ESCRT- II is required to initiate ESCRT-III complex (Booth et al. 2006; Babst et al. 2002; Langelier et al. 2006). ESCRT-III tethers the outer edges of the early endosome which has been suggested to allow for Vps4-Vta1 complex (V complex) to assemble and complete the scission of the endosome (Henne, Buchkovich, and Emr 2011). Interestingly, protein cargo sorting into ILVs can occur in an ESCRTdependent or -independent manner (van Niel et al. 2011). MVBs then fuse with the cell membrane and release the vesicles, now called exosomes, into the extracellular space (Figure 1D). Although it is unclear precisely how MVBs are sequestered to, dock and fuse with the cell membrane, many studies point to the involvement of RAB GTPases. The first example of RAB GTPase involvement in exosome secretion came from studies utilizing reticulocyte cell lines which demonstrated that Rab11 was required for exosome release (Savina, Vidal, and Colombo 2002). Rab27a and Rab27b have also been shown to reduce exosome release from cells by inhibiting the targeting and docking of MVBs to the plasma membrane (Ostrowski et al. 2010; A. Bobrie et al. 2012; Peinado et al. 2012). Another study discovered that Rab-GTPase activating proteins TBC1D10A-C in oligodendrocytes target Rab35 function which is required for exosome release (Hsu et al. 2010). Reduction of Rab35 function resulted in the accumulation of ILVs in MVBs within the cytoplasm, thus suggesting Rab35's function in docking at the plasma membrane (Hsu et al. 2010). Conversely, microvesicles are generated following scission of the outward budding of the cell membrane (Figure 1H) (Cocucci and Meldolesi 2015). Exosomes are characteristically smaller in size (< 150 nm), whereas microvesicles are larger in size (200-500 nm) (Maas, Breakefield, and Weaver 2017). Finally, non-membranous EVs, called exomeres, are protein-like vesicles comprised of metabolic, translational and coagulation regulating proteins (H. Zhang et al. 2018). Elucidating the biogenesis of these nonmembranous vesicles will be critical to understand their physiological roles (H. Zhang et al. 2018).

#### Extracellular Vesicle Cargo

EVs carry an array of biological material such as miRNA, mRNA and protein (Valadi et al. 2007; Ramachandran and Palanisamy 2012; Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013; Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002; Wei et al. 2017). Historically, EVs were thought to act as a cellular disposal system in which damaged or unnecessary RNA and protein were shuttled into and released from the cell (Harding, Heuser, and Stahl 1983). However, recent discussion has shifted to favor a more intentional role of EVs and their cargo. To uncover the role EVs play in cellular communication, EV content has been investigated. Studies have ranged from small scale hypothesis driven experimentation to next generation RNA sequencing and microarrays to proteomics and lipidomic studies.

Since the discovery that EVs can transfer functional miRNA and RNA from donor to recipient cells, studies have focused on the regulatory roles of EVs in both development and disease. However, many questions remain regarding EV miRNA quantity, biological significance and the functional transfer of miRNA between cells (**Figure 1E-F**). Predominately, circulating miRNAs are bound to protein

complexes, such as Ago2, with only a small subset of miRNAs found within exosomes (Melo et al. 2014; Arroyo et al. 2011). Quantity of EV content per EV was discovered to follow a low occupancy model (Chevillet et al. 2014). It is estimated that for every 100 circulating exosomes, only one will contain miRNAs, but for non-circulating exosomes, this ratio is higher (1:10) (Chevillet et al. 2014). miRNA sorting is dependent on miRNA consensus sequences or binding motifs, miRNA shuttling proteins and endogenous target mRNA levels (Melo et al. 2014; Squadrito et al. 2014). Heterogenous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A2B1 (hnrnpA2B1) sorts miRNA into exosomes through specific motifs found on EV miRNAs (Villarroya-Beltri et al. 2013). Sorting of miRNAs can be altered by mutagenesis of the binding motif or through the down-regulation or loss of hnrnpa2b1 (Villarroya-Beltri et al. 2013). In breast cancer (BC) cells, miRNA processing components were identified within exosomes released from BC cells (Melo et al. 2014). Exosomes were shown to process pre-miRNA utilizing Dicer, AGO2 and the RISC complex in a cell-independent manner (Melo et al. 2014). Additionally, miRNA sorting relies on the level of endogenous miRNAs. If the target mRNA transcript is elevated within the donor cell, then the miRNA which recognizes that target mRNA will less frequently be sorted into exosomes (Squadrito et al. 2014). Therefore, the converse is true, meaning if target transcripts are low and miRNAs are not actively binding to their targets, they are shuttled into ILVs and released from the cell encapsulated in exosomes. miRNAs are more readily found in exosomes compared to microvesicles. For instance, in

adult CSF, miRNAs found in exosomes and microvesicles varied greatly with exosomes containing the majority of circulating miRNAs (Akers et al. 2015). Given that exosomes are generated within the cytoplasm of the cell and thus have greater exposure to endogenous miRNAs than microvesicles, it is not surprising that exosomes, and not microvesicles, carry the majority of EV associated miRNAs. miRNAs have the capacity to regulate translation and can work in combination, thus researchers have focused their studies on EVs role in development and disease. During development, miRNAs, such as miR-124 and miR-9, have been identified within EVs in the central nervous system and from mesenchymal stem cells, respectively (Cao, Pfaff, and Gage 2007; Visvanathan et al. 2007; Feliciano et al. 2014). Since embryonic neuronal differentiation requires the regulatory actions of both these miRNAs and since fibroblast can be re-programmed into neurons following co-expression of both miR-9 and miR-124, it is possible that combinations of EV encapsulated miRNAs can regulate cell fate (Yoo et al. 2009, 2011). Through the utilization of EVs, distally located cells could coordinate development without direct cell-to-cell transfer of molecular signals. EV miRNAs have also been shown to contribute to the onset and progression of disease. For example, in patients with metastatic breast cancer, exosomes containing miR-181c were found to fuse with the cells constructing the blood brain barrier (BBB), and through miRNA dysregulation, resulted in the break-down and subsequent metastasis of breast cancer cells in the brain (Tominaga et al. 2015). Additionally, EVs released from cancer cells *in vivo* have the potential to be used as a diagnostic

and biomarker tool, and bioengineered EVs can be generated as a more potent and specific therapeutic (EL Andaloussi et al. 2013). In addition to miRNAs, EVs contain other non-coding RNAs, mRNA and even DNA, although generally DNA is not found in EVs (Maas, Breakefield, and Weaver 2017).

EVs also transport a wide variety of proteins. Specifically, research has identified a group of proteins referred to as EV marker proteins that are highly abundant in exosomes, microvesicles or both. Tetraspanins, such as CD9, CD63 and CD81, are composed of four transmembrane domains (Andreu and Yáñez-Mó 2014). These proteins cluster together to form microdomains at the cell surface and thus are found enriched in both exosomes and microvesicles (Théry et al. 2006; Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013; Andreu and Yáñez-Mó 2014). Additionally, EVs are associated with proteins specific to lipid rafts including flotillin and glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins (Müller et al. 2009; López-Cobo, Campos-Silva, and Valés-Gómez 2016). Exosomes are also enriched in sphingomyelin and cholesterol (Kosaka et al. 2013; Bianco et al. 2009). Other than protein identifiers, EVs carry protein cargo specific to their cell of origin. For instance, neural stem/progenitor cells (NSCs) from the subventricular zone (SVZ) of adult mice release metabolically active EVs containing asparaginase (Iraci et al. 2017). Another studied identified the release of interferon gamma (IFN-gamma) on the surface of NSC EVs activated Stat1 signaling in target cells (Cossetti et al. 2014). EVs also contribute to the pathogenesis of certain diseases, including but not limited to Alzheimer's disease and cancer (Rajendran et al. 2006). However,

how protein cargo is sorted into EVs has yet to be fully defined. Post-translational modifications of EV protein cargo may act as specific molecular signatures, such as ubiquitinoylation or SUMOylation, which might allow for protein sorting into EVs (Villarroya-Beltri et al. 2013).

#### **Extracellular Vesicles and Disease**

EVs have a role in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases and cancer. Most cells release EVs at a pre-determined rate; however, cells under stress, such as hypoxia, DNA damage, cellular senesce or exposure to exogenous pathogens, increase their rate of release. EVs potentially play a pathogenic role in some neurodegenerative diseases. For instance, Alzheimer's disease arises from the aggregation of amyloid- $\beta$  plaques in neurons and the secretion of abnormally processed Tau protein. Initially, exosomes isolated from HeLa cells expressing a mutant Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) were found to be enriched in amyloid-β proteins (Rajendran et al. 2006). From the CSF of Alzheimer's patients, isolated EVs were found to be enriched for tau protein (Saman et al. 2012). In models of Parkinson's disease, α-synuclein was discovered in exosomes (Emmanouilidou et al. 2010). Exosome conditioned media was sufficient to induce neuronal death, but immunodepletion of  $\alpha$ -synuclein reversed this finding (Emmanouilidou et al. 2010). Since a-synuclein was found in exosomes, conditioned media depleted of exosomes would be required in addition to and independent of immunodepletion to prove indeed exosomes were the causal factor in the neuronal cell death. EVs

have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of prion-associated neurodegeneration (Fevrier et al. 2004; L. Vella et al. 2007).

Cancer cells also release EVs that promote angiogenesis, regulate immune cells and prime tissue for metastasis (Becker et al. 2016; Cantaluppi et al. 2014). A hallmark characteristic of tumors is their ability to generate their own blood supply (Webber, Yeung, and Clayton 2015; Plaks, Kong, and Werb 2015). Earlier studies identified the release of pro-angiogenic factors from cancer cells, but recent data demonstrates that EVs also contribute to the angiogenic potential of tumors (Todorova et al. 2017). EVs containing tetraspanin-8 (tspn-8) released from rat adenocarcinoma cells induced angiogenesis by up-regulating VEGF and VEGF-R2 in endothelial cells (Nazarenko et al. 2010). Another study identified that EVs released from colorectal cancer cells promoted endothelial cell proliferation and migration through ERK1/2 and JNK signaling pathways via Egr-1 activation (Yoon et al. 2014). Pro-angiogenic miRNAs have also been identified in EVs (Feliciano et al. 2014; Skog et al. 2008). Immunomodulatory alterations allow for cancer cells to persist without infraction in vivo. Because of their ability to transfer bioactive molecules between cells, EVs released from cancer cells are thought to have immunoregulatory functions (Robbins and Morelli 2014). EVs transport immunosuppressive ligands and ncRNA, such as programmed cell death 1 ligand (PD-L1) and hY4 ncRNA, from cancer to immune cells thus suppressing monocyte function and supporting tumor growth (G. Chen et al. 2018; Haderk et al. 2017; Ricklefs et al. 2018). In addition to angiogenic and immunomodulatory roles,

cancer-associated EVs self-promote tumor growth and prime the pre-metastatic niche to promote metastasis (Tominaga et al. 2015; Y. Zhang and Wang 2015; Liu et al. 2016; Peinado et al. 2012; Angélique Bobrie et al. 2012). For example, miR-122 containing exosomes released from breast cancer cells suppressed glucose metabolism of non-tumor cells in the pre-metastatic niche (Fong et al. 2015). EVs released from cancer cells act as a homing mechanism in cancer metastasis in an organ specific manner (Hoshino et al. 2015). When transplanted into nude mice, exosomes released from tissue-specific cancer cells preferentially target and prime their tissue of origin for metastasis (Hoshino et al. 2015). Interestingly, pretreatment with exosomes isolated from lung-tropic cancer cells changed the metastatic potential of bone-trophic tumor cells, thus exosomes have the capacity to influence the metastatic pattern of cancer cells (Hoshino et al. 2015). Cancer exosomes also promote tumor growth. Exosomes released from glioblastoma cells were capable of promoting proliferation of tumor cells in vitro (Skog et al. 2008). Additionally, these exosomes contained pro-angiogenic proteins capable of eliciting tubule formation of endothelial cells within the cancer niche (Skog et al. 2008). Taken together, these studies indicate a fundamental role for EVs in the pathogenesis of disease.

## **Biomarkers and Designer Vesicles:**

Almost all cell types release EVs which carry a unique molecular profile that can be traced back to its cell of origin. Interestingly, one study identified the enrichment of low-abundance miRNA in exosomes, meaning that miRNA sorting

into exosomes is not random, but rather a calculated effort by the cell (Koppers-Lalic et al. 2014). Profiling EVs released from various types of cancers will potentially allow for the use of EVs as a tool for diagnosis. In the case of cancer, most diagnoses rely primarily on tissue biopsies. Whereas EVs offer a sensitive, non-invasive option which may increase cancer detection at an earlier stage. One study isolated exosomes from the urine of prostate cancer patients and were able to identify tumor-specific mRNA biomarkers in the exosomes (Nilsson et al. 2009). Other studies have utilized exosomes as potential biomarkers of both breast and ovarian cancer through the identification of cancer specific miRNA and protein, respectively (Corcoran et al. 2011; Li et al. 2009).

Since the discovery of pro-neurodegenerative miRNAs and proteins in EVs isolated from the CSF of patients, researchers have identified the potential of EVs as biomarkers of neurogenic disease. In theory, to diagnose a disease such as Alzheimer's disease, EVs would be collected from patient CSF and analyzed for specific pathogenic markers, such as amyloid- $\beta$  protein (Rajendran et al. 2006; Saman et al. 2012; Tapiola et al. 2009). This would allow doctors to more accurately diagnose patients at an earlier stage and thus offering any early treatment that may be vital to slowing the onset of the disease. However, many obstacles must be overcome before EVs can indeed be used as biomarkers of disease. To properly profile EVs, regardless of cell of origin, a pure sample of EVs must be isolated from the biological sample (Thind and Wilson 2016). Different methods have been described, but currently there is no universal standard for EV

isolation. Additionally, EVs released by cancer cells will inevitably carry cargo similar to non-cancerous cells thus making cancer EV detection seemingly complex (Thind and Wilson 2016). However, utilizing specific combinations of cargo as a unique molecular barcode, cancer EVs likely can be separated from other non-cancerous EVs. This approach has limitations. While some cancers might have similar molecular barcodes between patients, in some cases it is not unreasonable to speculate that EV cargo might be patient specific. Nevertheless, the more data acquired of cancer EVs and their cargo, the more likely these EVs will be of broader use as biomarkers of disease.

EVs have also been investigated as a therapeutic. EVs, with the exception of exomeres, are derived from the cell membrane and therefore have a lipid bilayer structure. Due to this structure, contents encapsulated within EVs are protected from RNases and proteases (Weber et al. 2010; Babu et al. 2011). In fact, EV miRNAs have remain stable at -20°C for five years (Koga et al. 2011). EVs can be engineered to carry miRNA and mRNA and elicit transcriptional and proteomic regulation in target cells (EL Andaloussi et al. 2013; Bolukbasi et al. 2012; Wahlgren et al. 2012; Alvarez-Erviti et al. 2011; Maguire et al. 2012). Additionally, EVs can be targeted to specific cells via ligand-receptor modification or by direct transplantation into target tissue (Ohno et al. 2013). Finally, in terms of pharmaceutical therapy, EVs offer a more specific and direct method of drug delivery potentially resulting in better over-all effectiveness of the drug and reduction of cost (EL Andaloussi et al. 2013). Many studies have already

investigated the use of EVs as nano-therapy units. For example, *RAD51*, a eukaryotic DNA repair protein, was sufficiently knocked down *in vitro* through the delivery of an EV-loaded siRNA, and another *in vivo* study demonstrated EV targeting of neuronal cells after intravenous transplantation (Shtam et al. 2013; Ohno et al. 2013). While further research, including clinical trials, is needed, EVs prove to be a promising tool for medical technology.

# Brief Overview of Subventricular Zone (SVZ) Neural Development & Neurovesicles in Brain Development (Morton and Feliciano 2016):

The subventricular zone (SVZ) is one of two neurogenic niches in the adult mammalian brain (Lim and Alvarez-Buylla 2016). During early embryonic gestation (embryonic day 8.5-10, E8.5-10), neuroepithelial stem cells (NESCs) line the wall of the ventricles, unlike that of the adult SVZ in which ependymal cells make up the ventricular wall (Taverna, Götz, and Huttner 2014). NESCs project a primary cilium and microvilli into the CSF filled ventricle (Dubreuil et al. 2007; Marzesco et al. 2005). The primary cilium has the ability to sense mitogenic and morphogenic cues, such as Sonic Hedgehog (SHH), from the CSF through receptors on the cilium itself (Corbit et al. 2005; Guemez-Gamboa, Coufal, and Gleeson 2014). NESC's primary cilium contains prominin-1 (CD133), a stem cell marker protein (Dubreuil et al. 2007; Marzesco et al. 2005). Vesicles containing CD133 are released from NESC microvilli, cilium and the midbody during NESC division (**Figure 2A**) (Marzesco et al. 2005; Dubreuil et al. 2007). Interestingly, the number of CD133 decreased after E12 in both mouse and chick models of development

(Marzesco et al. 2005; Dubreuil et al. 2007). It is unclear as to the purpose of the release of CD133 positive particles from NESCs, but it could potentially be a method to remove cues from the cells themselves.

At approximately embryonic day 11 (E11) in mice, NESCs give rise to choroid plexus epithelial cells (CPEs) and Radial glia (RG; Figure 2B) (Lun, Monuki, and Lehtinen 2015; Taverna, Götz, and Huttner 2014). CPEs are located in the four ventricles in the brain and generate CSF. The ventricular system, comprised of interstitial fluid and CSF, is the nutrient delivery and waste disposal system that bathes the brain throughout life (Lun, Monuki, and Lehtinen 2015; Lehtinen and Walsh 2011; Damkier, Brown, and Praetorius 2013; Nedergaard 2013). EVs have been identified in the CSF (Grapp et al. 2013; Akers et al. 2015; Bachy, Kozyraki, and Wassef 2008; Chiasserini et al. 2014; Marzesco et al. 2005; Dubreuil et al. 2007; Feliciano et al. 2014; Fraser et al. 2013; Akers et al. 2013; Harrington et al. 2009; Huttner et al. 2008; Saman et al. 2012; Street et al. 2012; Tietje et al. 2014; L. J. Vella et al. 2008; Yuyama et al. 2015). Since CPEs generate CSF and CSF contains EVs, it is likely that a portion of CSF-EVs originate from CPE (Figure 2B). Primary cultures of CPEs produce EVs that contain EV marker proteins including CD63, hnRNPA2/B1 and folate receptor (Grapp et al. 2013; Tietje et al. 2014). Other studies have identified morphogens and growth factors released by CPEs that regulate neurogenesis. One study in particular demonstrated that Insulin-like growth factor 2 (IGF2) is released by the choroid plexus and induces NSC proliferation (Lehtinen et al. 2011). In vitro studies of CSF-

EVs show that CSF-EVs can modulate NSC behavior thus CPE EVs may regulate brain development (Feliciano et al. 2014). CSF EVs also undergo an agedependent decline, suggesting a more neurogenic role of CSF EVs than a modulator of homeostasis (Tietje et al. 2014). Indeed, loss-of-function mutations in *CHMP1A* was shown to cause microcephaly in patients through the reduction of exosome biogenesis and exosome mediated sonic hedgehog (SHH) release during neurogenesis (Coulter et al. 2018).

RG reside at the latero-ventricular interface of the developing cortex (Taverna, Götz, and Huttner 2014). RG have a distinct morphology with an apical process that projects towards the lateral ventricle and through a primary cilium interact with the CSF, and a basal projecting process that anchors at the pial surface (Higginbotham et al. 2013; Noctor et al. 2001). Beginning at embryonic day 12 (E12) to E18-19 RGs first symmetrically divide to generate a progenitor pool, and then asymmetrically divide to give rise to neuroblasts (NBs). NBs initially exhibit a multipolar morphology, but transitions into a bipolar phenotype (Kriegstein and Noctor 2004). Using the basal projecting process as a scaffold, NBs migrate out radially to generate the excitatory glutamatergic pyramidal neurons of the laminar structured mammalian cortex in an inside-out fashion (Kriegstein and Noctor 2004; Taverna, Götz, and Huttner 2014). Interestingly, during spinal cord neurogenesis in the chick embryo, when NBs delaminate from the ventricular surface, they abscise a portion of their apical luminal projecting primary cilium (Figure 2D) (Das and Storey 2014). This particle is then left behind in the ventricle, thus begging the question as to whether or not 1) this abscission product functions in intercellular signaling and 2) could apical abscission also occur for NBs produced by radial glia in the developing cortex.

Neurogenesis persists in the postnatal SVZ. NSCs in the SVZ arise from RGs (Figure 2G; Merkle et al. 2004). During early perinatal development, one population of SVZ NSCs undergo self-renewal symmetric divisions (Obernier et al. 2018). Whereas a separate, larger population of SVZ NSCs give rise to Type C cells that divide three or four times to generate NBs which migrate along the rostral migratory stream to the olfactory bulb (OB) where they differentiate into periglomerular or granule interneurons (Bjornsson et al. 2015; Luskin 1993; Lois, Garc a-Verdugo, and Alvarez-Buylla 1996; Petreanu and Alvarez-Buylla 2002; Imayoshi et al. 2008). SVZ NSCs continue to generate NBs destined for the OB until approximately postnatal day 15 (P15) when the SVZ begins to resemble that of an adult SVZ (Tramontin et al. 2003). SVZ NSCs also produce astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and ependyma cells (Figure **2F**). Astrocytes and oligodendrocytes are considered the support cells of the brain, and ependyma cells line the ventricular interface and generate a cellular barrier between the CSF and the SVZ (Bjornsson et al. 2015; Mirzadeh et al. 2008). Both astrocytes and oligodendrocytes generate EVs for which the developmental impact has only begun to emerge (Figure 2F) (Bianco et al. 2009; Gosselin, Meylan, and Decosterd 2013; Wang et al. 2011; Proia et al. 2008; Frühbeis et al. 2013). SVZ NSCs have a bipolar morphology, similar to RG. SVZ NSCs project an apical

process through a pinwheel structure of ependyma cells to contact the ventricle (Mirzadeh et al. 2008). This apical process also contains a primary cilium that interact with the CSF (Mirzadeh et al. 2008). Additionally, SVZ NSCs project a basal process onto a nearby blood vessel where they interact with pericytes on endothelial cells to regulate blood flow (Lacar et al. 2012). Unlike RG, SVZ NSCs have been shown to release EVs in vitro (Figure 2G). For instance, SVZ NSC EVs were shown to be taken up by NIH3T3 cells, and through EV-associated interferon gamma (IFN-γ) and interferon gamma receptor-1 (Ifngr1) complexes, activated Stat1 signaling in target cells (Cossetti et al. 2014). Another study demonstrated that EVs released from SVZ NSCs in vitro were selectively targeted to taken by microglia *in vivo* resulting in a transcriptional and cytokine profile alteration in the resident microglia (Morton et al. 2018). When transplanted into the lateral ventricles of P0 mice, microglia conditioned media, after treatment and depletion of EVs, resulted in reduction of SVZ NSC proliferation (Morton et al. 2018). While it is clear that EVs are prevalent during SVZ neurogenesis, it is still unclear how EVs contribute to the establishment of complex circuitry and structure in brain development.

### **Conclusions:**

From development to disease, EVs play a substantial role. Understanding EV biology will allow for advances in not only our understanding of development, but also medical biomarkers and therapeutics. To understand the complexity of EVs, future studies will be required to parse apart EV sources, targets and

functions. EV studies continue to push the limit of scientific technology. As researchers investigate these nanometer sized particles, better and more precise technology must be established to more accurately study EVs. From garbage disposals to molecular messengers, EVs have altered the current understandings of intercellular communication.

#### Dissertation Goals and Objectives

The goal of this dissertation is to determine if EVs are released from early postnatal SVZ NSCs and their physiological function. Previous studies have found an abundance of EVs within embryonic and adult CSF, but the sources, targets and functions are unclear. SVZ NSCs line the latero-ventricular wall during neonatal neurogenesis and interact with CSF. Therefore, SVZ NSCs were a potential source of CSF EVs. I hypothesized that SVZ NSCs release EVs carrying specific molecular cargo and are taken up and regulate target cells. This dissertation provided three objectives:

**Objective 1: Generate an experimental paradigm to study the effects of primary SVZ NSC EVs in vivo.** We constructed a protocol specific to the culturing of primary SVZ NSCS, isolation of EVs and subsequent transplantation of labeled EVs *in vivo*.

**Objective 2: Analyze and assess the uptake of SVZ NSC EVs in target cells.** Using the protocol established in the first objective, we assessed the uptake of SVZ NSC EVs *in vivo* in target cells largely through next-generation RNA sequencing, western blotting, immunohistochemistry, Luminex assays and transplantation experiments.

**Objective 3: Generate an** *in vivo* model system to label and study EVs. Since EV experimentation is limited by available scientific tools, we generated a transgenic mouse model system to fluorescently label and track tetraspanin CD9containing vesicles in a temporally and spatially regulated manner. This model system was used to validate the generation of SVZ NSC EVs *in vivo*.

### References:

- Akers, Johnny C., Valya Ramakrishnan, Ryan Kim, Shirley Phillips, Vivek Kaimal, Ying Mao, Wei Hua, et al. 2015. "MiRNA Contents of Cerebrospinal Fluid Extracellular Vesicles in Glioblastoma Patients." *Journal of Neuro-Oncology* 123 (2): 205–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-015-1784-3.
- Akers, Johnny C., Valya Ramakrishnan, Ryan Kim, Johan Skog, Ichiro Nakano, Sandeep Pingle, Juliya Kalinina, et al. 2013. "MiR-21 in the Extracellular Vesicles (EVs) of Cerebrospinal Fluid (CSF): A Platform for Glioblastoma Biomarker Development." Edited by Mike Chen. *PLoS ONE* 8 (10): e78115. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078115.
- Alvarez-Erviti, Lydia, Yiqi Seow, HaiFang Yin, Corinne Betts, Samira Lakhal, and Matthew J A Wood. 2011. "Delivery of SiRNA to the Mouse Brain by

Systemic Injection of Targeted Exosomes." *Nature Biotechnology* 29 (4): 341–45. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1807.

- Andaloussi, Samir EL, Imre Mäger, Xandra O. Breakefield, and Matthew J. A.
  Wood. 2013. "Extracellular Vesicles: Biology and Emerging Therapeutic
  Opportunities." *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 12 (5): 347–57.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3978.
- Andreu, Zoraida, and María Yáñez-Mó. 2014. "Tetraspanins in Extracellular Vesicle Formation and Function." *Frontiers in Immunology* 5: 442. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00442.
- Arroyo, Jason D, John R Chevillet, Evan M Kroh, Ingrid K Ruf, Colin C Pritchard,
  Donald F Gibson, Patrick S Mitchell, et al. 2011. "Argonaute2 Complexes
  Carry a Population of Circulating MicroRNAs Independent of Vesicles in
  Human Plasma." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the*United States of America 108 (12): 5003–8.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1019055108.

- Babst, Markus, David J. Katzmann, William B. Snyder, Beverly Wendland, and Scott D. Emr. 2002. "Endosome-Associated Complex, ESCRT-II, Recruits Transport Machinery for Protein Sorting at the Multivesicular Body." *Developmental Cell* 3 (2): 283–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1534-5807(02)00219-8.
- Babu, Harish, Jan-Hendrik Claasen, Suresh Kannan, Annette E Rünker, Theo Palmer, and Gerd Kempermann. 2011. "A Protocol for Isolation and

Enriched Monolayer Cultivation of Neural Precursor Cells from Mouse Dentate Gyrus." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 5: 89.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2011.00089.

- Bache, Kristi G, Camilla Raiborg, Anja Mehlum, and Harald Stenmark. 2003.
  "STAM and Hrs Are Subunits of a Multivalent Ubiquitin-Binding Complex on Early Endosomes." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278 (14): 12513–21. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M210843200.
- Bachy, Isabelle, Renata Kozyraki, and Marion Wassef. 2008. "The Particles of the Embryonic Cerebrospinal Fluid: How Could They Influence Brain Development?" *Brain Research Bulletin* 75 (2–4): 289–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRESBULL.2007.10.010.
- Becker, Annette, Basant Kumar Thakur, Joshua Mitchell Weiss, Han Sang Kim,
  Hé Ctor Peinado, and David Lyden. 2016. "Cancer Cell Perspective
  Extracellular Vesicles in Cancer: Cell-to-Cell Mediators of Metastasis."
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2016.10.009.
- Bianco, Fabio, Cristiana Perrotta, Luisa Novellino, Maura Francolini, Loredana
  Riganti, Elisabetta Menna, Laura Saglietti, et al. 2009. "Acid
  Sphingomyelinase Activity Triggers Microparticle Release from Glial Cells." *The EMBO Journal* 28: 1043–54. https://doi.org/10.1038/.
- Bjornsson, Christopher S., Maria Apostolopoulou, Yangzi Tian, and Sally Temple. 2015. "It Takes a Village: Constructing the Neurogenic Niche." *Developmental Cell* 32 (4): 435–46.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DEVCEL.2015.01.010.

- Bobrie, A., S. Krumeich, F. Reyal, C. Recchi, L. F. Moita, M. C. Seabra, M.
  Ostrowski, and C. Thery. 2012. "Rab27a Supports Exosome-Dependent and -Independent Mechanisms That Modify the Tumor Microenvironment and Can Promote Tumor Progression." *Cancer Research* 72 (19): 4920–30. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0925.
- Bobrie, Angélique, Marina Colombo, Sophie Krumeich, Graça Raposo, and
  Clotilde Théry. 2012. "Diverse Subpopulations of Vesicles Secreted by
  Different Intracellular Mechanisms Are Present in Exosome Preparations
  Obtained by Differential Ultracentrifugation." *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*1 (1): 18397. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v1i0.18397.
- Bolukbasi, Mehmet Fatih, Arda Mizrak, Gokhan Baris Ozdener, Sibylle Madlener, Thomas Ströbel, Erdogan Pekcan Erkan, Jian-Bing Fan, Xandra O
  Breakefield, and Okay Saydam. 2012. "MiR-1289 and 'Zipcode'-like
  Sequence Enrich MRNAs in Microvesicles." *Molecular Therapy - Nucleic Acids* 1 (January): e10. https://doi.org/10.1038/MTNA.2011.2.
- Booth, Amy M., Yi Fang, Jonathan K. Fallon, Jr-Ming Yang, James E.K. Hildreth, and Stephen J. Gould. 2006. "Exosomes and HIV Gag Bud from Endosomelike Domains of the T Cell Plasma Membrane." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 172 (6): 923–35. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200508014.
- Cantaluppi, Vincenzo, Federico Figliolini, Maria Chiara Deregibus, and Giovanni Camussi. 2014. "Membrane-Derived Extracellular Vesicles from Endothelial

Progenitor Cells Activate Angiogenesis." In *Tumor Dormancy, Quiescence, and Senescence, Volume 2*, 17–25. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-7726-2\_2.

- Cao, Xinwei, Samuel L Pfaff, and Fred H Gage. 2007. "A Functional Study of MiR-124 in the Developing Neural Tube." *Genes & Development* 21 (5): 531–36. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1519207.
- Chen, Gang, Alexander C. Huang, Wei Zhang, Gao Zhang, Min Wu, Wei Xu, Zili Yu, et al. 2018. "Exosomal PD-L1 Contributes to Immunosuppression and Is Associated with Anti-PD-1 Response." *Nature*, August, 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0392-8.
- Chevillet, John R, Qing Kang, Ingrid K Ruf, Hilary A Briggs, Lucia N Vojtech,
  Sean M Hughes, Heather H Cheng, et al. 2014. "Quantitative and
  Stoichiometric Analysis of the MicroRNA Content of Exosomes." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111 (41): 14888–93. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1408301111.
- Chiasserini, Davide, Jan R.T. van Weering, Sander R. Piersma, Thang V. Pham,
  Arjan Malekzadeh, Charlotte E. Teunissen, Heidi de Wit, and Connie R.
  Jiménez. 2014. "Proteomic Analysis of Cerebrospinal Fluid Extracellular
  Vesicles: A Comprehensive Dataset." *Journal of Proteomics* 106 (June):
  191–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JPROT.2014.04.028.
- Cocucci, Emanuele, and Jacopo Meldolesi. 2015. "Ectosomes and Exosomes: Shedding the Confusion between Extracellular Vesicles." *Trends in Cell*

*Biology* 25 (6): 364–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TCB.2015.01.004.

Corbit, Kevin C., Pia Aanstad, Veena Singla, Andrew R. Norman, Didier Y. R. Stainier, and Jeremy F. Reiter. 2005. "Vertebrate Smoothened Functions at the Primary Cilium." *Nature* 437 (7061): 1018–21.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04117.

Corcoran, Claire, Anne M Friel, Michael J Duffy, John Crown, and Lorraine O'Driscoll. 2011. "Intracellular and Extracellular MicroRNAs in Breast Cancer." *Clinical Chemistry* 57 (1): 18–32.

https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2010.150730.

Cossetti, Chiara, Nunzio Iraci, Tim R. Mercer, Tommaso Leonardi, Emanuele Alpi, Denise Drago, Clara Alfaro-Cervello, et al. 2014. "Extracellular Vesicles from Neural Stem Cells Transfer IFN-γ via Ifngr1 to Activate Stat1 Signaling in Target Cells." *Molecular Cell* 56 (2): 193–204.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2014.08.020.

- Coulter, Michael E., Cristina M. Dorobantu, Gerrald A. Lodewijk, François
  Delalande, Sarah Cianferani, Vijay S. Ganesh, Richard S. Smith, et al. 2018.
  "The ESCRT-III Protein CHMP1A Mediates Secretion of Sonic Hedgehog on a Distinctive Subtype of Extracellular Vesicles." *Cell Reports* 24 (4): 973– 986.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2018.06.100.
- Damkier, Helle H., Peter D. Brown, and Jeppe Praetorius. 2013. "Cerebrospinal Fluid Secretion by the Choroid Plexus." *Physiological Reviews* 93 (4): 1847– 92. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00004.2013.

- Das, Raman M, and Kate G Storey. 2014. "Apical Abscission Alters Cell Polarity and Dismantles the Primary Cilium during Neurogenesis." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 343 (6167): 200–204. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1247521.
- Dubreuil, Véronique, Anne-Marie Marzesco, Denis Corbeil, Wieland B Huttner, and Michaela Wilsch-Bräuninger. 2007. "Midbody and Primary Cilium of Neural Progenitors Release Extracellular Membrane Particles Enriched in the Stem Cell Marker Prominin-1." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 176 (4): 483– 95. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200608137.
- Emmanouilidou, Evangelia, Katerina Melachroinou, Theodoros Roumeliotis, Spiros D Garbis, Maria Ntzouni, Lukas H Margaritis, Leonidas Stefanis, and Kostas Vekrellis. 2010. "Cell-Produced Alpha-Synuclein Is Secreted in a Calcium-Dependent Manner by Exosomes and Impacts Neuronal Survival." *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 30 (20): 6838–51. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5699-09.2010.
- Feliciano, David M., Shiliang Zhang, Carole M. Nasrallah, Steven N. Lisgo, and Angélique Bordey. 2014. "Embryonic Cerebrospinal Fluid Nanovesicles Carry Evolutionarily Conserved Molecules and Promote Neural Stem Cell Amplification." Edited by Christophe Egles. *PLoS ONE* 9 (2): e88810. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088810.
- Fevrier, B., D. Vilette, F. Archer, D. Loew, W. Faigle, M. Vidal, H. Laude, and G. Raposo. 2004. "Cells Release Prions in Association with Exosomes."

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 101 (26): 9683–88. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0308413101.

Fong, Miranda Y., Weiying Zhou, Liang Liu, Aileen Y. Alontaga, Manasa
Chandra, Jonathan Ashby, Amy Chow, et al. 2015. "Breast-Cancer-Secreted
MiR-122 Reprograms Glucose Metabolism in Premetastatic Niche
to Promote Metastasis." *Nature Cell Biology* 17 (2): 183–94.
https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3094.

Fraser, K. B., M. S. Moehle, J. P. L. Daher, P. J. Webber, J. Y. Williams, C. A. Stewart, T. A. Yacoubian, et al. 2013. "LRRK2 Secretion in Exosomes Is Regulated by 14-3-3." *Human Molecular Genetics* 22 (24): 4988–5000. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddt346.

Frühbeis, Carsten, Dominik Fröhlich, Wen Ping Kuo, Jesa Amphornrat,
Sebastian Thilemann, Aiman S. Saab, Frank Kirchhoff, et al. 2013.
"Neurotransmitter-Triggered Transfer of Exosomes Mediates
Oligodendrocyte–Neuron Communication." Edited by Ben A. Barres. *PLoS Biology* 11 (7): e1001604. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001604.

Gosselin, Romain-Daniel, Patrick Meylan, and Isabelle Decosterd. 2013.
"Extracellular Microvesicles from Astrocytes Contain Functional Glutamate Transporters: Regulation by Protein Kinase C and Cell Activation." *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 7 (December): 251.
https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2013.00251.

Grapp, Marcel, Arne Wrede, Michaela Schweizer, Sabine Hüwel, Hans-Joachim
Galla, Nicolas Snaidero, Mikael Simons, et al. 2013. "Choroid Plexus Transcytosis and Exosome Shuttling Deliver Folate into Brain Parenchyma." *Nature Communications* 4 (1): 2123. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3123.

- Guemez-Gamboa, Alicia, Nicole G. Coufal, and Joseph G. Gleeson. 2014. "Primary Cilia in the Developing and Mature Brain." *Neuron* 82 (3): 511–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2014.04.024.
- Haderk, Franziska, Ralph Schulz, Murat Iskar, Laura Llaó Cid, Thomas Worst,
  Karolin V Willmund, Angela Schulz, et al. 2017. "Haderk et Al Tumor-Derived
  Exosomes Modulate PD-L1 Expression in Monocytes." *Sci. Immunol.* Vol. 2.
  http://immunology.sciencemag.org/.
- Harding, C, J Heuser, and P Stahl. 1983. "Receptor-Mediated Endocytosis of Transferrin and Recycling of the Transferrin Receptor in Rat Reticulocytes." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 97 (2): 329–39.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6309857.

- Harrington, Michael G, Alfred N Fonteh, Elena Oborina, Patricia Liao, Robert P Cowan, Gordon McComb, Jesus N Chavez, John Rush, Roger G Biringer, and Andreas F Hühmer. 2009. "The Morphology and Biochemistry of Nanostructures Provide Evidence for Synthesis and Signaling Functions in Human Cerebrospinal Fluid." *Cerebrospinal Fluid Research* 6 (1): 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-8454-6-10.
- Henne, William M., Nicholas J. Buchkovich, and Scott D. Emr. 2011. "The ESCRT Pathway." *Developmental Cell* 21 (1): 77–91.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DEVCEL.2011.05.015.

- Higginbotham, Holden, Jiami Guo, Yukako Yokota, Nicole L Umberger, Chen-Ying Su, Jingjun Li, Nisha Verma, et al. 2013. "Arl13b-Regulated Cilia Activities Are Essential for Polarized Radial Glial Scaffold Formation." *Nature Neuroscience* 16 (8): 1000–1007. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3451.
- Hoshino, Ayuko, Bruno Costa-Silva, Tang-Long Shen, Goncalo Rodrigues,
  Ayako Hashimoto, Milica Tesic Mark, Henrik Molina, et al. 2015. "Tumour
  Exosome Integrins Determine Organotropic Metastasis." *Nature* 527 (7578):
  329–35. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15756.
- Hsu, Chieh, Yuichi Morohashi, Shin-Ichiro Yoshimura, Natalia Manrique-Hoyos, Sangyong Jung, Marcel A Lauterbach, Mostafa Bakhti, et al. 2010.
  "Regulation of Exosome Secretion by Rab35 and Its GTPase-Activating Proteins TBC1D10A-C." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 189 (2): 223–32. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200911018.
- Huttner, Hagen B., Peggy Janich, Martin Köhrmann, József Jászai, Florian
  Siebzehnrubl, Ingmar Blümcke, Meinolf Suttorp, et al. 2008. "The Stem Cell
  Marker Prominin-1/CD133 on Membrane Particles in Human Cerebrospinal
  Fluid Offers Novel Approaches for Studying Central Nervous System
  Disease." *Stem Cells* 26 (3): 698–705.

https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0639.

Imayoshi, Itaru, Masayuki Sakamoto, Toshiyuki Ohtsuka, Keizo Takao, Tsuyoshi Miyakawa, Masahiro Yamaguchi, Kensaku Mori, Toshio Ikeda, Shigeyoshi Itohara, and Ryoichiro Kageyama. 2008. "Roles of Continuous Neurogenesis in the Structural and Functional Integrity of the Adult Forebrain." *Nature Neuroscience* 11 (10): 1153–61. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2185.

Iraci, Nunzio, Edoardo Gaude, Tommaso Leonardi, Ana S H Costa, Chiara Cossetti, Luca Peruzzotti-Jametti, Joshua D Bernstock, et al. 2017. "Extracellular Vesicles Are Independent Metabolic Units with Asparaginase Activity." *Nature Chemical Biology* 13 (9): 951–55.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2422.

Katzmann, David J, Christopher J Stefan, Markus Babst, and Scott D Emr. 2003. "Vps27 Recruits ESCRT Machinery to Endosomes during MVB Sorting." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 162 (3): 413–23.

https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200302136.

- Koga, Yoshikatsu, Masahiro Yasunaga, Yoshihiro Moriya, Takayuki Akasu, Shin Fujita, Seiichiro Yamamoto, and Yasuhiro Matsumura. 2011. "Exosome Can Prevent RNase from Degrading MicroRNA in Feces." *Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology* 2 (4): 215–22. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2011.015.
- Koppers-Lalic, Danijela, Michael Hackenberg, Irene V. Bijnsdorp, Monique A.J. van Eijndhoven, Payman Sadek, Daud Sie, Nicoletta Zini, et al. 2014.
  "Nontemplated Nucleotide Additions Distinguish the Small RNA Composition in Cells from Exosomes." *Cell Reports* 8 (6): 1649–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2014.08.027.

Kosaka, Nobuyoshi, Haruhisa Iguchi, Keitaro Hagiwara, Yusuke Yoshioka,

Fumitaka Takeshita, and Takahiro Ochiya. 2013. "Neutral Sphingomyelinase
2 (NSMase2)-Dependent Exosomal Transfer of Angiogenic MicroRNAs
Regulate Cancer Cell Metastasis." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 288
(15): 10849–59. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.446831.

- Kriegstein, Arnold R, and Stephen C Noctor. 2004. "Patterns of Neuronal Migration in the Embryonic Cortex." *Trends in Neurosciences* 27 (7): 392–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TINS.2004.05.001.
- Lacar, Benjamin, Peter Herman, Jean-Claude Platel, Cathryn Kubera, Fahmeed Hyder, and Angelique Bordey. 2012. "Neural Progenitor Cells Regulate Capillary Blood Flow in the Postnatal Subventricular Zone." *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 32 (46): 16435–48. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1457-12.2012.
- Langelier, Charles, Uta K von Schwedler, Robert D Fisher, Ivana De Domenico, Paul L White, Christopher P Hill, Jerry Kaplan, Diane Ward, and Wesley I Sundquist. 2006. "Human ESCRT-II Complex and Its Role in Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Release." *Journal of Virology* 80 (19): 9465– 80. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01049-06.
- Lehtinen, Maria K., Mauro W. Zappaterra, Xi Chen, Yawei J. Yang, Anthony D. Hill, Melody Lun, Thomas Maynard, et al. 2011. "The Cerebrospinal Fluid Provides a Proliferative Niche for Neural Progenitor Cells." *Neuron* 69 (5): 893–905. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.01.023.

- Lehtinen, Maria K., and Christopher A. Walsh. 2011. "Neurogenesis at the Brain– Cerebrospinal Fluid Interface." *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* 27 (1): 653–79. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-092910-154026.
- Li, Jianghong, Cheryl A Sherman-Baust, Miyun Tsai-Turton, Robert E Bristow,
  Richard B Roden, and Patrice J Morin. 2009. "Claudin-Containing Exosomes
  in the Peripheral Circulation of Women with Ovarian Cancer." *BMC Cancer* 9 (1): 244. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-9-244.
- Lim, Daniel A, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2016. "The Adult Ventricular-Subventricular Zone (V-SVZ) and Olfactory Bulb (OB) Neurogenesis." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (5): a018820. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a018820.
- Liu, Yanfang, Yan Gu, Yanmei Han, Qian Zhang, Zhengping Jiang, Xiang Zhang, Bo Huang, Xiaoqing Xu, Jianming Zheng, and Xuetao Cao. 2016. "Tumor Exosomal RNAs Promote Lung Pre-Metastatic Niche Formation by Activating Alveolar Epithelial TLR3 to Recruit Neutrophils." *Cancer Cell* 30 (2): 243–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2016.06.021.
- Lois, C., J.-M. Garc a-Verdugo, and A. Alvarez-Buylla. 1996. "Chain Migration of Neuronal Precursors." *Science* 271 (5251): 978–81. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.271.5251.978.
- López-Cobo, Sheila, Carmen Campos-Silva, and Mar Valés-Gómez. 2016. "Glycosyl-Phosphatidyl-Inositol (GPI)-Anchors and Metalloproteases: Their

Roles in the Regulation of Exosome Composition and NKG2D-Mediated Immune Recognition." *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology* 4: 97. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2016.00097.

Lu, Quan, Lila Weiqiao Hope, Michael Brasch, Christoph Reinhard, and Stanley N Cohen. 2003. "TSG101 Interaction with HRS Mediates Endosomal Trafficking and Receptor Down-Regulation." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 100 (13): 7626–31. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0932599100.

- Lun, Melody P, Edwin S Monuki, and Maria K Lehtinen. 2015. "Development and Functions of the Choroid Plexus-Cerebrospinal Fluid System." *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience* 16 (8): 445–57. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3921.
- Luskin, Maria B. 1993. "Restricted Proliferation and Migration of Postnatally Generated Neurons Derived from the Forebrain Subventricular Zone." *Neuron* 11 (1): 173–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(93)90281-U.

Maas, Sybren L.N., Xandra O. Breakefield, and Alissa M. Weaver. 2017.
"Extracellular Vesicles: Unique Intercellular Delivery Vehicles." *Trends in Cell Biology* 27 (3): 172–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TCB.2016.11.003.

Maguire, Casey A, Leonora Balaj, Sarada Sivaraman, Matheus HW
Crommentuijn, Maria Ericsson, Lucia Mincheva-Nilsson, Vladimir Baranov,
et al. 2012. "Microvesicle-Associated AAV Vector as a Novel Gene Delivery
System." *Molecular Therapy* 20 (5): 960–71.
https://doi.org/10.1038/MT.2011.303.

Marzesco, Anne-Marie, Peggy Janich, Michaela Wilsch-Bräuninger, Véronique Dubreuil, Katja Langenfeld, Denis Corbeil, and Wieland B Huttner. 2005. "Release of Extracellular Membrane Particles Carrying the Stem Cell Marker Prominin-1 (CD133) from Neural Progenitors and Other Epithelial Cells." *Journal of Cell Science* 118 (Pt 13): 2849–58.

https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.02439.

- Melo, Sonia A., Hikaru Sugimoto, Joyce T. O'Connell, Noritoshi Kato, Alberto
   Villanueva, August Vidal, Le Qiu, et al. 2014. "Cancer Exosomes Perform
   Cell-Independent MicroRNA Biogenesis and Promote Tumorigenesis."
   *Cancer Cell* 26 (5): 707–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CCELL.2014.09.005.
- Merkle, Florian T, Anthony D Tramontin, José Manuel García-Verdugo, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2004. "Radial Glia Give Rise to Adult Neural Stem Cells in the Subventricular Zone."

www.pnas.orgcgidoi10.1073pnas.0407893101.

- Mirzadeh, Zaman, Florian T. Merkle, Mario Soriano-Navarro, Jose Manuel
  Garcia-Verdugo, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2008. "Neural Stem Cells Confer
  Unique Pinwheel Architecture to the Ventricular Surface in Neurogenic
  Regions of the Adult Brain." *Cell Stem Cell* 3 (3): 265–78.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2008.07.004.
- Morton, Mary C., and David M. Feliciano. 2016. "Neurovesicles in Brain Development." *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology* 36 (3): 409–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-015-0297-0.

Morton, Mary C, Victoria N Neckles, Caitlin M Seluzicki, Jennie C Holmberg, and David M Feliciano. 2018. "Neonatal Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells Release Extracellular Vesicles That Act as a Microglial Morphogen." *Cell Reports* 23 (1): 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.03.037.

Müller, Günter, Christian Jung, Julia Straub, Susanne Wied, and Werner Kramer.
2009. "Induced Release of Membrane Vesicles from Rat Adipocytes
Containing Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-Anchored Microdomain and Lipid
Droplet Signalling Proteins." *Cellular Signalling* 21 (2): 324–38.
https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELLSIG.2008.10.021.

- Nazarenko, Irina, Sanyukta Rana, Alexandra Baumann, Jessica McAlear, Andrea Hellwig, Michael Trendelenburg, Günter Lochnit, Klaus T Preissner, and Margot Zöller. 2010. "Cell Surface Tetraspanin Tspan8 Contributes to Molecular Pathways of Exosome-Induced Endothelial Cell Activation." *Cancer Research* 70 (4): 1668–78. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2470.
- Nedergaard, Maiken. 2013. "Garbage Truck of the Brain." *Science* 340 (6140): 1529–30. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1240514.
- Niel, Guillaume van, Stéphanie Charrin, Sabrina Simoes, Maryse Romao, Leila Rochin, Paul Saftig, Michael S Marks, Eric Rubinstein, and Graça Raposo.
  2011. "The Tetraspanin CD63 Regulates ESCRT-Independent and -Dependent Endosomal Sorting during Melanogenesis." *Developmental Cell* 21 (4): 708–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2011.08.019.

Nilsson, J, J Skog, A Nordstrand, V Baranov, L Mincheva-Nilsson, X O Breakefield, and A Widmark. 2009. "Prostate Cancer-Derived Urine Exosomes: A Novel Approach to Biomarkers for Prostate Cancer." *British Journal of Cancer* 100 (10): 1603–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6605058.

Noctor, Stephen C., Alexander C. Flint, Tamily A. Weissman, Ryan S. Dammerman, and Arnold R. Kriegstein. 2001. "Neurons Derived from Radial Glial Cells Establish Radial Units in Neocortex." *Nature* 409 (6821): 714–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/35055553.

Obernier, Kirsten, Arantxa Cebrian-Silla, Matthew Thomson, José Ignacio Parraguez, Rio Anderson, Cristina Guinto, José Rodas Rodriguez, José-Manuel Garcia-Verdugo, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2018. "Adult Neurogenesis Is Sustained by Symmetric Self-Renewal and Differentiation." *Cell Stem Cell* 22 (2): 221–234.e8.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2018.01.003.

Ohno, Shin-ichiro, Masakatsu Takanashi, Katsuko Sudo, Shinobu Ueda, Akio Ishikawa, Nagahisa Matsuyama, Koji Fujita, et al. 2013. "Systemically Injected Exosomes Targeted to EGFR Deliver Antitumor MicroRNA to Breast Cancer Cells." *Molecular Therapy* 21 (1): 185–91.

https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2012.180.

Ostrowski, Matias, Nuno B. Carmo, Sophie Krumeich, Isabelle Fanget, Graça Raposo, Ariel Savina, Catarina F. Moita, et al. 2010. "Rab27a and Rab27b Control Different Steps of the Exosome Secretion Pathway." *Nature Cell*  *Biology* 12 (1): 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2000.

- Peinado, Héctor, Maša Alečković, Simon Lavotshkin, Irina Matei, Bruno Costa-Silva, Gema Moreno-Bueno, Marta Hergueta-Redondo, et al. 2012.
  "Melanoma Exosomes Educate Bone Marrow Progenitor Cells toward a Pro-Metastatic Phenotype through MET." *Nature Medicine* 18 (6): 883–91. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2753.
- Petreanu, Leopoldo, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2002. "Maturation and Death of Adult-Born Olfactory Bulb Granule Neurons: Role of Olfaction." *The Journal* of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience 22 (14): 6106–13. https://doi.org/20026588.
- Plaks, Vicki, Niwen Kong, and Zena Werb. 2015. "The Cancer Stem Cell Niche: How Essential Is the Niche in Regulating Stemness of Tumor Cells?" *Cell Stem Cell* 16 (3): 225–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.02.015.
- Proia, Patrizia, Gabriella Schiera, Marco Mineo, Antonia Ingrassia, Graziella
  Santoro, Giovanni Savettieri, and Italia Di Liegro. 2008. "Astrocytes Shed
  Extracellular Vesicles That Contain Fibroblast Growth Factor-2 and Vascular
  Endothelial Growth Factor." *International Journal of Molecular Medicine* 21
  (1): 63–67. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.21.1.63.
- Rajendran, Lawrence, Masanori Honsho, Tobias R Zahn, Patrick Keller, Kathrin D Geiger, Paul Verkade, and Kai Simons. 2006. "Alzheimer's Disease Beta-Amyloid Peptides Are Released in Association with Exosomes." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103

(30): 11172–77. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0603838103.

Ramachandran, Saraswathi, and Viswanathan Palanisamy. 2012. "Horizontal Transfer of RNAs: Exosomes as Mediators of Intercellular Communication." *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: RNA* 3 (2): 286–93. https://doi.org/10.1002/wrna.115.

Raposo, Graça, and Willem Stoorvogel. 2013. "Extracellular Vesicles: Exosomes, Microvesicles, and Friends." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 200 (4): 373–83.

https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201211138.

- Ricklefs, Franz L, Quazim Alayo, Harald Krenzlin, Ahmad B Mahmoud, Maria C Speranza, Hiroshi Nakashima, Josie L Hayes, et al. 2018. "Immune Evasion Mediated by PD-L1 on Glioblastoma-Derived Extracellular Vesicles." http://advances.sciencemag.org/.
- Robbins, Paul D., and Adrian E. Morelli. 2014. "Regulation of Immune
  Responses by Extracellular Vesicles." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 14 (3):
  195–208. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3622.
- Saman, Sudad, WonHee Kim, Mario Raya, Yvonne Visnick, Suhad Miro, Sarmad Saman, Bruce Jackson, et al. 2012. "Exosome-Associated Tau Is Secreted in Tauopathy Models and Is Selectively Phosphorylated in Cerebrospinal Fluid in Early Alzheimer Disease." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287 (6): 3842–49. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.277061.
- Savina, A, M Vidal, and M Colombo. 2002. "The Exosome Pathway in K562 Cells Is Regulated by Rab11." *Journal of Cell Science* 115 (April): 2505–15.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9296387.

- Shtam, Tatyana A, Roman A Kovalev, Elena Varfolomeeva, Evgeny M Makarov, Yury V Kil, and Michael V Filatov. 2013. "Exosomes Are Natural Carriers of Exogenous SiRNA to Human Cells in Vitro." *Cell Communication and Signaling* 11 (1): 88. https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-811X-11-88.
- Skog, Johan, Tom Würdinger, Sjoerd van Rijn, Dimphna H. Meijer, Laura
  Gainche, William T. Curry, Bob S. Carter, Anna M. Krichevsky, and Xandra
  O. Breakefield. 2008. "Glioblastoma Microvesicles Transport RNA and
  Proteins That Promote Tumour Growth and Provide Diagnostic Biomarkers."
  Nature Cell Biology 10 (12): 1470–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1800.
- Squadrito, Mario Leonardo, Caroline Baer, Frédéric Burdet, Claudio Maderna, Gregor D. Gilfillan, Robert Lyle, Mark Ibberson, and Michele De Palma.
  2014. "Endogenous RNAs Modulate MicroRNA Sorting to Exosomes and Transfer to Acceptor Cells." *Cell Reports* 8 (5): 1432–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2014.07.035.
- Street, Jonathan M, Perdita E Barran, C Logan Mackay, Stefan Weidt, Craig Balmforth, Tim S Walsh, Rod TA Chalmers, David J Webb, and James W Dear. 2012. "Identification and Proteomic Profiling of Exosomes in Human Cerebrospinal Fluid." *Journal of Translational Medicine* 10 (1): 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5876-10-5.
- Tapiola, Tero, Irina Alafuzoff, Sanna-Kaisa Herukka, Laura Parkkinen, Päivi Hartikainen, Hilkka Soininen, and Tuula Pirttilä. 2009. "Cerebrospinal Fluid

β-Amyloid 42 and Tau Proteins as Biomarkers of Alzheimer-Type Pathologic Changes in the Brain." *Archives of Neurology* 66 (3): 382–89. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2008.596.

Taverna, Elena, Magdalena Götz, and Wieland B. Huttner. 2014. "The Cell Biology of Neurogenesis: Toward an Understanding of the Development and Evolution of the Neocortex." *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* 30 (1): 465–502. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-101011-155801.

- Théry, Clotilde, Sebastian Amigorena, Graça Raposo, and Aled Clayton. 2006.
  "Isolation and Characterization of Exosomes from Cell Culture Supernatants and Biological Fluids." *Current Protocols in Cell Biology* 30 (1): 3.22.1-3.22.29. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471143030.cb0322s30.
- Théry, Clotilde, Laurence Zitvogel, and Sebastian Amigorena. 2002. "Exosomes:
  Composition, Biogenesis and Function." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2 (8):
  569–79. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri855.
- Thind, Arron, and Clive Wilson. 2016. "Exosomal MiRNAs as Cancer Biomarkers and Therapeutic Targets." *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles* 5 (1): 31292. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v5.31292.
- Tietje, Ashlee, Kourtney N. Maron, Yanzhang Wei, and David M. Feliciano. 2014.
  "Cerebrospinal Fluid Extracellular Vesicles Undergo Age Dependent Declines and Contain Known and Novel Non-Coding RNAs." Edited by Gerrit J. Bouma. *PLoS ONE* 9 (11): e113116.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0113116.

- Todorova, Dilyana, Stéphanie Simoncini, Romaric Lacroix, Florence Sabatier, and Françoise Dignat-George. 2017. "Extracellular Vesicles in Angiogenesis." *Circulation Research* 120 (10): 1658–73. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309681.
- Tominaga, Naoomi, Nobuyoshi Kosaka, Makiko Ono, Takeshi Katsuda, Yusuke Yoshioka, Kenji Tamura, Jan Lötvall, Hitoshi Nakagama, and Takahiro Ochiya. 2015. "Brain Metastatic Cancer Cells Release MicroRNA-181c-Containing Extracellular Vesicles Capable of Destructing Blood–brain Barrier." *Nature Communications* 6 (1): 6716. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7716.
- Tramontin, A. D., José Manuel García-Verdugo, Dan A. Lim, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2003. "Postnatal Development of Radial Glia and the Ventricular Zone (VZ): A Continuum of the Neural Stem Cell Compartment." *Cerebral Cortex* 13 (6): 580–87. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/13.6.580.
- Valadi, Hadi, Karin Ekström, Apostolos Bossios, Margareta Sjöstrand, James J
   Lee, and Jan O Lötvall. 2007. "Exosome-Mediated Transfer of MRNAs and
   MicroRNAs Is a Novel Mechanism of Genetic Exchange between Cells."
   Nature Cell Biology 9 (6): 654–59. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1596.
- Vella, Laura J., Deanne L.V. Greenwood, Roberto Cappai, Jean-Pierre Y.
   Scheerlinck, and Andrew F. Hill. 2008. "Enrichment of Prion Protein in Exosomes Derived from Ovine Cerebral Spinal Fluid." *Veterinary*

Immunology and Immunopathology 124 (3–4): 385–93.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VETIMM.2008.04.002.

- Vella, LJ, RA Sharples, VA Lawson, CL Masters, R Cappai, and AF Hill. 2007.
  "Packaging of Prions into Exosomes Is Associated with a Novel Pathway of PrP Processing." *The Journal of Pathology* 211 (5): 582–90.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/path.2145.
- Villarroya-Beltri, Carolina, Cristina Gutiérrez-Vázquez, Fátima Sánchez-Cabo, Daniel Pérez-Hernández, Jesús Vázquez, Noa Martin-Cofreces, Dannys Jorge Martinez-Herrera, Alberto Pascual-Montano, María Mittelbrunn, and Francisco Sánchez-Madrid. 2013. "Sumoylated HnRNPA2B1 Controls the Sorting of MiRNAs into Exosomes through Binding to Specific Motifs." *Nature Communications* 4 (1): 2980. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3980.
- Visvanathan, Jaya, Seunghee Lee, Bora Lee, Jae W Lee, and Soo-Kyung Lee.
  2007. "The MicroRNA MiR-124 Antagonizes the Anti-Neural REST/SCP1
  Pathway during Embryonic CNS Development." *Genes & Development* 21
  (7): 744–49. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1519107.
- Wahlgren, Jessica, Tanya De L. Karlson, Mikael Brisslert, Forugh Vaziri Sani,
  Esbjörn Telemo, Per Sunnerhagen, and Hadi Valadi. 2012. "Plasma
  Exosomes Can Deliver Exogenous Short Interfering RNA to Monocytes and
  Lymphocytes." *Nucleic Acids Research* 40 (17): e130–e130.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks463.

Wang, Shiwei, Fabrizia Cesca, Gabriele Loers, Michaela Schweizer, Friedrich

Buck, Fabio Benfenati, Melitta Schachner, and Ralf Kleene. 2011. "Synapsin I Is an Oligomannose-Carrying Glycoprotein, Acts As an Oligomannose-Binding Lectin, and Promotes Neurite Outgrowth and Neuronal Survival When Released via Glia-Derived Exosomes."

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6476-10.2011.

Webber, Jason, Vincent Yeung, and Aled Clayton. 2015. "Extracellular Vesicles as Modulators of the Cancer Microenvironment." *Seminars in Cell* & *Developmental Biology* 40 (April): 27–34.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SEMCDB.2015.01.013.

- Weber, Jessica A, David H Baxter, Shile Zhang, David Y Huang, Kuo How
  Huang, Ming Jen Lee, David J Galas, and Kai Wang. 2010. "The MicroRNA
  Spectrum in 12 Body Fluids." *Clinical Chemistry* 56 (11): 1733–41.
  https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2010.147405.
- Wei, Zhiyun, Arsen O. Batagov, Sergio Schinelli, Jintu Wang, Yang Wang,
  Rachid El Fatimy, Rosalia Rabinovsky, et al. 2017. "Coding and Noncoding
  Landscape of Extracellular RNA Released by Human Glioma Stem Cells." *Nature Communications* 8 (1): 1145. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01196-x.
- Yoo, Andrew S., Brett T. Staahl, Lei Chen, and Gerald R. Crabtree. 2009.
  "MicroRNA-Mediated Switching of Chromatin-Remodelling Complexes in Neural Development." *Nature* 460 (7255): 642–46.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08139.

- Yoo, Andrew S., Alfred X. Sun, Li Li, Aleksandr Shcheglovitov, Thomas
  Portmann, Yulong Li, Chris Lee-Messer, Ricardo E. Dolmetsch, Richard W.
  Tsien, and Gerald R. Crabtree. 2011. "MicroRNA-Mediated Conversion of
  Human Fibroblasts to Neurons." *Nature* 476 (7359): 228–31.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10323.
- Yoon, Yae Jin, Dae-Kyum Kim, Chang Min Yoon, Jaesung Park, Yoon-Keun Kim, Tae-Young Roh, and Yong Song Gho. 2014. "Egr-1 Activation by Cancer-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Promotes Endothelial Cell Migration via ERK1/2 and JNK Signaling Pathways." Edited by Shilpa J. Buch. *PLoS ONE* 9 (12): e115170. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115170.
- Yuyama, Kohei, Hui Sun, Seigo Usuki, Shota Sakai, Hisatoshi Hanamatsu,
   Tetsuo Mioka, Nobuyuki Kimura, et al. 2015. "A Potential Function for
   Neuronal Exosomes: Sequestering Intracerebral Amyloid-β Peptide." *FEBS Letters* 589 (1): 84–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2014.11.027.
- Zhang, Haiying, Daniela Freitas, Han Sang Kim, Kristina Fabijanic, Zhong Li, Haiyan Chen, Milica Tesic Mark, et al. 2018. "Identification of Distinct Nanoparticles and Subsets of Extracellular Vesicles by Asymmetric Flow Field-Flow Fractionation." *Nature Cell Biology* 20 (3): 332–43. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-018-0040-4.
- Zhang, Yun, and Xiao-Fan Wang. 2015. "A Niche Role for Cancer Exosomes in Metastasis." *Nature Cell Biology* 17 (6): 709–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3181.

# Figures:



## Figure 1.

Schematic of Extracellular Vesicle Release and Exosome Uptake. A-B) Cell membrane invaginates to generate an early endosome. C) The early endosome undergoes further inward budding to generate a multivesicular body (MVB) encapsulating intraluminal vesicles. EV marker proteins (red, green, blue and pink) and miRNA (purple) are found integrated into the lipid bilayer and inside of the vesicles, respectively. D) MVB then fuses with the cell membrane and exosome are released into the extracellular space. Exosomes are taken up by target cells in multiple ways. E) Exosomes can fuse with the cell membrane miRNA can be released into the recipient cell and target specific mRNA (F). Conversely, exosomes can be taken up through endocytic pathways (G). Finally, microvesicles are generated through the outward budding the cell membrane (H).



## Figure 2.

Schematic of Extracellular Vesicles and Cortical Development. A) During formation of the neural tube at embryonic day eight (E8), invagination of the epithelium results in neuroepithelial stem cells (NESCs) that orient their apical surface toward the lumen of the neural tube. NESCs contain CD133 on the ventricular projecting primary cilia, mid-body, and microvilli. NESCs release CD133 positive large ~600 nm, (P2 fraction; *pink*) and 50–80 nm (P4 fraction; *blue*) vesicles into the lumen of the neural tube. B) NESCs produce choroid plexus epithelial cells (CPEs) beginning at E11–12. Cultured CPEs

release extracellular vesicles including microvesicles (MV, green). C At E11-12, radial glia are generated from NESCs, and span the developing cortex, beginning at the ventricular surface and extending a radial process to the pial surface. It is unknown whether EVs are released from radial glia. D) Radial glia undergo asymmetric division and give rise to immature glutamatergic neurons, called neuroblasts, that migrate into and populate the cortical plate. Through a similar process, neuroblasts that are produced in the developing chick embryo delaminate from the ventricular surface and release a particle into the ventricle during apical abscission (Apical Abscission Particle; *purple*). **E)** Once neuroblasts mature into neurons, excitatory stimuli such as glutamate and depolarization can induce the release of microvesicles (green) and exosomes (red) that may target astrocytes while others target neurons. Oligodendrocytes that myelinate the axons of neurons also release EVs in response to glutamate. F) NESCs eventually give rise to astrocytes which release EVs that target neurons. As with oligodendrocyte EVs, those from astrocytes seem to be neurotrophic. G) NSCs that persist in the subventricular zone (SVZ) are contiguous with the lateral ventricles. SVZ NSCs generate both exosomes (red) and microvesicles (green; Morton and Feliciano 2016).

#### CHAPTER TWO

Isolation of Extracellular Vesicles from Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells.

A version of this manuscript was published in *Methods in Molecular Biology* and is in the format required of that journal. The citation for the published manuscript is:

Morton, M.C., Neckles, V.N. and Feliciano, D.M. (2018). Isolation of Extracellular Vesicles from Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells. *Methods in Molecular Biology*. Humana Press.

## ABSTRACT

The neonatal subventricular zone (SVZ) is a neurogenic niche that contains neural stem cells (NSCs). Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are released from many cell types. EVs encapsulate a wide array of biological material including nucleic acids. EVs are proposed to be targeted to recipient cells. Recent studies have demonstrated that SVZ NSCs release EVs. A classic developmental approach to uncovering bio-activity of molecules is to perform *in vivo* transplantations. Here we demonstrate how to culture neonatal SVZ NSCs and to isolate and subsequently transplant EVs into the neonatal brain. Using this approach, we demonstrate that NSC EVs label microglia.

#### INTRODUCTION

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are membranous derived particles that range in size from 50 – 500nm, and are categorized by their mechanism of biogenesis (Cocucci and Meldolesi 2015). First, exosomes are derived from multivesicular bodies (MVBs) which fuse with the cellular membrane to release the vesicles from the cell (Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002). Conversely, microvesicles are produced through the outward budding of the cell membrane (Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002). Finally, a new species of non-membranous EVs has recently been identified called exomeres (Zhang et al. 2018). EVs are thought to modulate intercellular communication through the transfer of biological material, such as mRNA, miRNA, and protein from donor to recipient cells (Ramachandran and Palanisamy 2012; Valadi et al. 2007). For example, EVs have been shown to activate viral-sensing receptors, such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and RIG-1 in recipient cells (Eckard et al. 2014). Additionally, other reports have discovered the transfer of biologically active proteins, such as asparaginase (Iraci et al. 2017).

Various methodologies have been used for isolating EVs. Polymer-based isolation utilizes polyethylene glycol to isolate a high yield of EVs (Momen-Heravi et al. 2015), but is limited in purity of EVs due to lipoprotein contaminants (Vickers et al. 2011; Lobb et al. 2015). Additionally, other studies have employed ultracentrifugation to isolate a "dirty" EV pellet, but inconsistencies with reproducibility have been reported (Livshits et al. 2015; Bobrie et al. 2012). Some methods call for a clean-up step to further purify exosomes following

ultracentrifugation. EVs pellets are resuspended in high molarity (M) sucrose, and then sucrose of decreasing M are layered on top. It is recommended that the finished gradient containing EVs is centrifuged at a very high speed for at least 16 hrs to ensure proper EV sedimentation (Taylor and Shah 2015). Sucrose density gradient fractionation relies on the density of EVs for isolation. Exosomes are collected from fractions at a sucrose concentration of 1.1 - 1.9 g/mL, but other studies have discovered that, depending on the density, EVs overlap and are not separated completely (Taylor and Shah 2015; Théry et al. 2006). Sucrose density gradients have their own limitations including structural compromise, EV fusion, and vesicle rupture (Linares et al. 2015). Currently, there is no universal standard for EV isolation.

The subventricular zone (SVZ) is one of two neurogenic niches in the perinatal brain (Lim and Alvarez-Buylla 2016). Located contiguous with the lateral ventricles, one population of SVZ neural stem cells (NSCs) symmetrically divide to as mode of self-renewal (Obernier et al. 2018). Whereas a separate, larger population of NSCs give rise to Type C cells that divide three or four times to generate neuroblasts which migrate along the rostral migratory stream to the olfactory bulb where they differentiate into periglomerular or granule interneurons (Bjornsson et al. 2015; Luskin 1993; Lois, Garc a-Verdugo, and Alvarez-Buylla 1996; Petreanu and Alvarez-Buylla 2002; Imayoshi et al. 2008). Reduction in the number of SVZ NSCs occurs in correlation in both aging and in continued NSC proliferation (Bouab et al. 2011; Daynac et al. 2016). Additionally, the number of

SVZ NSCs decrease by ~60% between early postnatal life (0-7 days) and adults at 26 months (Maslov et al. 2004). Interestingly, the neurogenic zone in the SVZ decrease significantly between 0 and 15 days postnatally (P0 – P15), and at P15, the SVZ begins to resemble that of an adult SVZ (Tramontin et al. 2003). SVZ NSCs produce astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, the support cells of the nervous system (Bjornsson et al. 2015), and ependyma cells that act as a barrier between the SVZ and the fluid-filled lateral ventricles (Mirzadeh et al. 2008). The early perinatal SVZ (P0-P1) is comprised mainly of NSCs. Resident central nervous system (CNS) immune cells infiltrate the developing nervous system from the yolk sac at embryonic day 8.5-9.5 (Ginhoux et al. 2010). These cells, called microglia, congregate in proliferative zones in the perinatal brain, that later in postnatal development migrate out to and populate the cortex (Cunningham, Martínez-Cerdeño, and Noctor 2013; Swinnen et al. 2013). Microglia release factors that regulate NSC proliferation during embryonic development and into perinatal neurogenesis (Battista et al. 2006; Zhu et al. 2008; Antony et al. 2011; Snyder et al. 1997). Recent studies have identified SVZ-NSCs as sources of EVs that regulate neighboring cells, including microglia (Morton et al. 2018; Cossetti et al. 2014; Asai et al. 2015).

When culturing primary SVZ NSCs, various methodologies have been described in which their utility is dependent on the goal of the experiment. Primary SVZ NSCs have been cultured through neurosphere assays (Reynolds and Weiss 1996), adherent monolayer systems (Ray, Raymon, and Gage 1995; Palmer, Ray,

and Gage 1995), and matrixgels. Neurosphere assays allow for the examination of differences in cell proliferation and cell potential (Walker and Kempermann 2014). Neurospheres themselves are heterogenous clusters of NSCs, progenitor cells, and differentiated cells (Suslov et al. 2002; Parmar et al. 2003) that, together, generate a stem cell niche with more differentiated cells residing in the center (Azari et al. 2010; Bez et al. 2003). Unlike neurosphere culturing, adherent monolayer systems more closely recapitulate in vivo proliferation and have a more homogenous population of NSCs (Walker and Kempermann 2014; Babu et al. 2011). The homogeneity of adherent monolayer systems allow for a better interpretation of NSCs rather than NSC niches of neurospheres. Finally, matrixgels are used to construct a 3D structure that mimics the extracellular matrix in which NSCs reside *in vivo* (Aligholi et al. 2016). Different from non-adherent cell culture systems, such as neurospheres, cells cultured in matrixgels have a distinct advantage in that they are cultured in a degradable biomaterial which provides structural integrity (Thonhoff et al. 2008). Matrixgel culturing systems are an important avenue of culturing methodologies, specifically in terms of neuroregeneration *in vivo* (Thonhoff et al. 2008; Moradi et al. 2012).

Here we demonstrate in detail the culturing of the neonatal SVZ, which is enriched in NSCs (Walker and Kempermann 2014) the isolation of NSCs EV with the production of a "dirty" fraction and a subsequent clean-up step, followed by the labeling and transplantation of EVs into the developing perinatal lateral ventricles.

# MATERIALS

# 1. Primary Cell Culture and Microdissection

- a. Mouse Laminin
- b. Neurobasal A Complete Culture Media: Neurobasal A Medium, 2%
   B27, 1X Glutamax, 50 units/mL Penicillin/Streptomycin, 20 ng/mL
   purified mouse receptor-grade epidermal growth factor (EGF) and 20
   ng/mL recombinant bovine fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2).
- c. Disassociation Buffer: 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA, Neurobasal A Medium
- d. Cascade Biologicals Trypsin Inhibitor
- e. Sterile Microdissection Kit
- f. Scalpel

## 2. Sucrose Density Gradient Exosome Isolations

- a. Thickwall Polycarbonate Tube or Ultracentrifuge Tubes
- b. Sucrose for Density Gradient: 2.5M Sucrose, 1X d-Phosphate
   Buffered Saline Solution (dPBS)
- c. Beckman Coulter Optima MAX-XP centrifuge with TLA 100.3 rotor.

# 3. Exosome Labeling and Transplantation

- a. Vibrant Dil Cell-Labeling Solution.
- b. 10 cm fire polished borosilicate glass capillary tubes or Hamilton Neuros Syringe.
- c. Table-top centrifuge.

## PROTOCOL

## 1. Preparation of Culture Medium

- 1.1. 24 h prior to culturing SVZ NSCs, prepare Laminin-coated wells for adherent monolayer NSC cultures. To prepare culture wells, add 8.5 ug/mL in DiH<sub>2</sub>O per well and incubate at 37°C overnight. Wash wells three times using DiH<sub>2</sub>O and use wells immediately.
- 1.2. Prepare fresh culture media on the day of dissections by mixing Neurobasal A Medium with 2% B27, 1X Glutamax, 50 units/mL Penicillin/Streptomycin, 20 ng/mL purified mouse receptor-grade epidermal growth factor (EGF) and 20 ng/mL recombinant bovine fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2). Warm culture media to 37°C. (see Note
  - 1)
- 1.3. Prepare glass Pasteur pipettes with varying hole sizes by rotating tip of glass pipette over an open flame until desired hole size is obtained. Ideally a "small," "medium," and "large" hole are best suited for culturing. (see Note 2)
- Prepare 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA in Neurobasal A for the Disassociation Buffer, and 1X Trypsin Inhibitor (Cascade Biologicals). Pre-warm to 37°C.
- 1.5. Sterilize dissection tools (forceps x2, microdissection scissors, dissection scissors, dissecting microscope, scalpel). (see Note 3)

## 2. Harvesting perinatal brains and SVZ microdissections

- Anesthetize P0 P1 pup by placing it on ice for 5 minutes or by following the facility's proper guidelines.
- 2.2. Decapitate pup using scissors and carefully remove the skull by cutting between the two hemispheres and using forceps to peel back the skin and skull thus exposing the brain. (see Note 4)
- 2.3. Carefully remove the brain by using the curved or soft edges of the forceps and place it on ice-cold 1X Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) solution under the dissecting scope with the ventral side up.
- 2.4. Using the scalpel, remove any remaining olfactory bulbs. Then make a single coronal section 1/3 of the distance from the most rostral portion of the cortex, severing the cortex into two pieces. Discard the most caudal piece.
- 2.5. To microdissect the SVZ place the rostral portion of the cortex with the cut side facing up. Carefully tease apart the SVZ from the cortex at the lateral ventricle walls and place dissected SVZ into Neurobasal A incubated on ice. For further reference, please see Walker and Kemperman, 2014 <sup>13</sup>.

## 3. SVZ Tissue Dissociation

3.1. Place dissected SVZ into 750 µL Disassociation Buffer (0.05% Trypsin-EDTA in Neurobasal A), gently invert the sample two or three times and incubate at 37°C for 7 min.

- 3.2. Add 1:1 ratio of 1 X Cascade Biologicals Trypsin Inhibitor to Disassociation Buffer and centrifuge for 5 min at 300 x g in Eppendorf Centrifuge 5415 D.
- 3.3. Aspirate supernatant and re-suspend cell pellet in 1000 µL prewarmed Neurobasal A Complete Media
- 3.4. Using fire polished glass pipettes, triturate cells. Starting with the pipette with the "large" hole and moving to the pipette with the "small" hole. (*see* **Note 5**)
- 3.5. Spin down cells for 5 min at 300 x g, and re-suspend in 200  $\mu$ L and plate cells at 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL.
- 3.6. Place cells in 37 °C incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Do not disturb cells for at least 24 hours. After 24 h, replace half of the media. (see **Note 6**)

# 4. Exosome Isolation from SVZ NSC Culture Media using Sucrose Density Gradients

- 4.1. Prepare 2.5 M sucrose in 1 X dPBS immediately prior to exosome isolation. Dilute 2.5 M sucrose to 2.0 M, 1.5 M, 1.0 M, 0.5 M and 0.25 M. (see Note 7)
- 4.2. 48 hr after SVZ NSC culture initiation, collect culture media and begin exosome isolations. Centrifuge media for 10 min at 300 x g and then 10 min at 2000 x g in an IEC Centra GP8 centrifuge. (*see* Note 8)

- 4.3. Dispense media into ultracentrifuge tubes. Ultracentrifuge tubes should be equal in weight to prevent unequal weight distribution in the rotor. (see Note 9)
- 4.4. Centrifuge exosome containing media for 90 min at 100,000 x g at 4
  °C in Beckman Coulter Optima MAX-XP centrifuge with TLA 100.3 rotor. This will result in a pellet hereon referred to as the P100 pellet. (see Note 10)
- 4.5. Resuspend the P100 fraction in 2.5 M sucrose and layer the other sucrose solution in descending order (2.0 M, 1.5 M, 1.0 M etc.). Take extra caution not to disturb any layer otherwise the gradient will not form properly. Weigh the completed sucrose gradients and ensure equal weight before moving on to the next centrifuge step. (*see* Note 11)
- 4.6. Place gradients in ultracentrifuge rotor and place the rotor in the ultracentrifuge. Spin gradient for 18 h at 4°C at 100,000 x g.
- 4.7. Discard top layer and collect ten (1-10), equal fractions and place each fraction in a separate ultracentrifuge tube. Dilute 1:10 in 1 X dPBS and spin each fraction for 1 h at 100,000 x g at 4°C. (see Note 12)
- 4.8. Discard supernatant and resuspend each fraction in 30 µL 1 X dPBS.
  Collect exosome fractions 5 8. Exosomes can be stored at -20°C or immediately labeled and used for transplantation. (see Note 13)

# 5. Dil Labeling of Exosomes and Transplantation

- 5.1. Centrifuge exosomes at 14,000 x g for 30 min or at 100,000 x g for 1 hr.
- 5.2. From a 1 mM stock solution of Dil labeling solution, resuspend pellets
  in 1 μM Dil labeling solution in 1 X dPBS and incubate fractions for
  10 min at room temperature and vortex periodically during incubation.
- 5.3. Centrifuge fractions at 14,000 x g for 30 min at Room Temperature.
- 5.4. Resuspend fractions in 1 X PBS and repeat steps 5.2. 5.3. 3x times. (see Note 14)
  - 5.5. Resuspend final pellet of Dil labeled exosomes in 50 μL 1 X dPBS and either store exosomes at -20 °C or move immediately to transplantation.

# 6. Transplantation of exosomes into lateral ventricle of P0 pups.

6.1. Prior to transplantations, prepare pulled glass pipettes by placing 10 cm fire polished borosilicate glass capillary tubes (O.D.: 1.5mm, I.D.: 1.1mm) into a Sutter Instrument Company Model P-97 pipette puller. Place pipettes in a sterile container for transplantations. Alternatively, a Hamilton Neuros Syringe can also be used for injections.

- 6.2. Using an aspirator connected to the capillary tube or a Hamilton Neuros Syringe constructed with a Neuros Adapter, load 1-2 μL of Dil labeled exosomes.
- 6.3. Anesthetize P0 pup on ice for 5 min or until pup slows down. Hold pup in between thumb, index and middle finger (nose should be anchored using thumb). Pull skin back to identify injection site.
- 6.4. Identify midline of the brain. Place capillary needle or Hamilton Neuros Syringe needle near the rostral portion of the brain at the midline. Move the needle approximately 1 mm laterally in either direction and 0.5 mm caudally and insert needle into the lateral ventricle approximately 2 mm deep. Inject 1-2 μL Dil labeled exosomes into the lateral ventricles.
- 6.5. Place pups on heating pad briefly and put back with mother. Sacrifice pups 24 or 48 h after transplantation, collect and fix brain and begin immunohistochemistry.

### Notes:

- Neurobasal A Complete Media can be stored at 4°C for two weeks.
   It is recommended that fresh Complete Media be made for this protocol.
- It is recommended that three glass 58asteur pipettes with varying hole sizes should be prepared each with decreasing bore size.
   Before using on SVZ tissue, be sure that liquid can pass through the

newly sized hole.

- 3. All tools should be sterilized prior to tissue dissection. Primary cultured cells are extremely susceptible to contamination. Any steps involving the dissected tissue should be completed under a cell culture hood using 70% Ethanol to sterilize when appropriate.
- 4. When removing the brain, be sure to not cut too deep between the hemispheres or use the sharp edges of the dissection forceps to remove the skull. Either could result in puncturing the brain and damaging the tissue.
- Media should have a cloudy appearance indicating proper tissue dissociation. Do not triturate cells excessively. 7-10 times total is more than sufficient.
- 6. Save media. Do not discard.
- For each exosome isolation procedure, be sure to prepare fresh
   2.5M Sucrose solution in 1X dPBS.
- Transfer media into a new tubes in between centrifugation steps. Be sure to not disturb the pellet.
- When weighing the ultracentrifuge tubes, the tubes should be equal in weight to the 100<sup>th</sup> decimal place to prevent systemic mechanical breakdown.
- 10. Prior to ultracentrifugation, ensure tubes plus the sample are equal in weight to the 100<sup>th</sup> decimal place. Additionally, P100 fractions can

be used for postnatal transplantations. P100 fraction contains both exosomes and microvesicles.

- 11. In some cases a syringe is most useful to construct the sucrose gradient layers. When constructing the sucrose density gradient, do not add the next layer of sucrose directly onto the previous layer in a destructive manner. Instead, pipet each layer of sucrose down the side of the tube, gently, to ensure that the prior layer is not disrupted. Again, weigh each tube containing the sucrose gradients and equilibrate using 1X dPBS.
- 12. When collecting fractions, collect from the top down. Be careful not to insert the pipet tip too far into the gradient, thus disrupting lower layers.
- 13. Exosome pellets can appear as a gray or translucent pellet. Take note of tube orientation in the rotor before resuspending pellet.
- 14. To ensure no Dil labeling particles are left in the exosome pellet, repeat the washes in 1x dPBS as many times as needed.

## DISCUSSION

Here we have demonstrated the transplantation of SVZ NSC EVs from primary cultures to *in vivo* perinatal lateral ventricles. Transplantation experiments have been widely used in the field of developmental biology, and continue to be implemented today; however, transplantation experiments have their limitations.

In this study, EVs from primary cultures of SVZ NSCs were isolated, labeled, and transplanted into the lateral ventricles of perinatal mice. One limitation to this technique is the use of primary SVZ NSCs culture as the source of EVs and not SVZ NSCs in vivo. To circumvent this caveat, an in vivo EV labeling system would need to be generated to capture and isolate EVs directly from in vivo sources. Additionally, cultured SVZ NSCs are highly susceptible to contamination. Contamination would result in alterations to the EV profile of primary SVZ NSCs, therefore special precaution should be taken to ensure sterilization of all tools, solutions, and tubes. Furthermore, this methodology of SVZ NSC isolation yielded a high percentage of cells that stained positive for the NSC marker Nestin, however without selectively isolating NSCs, via differential centrifugation or flow cytometry, it is likely that the primary cultures were a mixed population of SVZ cells. Although none of the cells stained positive for the neuroblast marker Doublecortin (DCX), NSCs in transition from a stem cell to an astrocyte, for example, are likely to stain positive for both the NSC marker Nestin and the Astrocyte marker GFAP (Tramontin et al. 2003; Bouab et al. 2011; Petreanu and Alvarez-Buylla 2002; Mirzadeh et al. 2008). Further purification of NSCs should be explored to ensure a pure population of NSC EVs.

While most studies report a high abundance of EV release from cells, the amount of miRNA and mRNA contained within these EVs remains under scrutiny (Morton and Feliciano 2016; Morton et al. 2018; Cossetti et al. 2014; Chevillet et al. 2014). One study reported that for every 100 EVs, only one contained miRNA
(Chevillet et al. 2014). If this is the case, in vivo EV function may only require a very low abundance of miRNA to be present, thus transplantation experiments may not recapitulate *in vivo* conditions. In order to address this issue, the rate of release from SVZ NSCs would need to be taken into consideration. If transplantation experiments elevate EV numbers by 10<sup>8</sup> per mL, then any biological response may only be superfluous (Morton et al. 2018). EVs might stimulate a cellular response in neighboring cells for which this occurrence is 1 in 100, so introducing an abundance of EVs might result in a cellular response above endogenous levels. Additionally, sucrose density gradients can result in vesicle disruption or fusion (Linares et al. 2015). The phenomenon would likely alter the profile of EVs collected and biological data (miRNA, RNA, and protein) might be lost or disrupted. To avoid this issue, P100 fractions of EVs can be used for transplantations, although other studies have identified molecular contaminates within this fraction (Livshits et al. 2015; Bobrie et al. 2012). Going forward, alternate methods of EV isolation should be taken into consideration, such as size exclusion, FACS or immunocapture.

The field of EVs has rapidly expanded in the past 10 years. Thus nomenclature, isolation techniques, and characterization of these vesicles are still undergoing constant reconstruction. EVs are thought to modulate intercellular communication through the transfer of miRNA, RNA, and protein, and furthermore, each EV contains its own unique molecular bar code. This begs the question, what information can be transferred between cells or organisms? Could EVs carry

molecular information pertaining to consciousness or memories? As the field continues to expand, more precise techniques will need to be employed to answer these questions.

## FIGURES:



**Figure 1.** Isolation and Transplantation of EVs from SVZ NSCs. A) Schematic brain section highlighting regions dissected (purple). B) Following isolation, these cells were cultured as monolayers. Cells stained positive for the NSC marker Nestin (green). DNA was counterstained using TOPRO-3 (blue). C) The conditioned media was subjected to a serial centrifugation protocol that produces a "dirty fraction" that contains EVs (P100). These EVs were then further purified using a sucrose gradient. D) Isolated EVs were then labeled with Dil (red) and injected into the lateral ventricles of a P0 pup. E) Brains were harvested from P0-P7 mice and EVs (red) targeting cells were detected. Labeled cells were Iba1 positive (blue) and CD11b positive (green).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Dissections were performed by M.M. and V.N. Primary cultures were maintained by M.M. Both V.N. and M.M. isolated EVs. M.M. labeled EVs and M.M. and D.M.F. performed transplantations. V.N. and M.M. harvested brain tissue and performed immunohistochemistry. Imaging was performed by M.M. Original manuscript was written by M.M. and edited in collaboration with D.M.F.

D.M.F. is supported by grants from the Whitehall Foundation and National Institutes of Health 1R15NS096562.

# DISCLOSURES

The authors have nothing to disclose.

# REFERENCES

- Aligholi, Hadi, Seyed Mahdi Rezayat, Hassan Azari, Shahram Ejtemaei Mehr, Mohammad Akbari, Seyed Mostafa Modarres Mousavi, Fatemeh Attari, Fatemeh Alipour, Gholamreza Hassanzadeh, and Ali Gorji. 2016. "Preparing Neural Stem/Progenitor Cells in PuraMatrix Hydrogel for Transplantation after Brain Injury in Rats: A Comparative Methodological Study." *Brain Research* 1642 (July): 197–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRES.2016.03.043.
- Antony, Joseph M., Annie Paquin, Stephen L. Nutt, David R. Kaplan, and Freda
   D. Miller. 2011. "Endogenous Microglia Regulate Development of Embryonic
   Cortical Precursor Cells." *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 89 (3): 286–98.

https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.22533.

- Asai, Hirohide, Seiko Ikezu, Satoshi Tsunoda, Maria Medalla, Jennifer Luebke, Tarik Haydar, Benjamin Wolozin, Oleg Butovsky, Sebastian Kügler, and Tsuneya Ikezu. 2015. "Depletion of Microglia and Inhibition of Exosome Synthesis Halt Tau Propagation." *Nature Neuroscience* 18 (11): 1584–93. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4132.
- Azari, Hassan, Maryam Rahman, Sharareh Sharififar, and Brent A Reynolds. 2010. "Isolation and Expansion of the Adult Mouse Neural Stem Cells Using the Neurosphere Assay." *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE*, no. 45 (November). https://doi.org/10.3791/2393.
- Babu, Harish, Jan-Hendrik Claasen, Suresh Kannan, Annette E Rünker, Theo Palmer, and Gerd Kempermann. 2011. "A Protocol for Isolation and Enriched Monolayer Cultivation of Neural Precursor Cells from Mouse Dentate Gyrus." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 5: 89. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2011.00089.
- Battista, Daniela, Carina C. Ferrari, Fred H. Gage, and Fernando J. Pitossi. 2006.
  "Neurogenic Niche Modulation by Activated Microglia: Transforming Growth Factor β Increases Neurogenesis in the Adult Dentate Gyrus." *European Journal of Neuroscience* 23 (1): 83–93. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04539.x.
- Bez, Alessandra, Elena Corsini, Daniela Curti, Marco Biggiogera, Augusto Colombo, Roberto Francesco Nicosia, Stefano Filippo Pagano, and Eugenio Agostino Parati. 2003. "Neurosphere and Neurosphere-Forming Cells:

Morphological and Ultrastructural Characterization." *Brain Research* 993 (1–2): 18–29. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14642827.

- Bjornsson, Christopher S., Maria Apostolopoulou, Yangzi Tian, and Sally Temple.
  2015. "It Takes a Village: Constructing the Neurogenic Niche." *Developmental Cell* 32 (4): 435–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DEVCEL.2015.01.010.
- Bobrie, Angélique, Marina Colombo, Sophie Krumeich, Graça Raposo, and Clotilde Théry. 2012. "Diverse Subpopulations of Vesicles Secreted by Different Intracellular Mechanisms Are Present in Exosome Preparations Obtained by Differential Ultracentrifugation." *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles* 1 (1): 18397. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v1i0.18397.
- Bouab, M., G.N. Paliouras, A. Aumont, K. Forest-Bérard, and K.J.L. Fernandes.
  2011. "Aging of the Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cell Niche: Evidence for
  Quiescence-Associated Changes between Early and Mid-Adulthood." *Neuroscience* 173 (January): 135–49.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROSCIENCE.2010.11.032.
- Chevillet, John R, Qing Kang, Ingrid K Ruf, Hilary A Briggs, Lucia N Vojtech, Sean M Hughes, Heather H Cheng, et al. 2014. "Quantitative and Stoichiometric Analysis of the MicroRNA Content of Exosomes." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111 (41): 14888–93. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1408301111.
- Cocucci, Emanuele, and Jacopo Meldolesi. 2015. "Ectosomes and Exosomes: Shedding the Confusion between Extracellular Vesicles." *Trends in Cell*

*Biology* 25 (6): 364–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TCB.2015.01.004.

- Cossetti, Chiara, Nunzio Iraci, Tim R. Mercer, Tommaso Leonardi, Emanuele Alpi, Denise Drago, Clara Alfaro-Cervello, et al. 2014. "Extracellular Vesicles from Neural Stem Cells Transfer IFN-γ via Ifngr1 to Activate Stat1 Signaling in Target Cells." *Molecular Cell* 56 (2): 193–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2014.08.020.
- Cunningham, Christopher L, Verónica Martínez-Cerdeño, and Stephen C Noctor. 2013. "Microglia Regulate the Number of Neural Precursor Cells in the Developing Cerebral Cortex." *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 33 (10): 4216–33. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3441-12.2013.
- Daynac, Mathieu, Lise Morizur, Alexandra Chicheportiche, Marc-André Mouthon, and François D. Boussin. 2016. "Age-Related Neurogenesis Decline in the Subventricular Zone Is Associated with Specific Cell Cycle Regulation Changes in Activated Neural Stem Cells." *Scientific Reports* 6 (1): 21505. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep21505.
- Eckard, Sterling C, Gillian I Rice, Alexandre Fabre, Catherine Badens, Elizabeth E Gray, Jane L Hartley, Yanick J Crow, and Daniel B Stetson. 2014. "The SKIV2L RNA Exosome Limits Activation of the RIG-I-like Receptors." *Nature Immunology* 15 (9): 839–45. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2948.
- Ginhoux, Florent, Melanie Greter, Marylene Leboeuf, Sayan Nandi, Peter See, Solen Gokhan, Mark F Mehler, et al. 2010. "Fate Mapping Analysis Reveals

That Adult Microglia Derive from Primitive Macrophages." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 330 (6005): 841–45. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1194637.

- Imayoshi, Itaru, Masayuki Sakamoto, Toshiyuki Ohtsuka, Keizo Takao, Tsuyoshi Miyakawa, Masahiro Yamaguchi, Kensaku Mori, Toshio Ikeda, Shigeyoshi Itohara, and Ryoichiro Kageyama. 2008. "Roles of Continuous Neurogenesis in the Structural and Functional Integrity of the Adult Forebrain." *Nature Neuroscience* 11 (10): 1153–61. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2185.
- Iraci, Nunzio, Edoardo Gaude, Tommaso Leonardi, Ana S H Costa, Chiara Cossetti, Luca Peruzzotti-Jametti, Joshua D Bernstock, et al. 2017.
  "Extracellular Vesicles Are Independent Metabolic Units with Asparaginase Activity." *Nature Chemical Biology* 13 (9): 951–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2422.
- Lim, Daniel A, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2016. "The Adult Ventricular-Subventricular Zone (V-SVZ) and Olfactory Bulb (OB) Neurogenesis." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (5): a018820. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a018820.
- Linares, Romain, Sisareuth Tan, Céline Gounou, Nicolas Arraud, and Alain R. Brisson. 2015. "High-Speed Centrifugation Induces Aggregation of Extracellular Vesicles." *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles* 4 (1): 29509. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v4.29509.
- Livshits, Mikhail A., Elena Khomyakova, Evgeniy G. Evtushenko, Vassili N. Lazarev, Nikolay A. Kulemin, Svetlana E. Semina, Edward V. Generozov,

Vadim M. Govorun, and Vadim M Govorun. 2015. "Isolation of Exosomes by Differential Centrifugation: Theoretical Analysis of a Commonly Used Protocol." *Scientific Reports* 5 (1): 17319. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17319.

- Lobb, Richard J, Melanie Becker, Shu Wen Wen, Christina S F Wong, Adrian P Wiegmans, Antoine Leimgruber, and Andreas Möller. 2015. "Optimized Exosome Isolation Protocol for Cell Culture Supernatant and Human Plasma." *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles* 4: 27031. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26194179.
- Lois, C., J.-M. Garc a-Verdugo, and A. Alvarez-Buylla. 1996. "Chain Migration of Neuronal Precursors." *Science* 271 (5251): 978–81. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.271.5251.978.
- Luskin, Maria B. 1993. "Restricted Proliferation and Migration of Postnatally Generated Neurons Derived from the Forebrain Subventricular Zone." *Neuron* 11 (1): 173–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(93)90281-U.
- Maslov, A. Y., Tara A Barone, Robert J Plunkett, and Steven C Pruitt. 2004. "Neural Stem Cell Detection, Characterization, and Age-Related Changes in the Subventricular Zone of Mice." *Journal of Neuroscience* 24 (7): 1726–33. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4608-03.2004.
- Mirzadeh, Zaman, Florian T. Merkle, Mario Soriano-Navarro, Jose Manuel Garcia-Verdugo, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2008. "Neural Stem Cells Confer Unique Pinwheel Architecture to the Ventricular Surface in Neurogenic Regions of the Adult Brain." *Cell Stem Cell* 3 (3): 265–78.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2008.07.004.

- Momen-Heravi, Fatemeh, Banishree Saha, Karen Kodys, Donna Catalano, Abhishek Satishchandran, and Gyongyi Szabo. 2015. "Increased Number of Circulating Exosomes and Their MicroRNA Cargos Are Potential Novel Biomarkers in Alcoholic Hepatitis." *Journal of Translational Medicine* 13 (1): 261. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-015-0623-9.
- Moradi, Fateme, Mehrdad Bahktiari, Mohammad Taghi Joghataei, Maliheh Nobakht, Masoud Soleimani, Gholamreza Hasanzadeh, Ali Fallah, et al. 2012.
  "BD PuraMatrix Peptide Hydrogel as a Culture System for Human Fetal Schwann Cells in Spinal Cord Regeneration." *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 90 (12): 2335–48. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23120.
- Morton, Mary C., and David M. Feliciano. 2016. "Neurovesicles in Brain Development." *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology* 36 (3): 409–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-015-0297-0.
- Morton, Mary C, Victoria N Neckles, Caitlin M Seluzicki, Jennie C Holmberg, and David M Feliciano. 2018. "Neonatal Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells Release Extracellular Vesicles That Act as a Microglial Morphogen." *Cell Reports* 23 (1): 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.03.037.
- Obernier, Kirsten, Arantxa Cebrian-Silla, Matthew Thomson, José Ignacio Parraguez, Rio Anderson, Cristina Guinto, José Rodas Rodriguez, José-Manuel Garcia-Verdugo, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2018. "Adult Neurogenesis Is Sustained by Symmetric Self-Renewal and Differentiation."

 Cell
 Stem
 Cell
 22
 (2):
 221–234.e8.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2018.01.003.

- Palmer, T D, J Ray, and F H Gage. 1995. "FGF-2-Responsive Neuronal Progenitors Reside in Proliferative and Quiescent Regions of the Adult Rodent Brain." *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences* 6 (5): 474–86. https://doi.org/10.1006/mcne.1995.1035.
- Parmar, Malin, Andreas Sjöberg, Anders Björklund, and Zaal Kokaia. 2003. "Phenotypic and Molecular Identity of Cells in the Adult Subventricular Zone. in Vivo and after Expansion in Vitro." *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences* 24 (3): 741–52. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14664822.
- Petreanu, Leopoldo, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2002. "Maturation and Death of Adult-Born Olfactory Bulb Granule Neurons: Role of Olfaction." *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 22 (14): 6106–13. https://doi.org/20026588.
- Ramachandran, Saraswathi, and Viswanathan Palanisamy. 2012. "Horizontal Transfer of RNAs: Exosomes as Mediators of Intercellular Communication." *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: RNA* 3 (2): 286–93. https://doi.org/10.1002/wrna.115.
- Ray, J, H K Raymon, and F H Gage. 1995. "Generation and Culturing of Precursor
   Cells and Neuroblasts from Embryonic and Adult Central Nervous System."
   *Methods* in *Enzymology* 254: 20–37.
   http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8531687.

- Reynolds, B A, and S Weiss. 1996. "Clonal and Population Analyses Demonstrate That an EGF-Responsive Mammalian Embryonic CNS Precursor Is a Stem Cell." *Developmental Biology* 175 (1): 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1996.0090.
- Snyder, E Y, C Yoon, J D Flax, and J D Macklis. 1997. "Multipotent Neural Precursors Can Differentiate toward Replacement of Neurons Undergoing Targeted Apoptotic Degeneration in Adult Mouse Neocortex." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 94 (21): 11663–68. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.21.11663.
- Suslov, Oleg N, Valery G Kukekov, Tatyana N Ignatova, and Dennis A Steindler.
  2002. "Neural Stem Cell Heterogeneity Demonstrated by Molecular Phenotyping of Clonal Neurospheres." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 99 (22): 14506–11. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.212525299.
- Swinnen, Nina, Sophie Smolders, Ariel Avila, Kristof Notelaers, Rik Paesen, Marcel Ameloot, Bert Brône, Pascal Legendre, and Jean-Michel Rigo. 2013.
  "Complex Invasion Pattern of the Cerebral Cortex Bymicroglial Cells during Development of the Mouse Embryo." *Glia* 61 (2): 150–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22421.
- Taylor, Douglas D., and Sahil Shah. 2015. "Methods of Isolating Extracellular Vesicles Impact Down-Stream Analyses of Their Cargoes." *Methods* 87 (October): 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2015.02.019.

- Théry, Clotilde, Sebastian Amigorena, Graça Raposo, and Aled Clayton. 2006. "Isolation and Characterization of Exosomes from Cell Culture Supernatants and Biological Fluids." *Current Protocols in Cell Biology* 30 (1): 3.22.1-3.22.29. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471143030.cb0322s30.
- Théry, Clotilde, Laurence Zitvogel, and Sebastian Amigorena. 2002. "Exosomes: Composition, Biogenesis and Function." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2 (8): 569–79. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri855.
- Thonhoff, Jason R., Dianne I. Lou, Paivi M. Jordan, Xu Zhao, and Ping Wu. 2008.
  "Compatibility of Human Fetal Neural Stem Cells with Hydrogel Biomaterials in Vitro." *Brain Research* 1187 (January): 42–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRES.2007.10.046.
- Tramontin, A. D., José Manuel García-Verdugo, Dan A. Lim, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2003. "Postnatal Development of Radial Glia and the Ventricular Zone (VZ): A Continuum of the Neural Stem Cell Compartment." *Cerebral Cortex* 13 (6): 580–87. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/13.6.580.
- Valadi, Hadi, Karin Ekström, Apostolos Bossios, Margareta Sjöstrand, James J Lee, and Jan O Lötvall. 2007. "Exosome-Mediated Transfer of MRNAs and MicroRNAs Is a Novel Mechanism of Genetic Exchange between Cells." *Nature Cell Biology* 9 (6): 654–59. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1596.
- Vickers, Kasey C., Brian T. Palmisano, Bassem M. Shoucri, Robert D. Shamburek, and Alan T. Remaley. 2011. "MicroRNAs Are Transported in Plasma and Delivered to Recipient Cells by High-Density Lipoproteins." *Nature Cell*

*Biology* 13 (4): 423–33. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2210.

- Walker, Tara L, and Gerd Kempermann. 2014. "One Mouse, Two Cultures: Isolation and Culture of Adult Neural Stem Cells from the Two Neurogenic Zones of Individual Mice." *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE*, no. 84 (February): e51225. https://doi.org/10.3791/51225.
- Zhang, Haiying, Daniela Freitas, Han Sang Kim, Kristina Fabijanic, Zhong Li, Haiyan Chen, Milica Tesic Mark, et al. 2018. "Identification of Distinct Nanoparticles and Subsets of Extracellular Vesicles by Asymmetric Flow Field-Flow Fractionation." *Nature Cell Biology* 20 (3): 332–43. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-018-0040-4.
- Zhu, Pengxiang, Ryuji Hata, Fang Cao, Feng Gu, Yasushi Hanakawa, Koji Hashimoto, and Masahiro Sakanaka. 2008. "Ramified Microglial Cells Promote Astrogliogenesis and Maintenance of Neural Stem Cells through Activation of Stat3 Function." *The FASEB Journal* 22 (11): 3866–77. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.08-105908.

# CHAPTER THREE

Neonatal Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells Release Extracellular Vesicles that Act as a Microglia Morphogen

A version of this manuscript was published in *Cell Reports* and is in the format required of that journal. The citation for the published manuscript is:

Morton, M.C., Neckles, V.N., Seluzicki, C.M., Holmberg, J.C. and Feliciano, D.M. (2018). Neonatal Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells Release Extracellular Vesicles that Act as a Microglia Morphogen. *Cell Reports* **23**, 78-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.03.037</u>

#### ABSTRACT

Subventricular Zone (SVZ) Neural Stem Cells (NCSs) persist in the perinatal neurogenic niche and give rise to neurons early and late into adulthood. Microglia are the immune cells of the central nervous system that help form the intricate neural circuitry of the mammalian brain. Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are cellularderived, nanometer-sized vesicles that encapsulate miRNA and proteins. It is thought that EVs transfer molecular information from donor to recipient cells which may play a role in normal development or could potentially contribute to the pathogenesis of disease. In this study, we tested the communicative potential of SVZ NSC EVs and microglia in the perinatal brain. Using a fluorescent fusion EV protein, CD9-GFP, to study EV release, it was found that SVZ NSCs generated EVs. The fusion protein was expressed in Nestin-positive NSCs in the SVZ and could be detected outside of labeled cells. Scavenging microglia selectively took up tagged NSC EVs. Small RNA sequencing identified miRNAs within NSC EVs. that regulate microglia physiology and morphology. NSC EVs induced a transition of microglia to a non-stellate, rounded morphology. This morphological shift was accompanied by an altered microglial transcriptional state and cytokine profile which contributed to a negative feedback loop that controlled NSC proliferation. These data suggest that SVZ NSCs generate EVs that are targeted to and alter microglia within the perinatal brain. These finding offer insight into normal and pathophysiological functions of EVs during brain development.

#### INTRODUCTION

Neural stem cells (NSCs) reside in discrete regions, called neurogenic zones, of the adult mammalian brain. In rodents, these NSCs produce neurons throughout life that populate the olfactory bulb and are imperative for olfactory sensation (Lledo and Valley 2016). The subventricular zone (SVZ) is one of two neurogenic zones in the adult mammalian brain (Lim and Alvarez-Buylla 2016). Intercellular communication is required for producing the proper number and types of cells in the SVZ (Choe, Pleasure, and Mira 2016). Alterations in SVZ environmental conditions or genetic signaling in SVZ NSCs likely generate certain tumors and malformations (Dietrich, Imitola, and Kesari 2008; Vescovi, Galli, and Reynolds 2006; Zhou et al. 2011). Thus, understanding mechanisms that regulate their development and maintenance is of upmost importance.

Microglia are the primary immune cells of the nervous system. Interestingly, a population of microglia reside in the neonatal SVZ, and in adulthood, migrate out and become evenly distributed through the brain (Shigemoto-Mogami et al. 2014). Microglia are haematopoietically derived myeloid cells that originate from yolk sac macrophages (Ginhoux et al. 2010; Prinz, Erny, and Hagemeyer 2017). Using the developing vasculature, microglia migrate into the brain during mid-gestation and go on to produce a majority of the resident microglia during the first postnatal weeks (F Alliot et al. 1991; Francoise Alliot, Godin, and Pessac 1999). Microglia have been shown to influence neural progenitor cells (NPCs), and other studies have shown that NPCs likely influence microglia (Pluchino and Cossetti 2013; Sato

2015; Lehtinen and Walsh 2011; Su et al. 2014; Shigemoto-Mogami et al. 2014). One study in particular demonstrated the accumulation of activated microglia in the neonatal SVZ and the combinatorial effects of microglia released cytokines on NSC proliferation (Shigemoto-Mogami et al. 2014). This report alone provides evidence for a neuro-developmental role of microglia.

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are found in most biological fluids, including blood, urine, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (Morton and Feliciano 2016; Feliciano et al. 2014). EVs are primarily membranous vesicles that range in size from 30-500nm and have the capacity to carry an array of cargo, including miRNA, mRNA, and protein (Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013; Maas, Breakefield, and Weaver 2017). Three types of EVs have been documented: exomeres, exosomes, and microvesicles. Exomeres are non-membranous particles comprised of metabolic, translational, and coagulation regulating proteins (H. Zhang et al. 2018). Unlike other documented EVs, exomere biogenesis is not well understood (H. Zhang et al. 2018) Exosomes are produced when a multivesicular body fuses with the cell membrane (Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002). Exosomes are distinct from other types of EVs in that they are less than 150nm in size and exhibit a cup-like morphology when viewed under electron microscopy (EM) (Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002). Finally, microvesicles, the largest type of EV (200-500nm), are generated by the outward budding and scission of the cell membrane (Cocucci and Meldolesi 2015; Maas, Breakefield, and Weaver 2017). Recent studies have demonstrated that in vitro SVZ-derived NSCs/precursor cells release EVs.

(Cossetti et al. 2014). When used to treat NIH 3T3 cells, EVs isolated from cultures of primary SVZ NPCs activated Stat1 signaling in target cells (Cossetti et al. 2014). However, *in vivo* targets and functions of NSC EVs remain undetermined.

In this study, we investigated whether SVZ NSCs produce EVs, and what the *in vivo* targets were. Primary cultures of neonatal SVZ NSCs were found to release EVs. Transplantation experiments revealed that NSC EVs were selectively taken up by microglia in the neonatal SVZ. EV uptake was observed in CD11b/lba1-positive microglia with a distinct rounded cellular morphology. RNA sequencing and cytokine profiling of microglia treated with NSC exosomes showed a changed in the transcriptional network and cytokine profile. Alterations in the microglia cytokine profile resulted in a negative feedback loop determined by EdU labeling in SVZ NSCs *in vivo*.

# RESULTS

## Neonatal SVZ NSCs Release EVs

Primary cultures of postnatal day zero (P0) SVZ NSCs cultured as a monolayer were subjected to immunocytochemistry and western blotting for the NSC marker protein Nestin. Most cells (~92%) were Nestin-positive (**Figure 1A**). Conversely, SVZ cultures were negative for the migrating neuroblast marker doublecortin (DCX; data not shown). Nestin could also be detected by western blot of primary SVZ NSC lysates. (**Figure S1A**) Neonatal SVZ NSC conditioned media was subjected to low-speed centrifugation to remove dead cells and cellular debris. To assess number and particle size present within the NSC conditioned media,

nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) was utilized. Four peaks were identified at 89, 129, 199, and 263nm with an average size of 164.9±7.2nm. NSC conditioned media was also subjected to an ultracentrifugation protocol to further isolate EVs. Ultracentrifugation yielded an NSC P100 fraction and NTA revealed four peaks at 109, 154, 209. and 312 with an average size of 190.7±5.2nm (**Figure 1B**). Electron microscopy confirmed the size of P100 EVs, and some EVs presented a cup-like morphology, characteristic of exosomes (**Figure 1D**).

Tetraspanin CD9 is frequently used as a protein marker of EVs (Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013; Andreu and Yáñez-Mó 2014). CD9 was detected by P2 in dorsal forebrain extracts and upregulated by P7 and increased into adulthood (**Figure 1F**). Additionally, CD9 and another EV marker protein, ALIX, were detected in primary neonatal SVZ NSC EVs by western blot (**Figure 1F and 1G**). CD9 expression was also confirmed in primary SVZ NSC cultures by immunocytochemistry similar to previous reports (**Figure 1H and 1I**) (Llorens-Bobadilla et al. 2015). *In vivo* immunohistochemistry of P0 and P4 brains revealed CD9 expression along the ventricular wall in Nestin-positive NSCs beginning at P0 and increasing by P4 (**Figure 1J-1L**). Furthermore, CD9 enrichment in the neonatal SVZ was consistent with *in situ* hybridization data collected by the Allen Brain Institute (**Figure 1M**)(Henry and Hohmann 2012). Taken together, these data demonstrate that SVZ NSCs release EVs *in vitro*.

SVZ NSCs Release CD9 In Vivo

To study EV release *in vivo*, Neuro2a (N2A) cells were first transfected with a fluorescent EV marker fusion plasmid, CD9-GFP, and tomato (fluorescent protein) (Figure S2A). CD9-GFP was detected in the cytoplasm of N2A cells and exosome fractions from sucrose gradients along with ALIX, CD63 and a His-tag present within CD9-GFP (Figure S1B). 47% (n = 9, 46.59 ± 4.943) of CD9-GFPpositive particles were found outside of transfected cells (Figure S2B), consistent with the hypothesis that CD9 is released from cells. Exosomes isolated from transfected N2A cell conditioned media were incubated with naïve N2A cells. CD9-GFP could be detected surrounding by not within N2A nuclei suggesting cytoplasmic uptake (Figure S2C). To confirm uptake, CD9-GFP-positive exosomes were incubated with N2A cells transfected with Tomato fluorescent protein. Indeed CD9-GFP could be detected in Tomato-positive cells (Figure S2D). Live imaging of N2A cultures transfected with CD9-GFP and Tomato fluorescent protein demonstrated considerable movement of intracellular CD9-GFP (Figure S2E). Finally, release of CD9-GFP was confirmed by live imaging (Figure S2F).

To study SVZ NSC EVs *in vivo*, CD9-GFP and Tomato fluorescent protein encoding plasmids were electroporated into the SVZ of P0 mice (**Figure 2A**). Tomato fluorescent protein could be detected throughout the soma of electroporated cells, whereas CD9-GFP expression was more localized to the apical and basal processes of SVZ NSCs (**Figures 2B – 2I**). CD9-GFP-positive cells were more readily found along the ventro-lateral ventricular wall (**Figure 2B** 

– 2D). CD9-GFP was expressed in cells with an SVZ NSC morphology, namely an apical process that projects to the lateral ventricle and a basal process which projected onto a nearby blood vessel (Figure 2E – 2H). Cells with an NSC morphology stained positive for Nestin (Figure 2L and 2M), and for glial fibrillary acid protein (GFAP) by P7 (Figure 2J and 2K). Additionally, CD9-GFP could be detected outside of electroporated cells.

At 48 hr post electroporation, we could detect approximately 52 Tomatopositive cells (Figure 2P). From P2-P7, the number of tomato-positive cells decreased by 80% and remained unchanged at P21-P28. This is not surprising given that SVZ NSCs generate transit-amplifying cells that produce neuroblasts which migrate along the rostral migratory stream to the olfactory bulb. Therefore, fluorescence from NSCs expressing plasmid DNA is diluted overtime. NSCs were co-electroporated with Tomato and either of two CD9-GFP plasmids containing cytomegalovirus (CMV) or CAG promoters. Under the CMV protomer, CD9-GFP expression was limited to 7.52% of Tomato-positive cells, whereas CAG-CD9-GFP labeled 24% of Tomato-positive cells in the SVZ. Given that CAG-CD9-GFP was generated by cloning CD9-GFP into the Tomato plasmid, it is not surprising that CAG-CD9-GFP and Tomato co-expression was more abundant. Thus CAG-CD9-GFP was used for quantification. The percentage of cells co-expressing Tomato and CAG-CD9-GFP was compared to the total number of Tomato-positive cells decreased from 24% to 7.32% at P7 (Figure 2Q). For every electroporated cell 48 hr post-electroporation, at least one extracellular particle could be detected (54.77

CD9-GFP particles/image) (**Figure 2R**). The number of CD9-GFP particles found outside of co-electroporated cells decreased to 18.20 particles 7 days post-electroporation and remained similar (19.06) in P21-P28 mice (**Figure 2R**). Taken together, these results illustrate that SVZ NSCs release CD9-GFP, which is soon after cleared from the extracellular space.

# SVZ NSCs Selectively Target Microglia

The reduction of extracellular CD9-GFP pointed towards a model in which NSCs EVs were targeted for removal. Whether or not this process was passive (i.e. CSF waste removal) or active was unclear. During early perinatal SVZ neurogenesis, there is an influx of microglia. This increase of microglia correlated with the observed loss of extracellular CD9-GFP. Therefore, it is likely that microglia are responsible for the loss of extracellular CD9-GFP-positive particles. To test this hypothesis, immunohistochemistry was used to stain brain sections electroporated with CD9-GFP and Tomato with the microglia marker ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule 1 (Iba1). CD9-GFP-positive particles were found in proximity of or colocalized with Iba1-positive microglia (Figures 3A and 3B). Although *in vivo* labeling of EVs provided an initial insight into possible targets of NSC EVs, the lack of abundance of EVs forced us to investigate other methods to study EVs in vivo. As an initial experiment, exosomes from N2A cells transfected with CD9-GFP were isolated and labeled with a fluorescent lipophilic dye, Dil (1,1'-Dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'-Tetramethylindocarbocyanine Perchlorate) and transplanted into the lateral ventricles of P0 mice (Figure 3C). One to seven days post-

transplantation, brains were isolated, sectioned, and imaged. A population of cells near the lateral ventricles were labeled with Dil and GFP (Figures 3D and 3E). Some cells labeled with Dil had a stellate morphology and stained positive for the microglia marker Iba1 (Figure 3F).  $\sim$ 93% (92.84 ± 32.44, n = 8) of Dil exosomes co-localized with microglia at P2 and 80% at P7 (79.77  $\pm$  5.448, n = 14) (Figure **3G**). Because of their cancerous origin, N2A cells likely do not mimic NSC-derived EVs. Therefore, SVZ NSCs were isolated from P0 mice and placed in culture. P100 fractions were collected from the SVZ NSC conditioned media and labeled with Dil and transplanted into the lateral ventricles of P0 mice. Dil labeled NSC EVs predominately targets Iba1-positive microglia (Figure 3H). Labeled microglia were often contiguous with the lateral ventricles and found within the SVZ. Dil labeled cells also stained positive for two other microglia markers, CD68 and Cd11B, in addition to Iba1 (Figures 3I - 3K). Quantification revealed that a majority of NSC P100 EV-labeled cells were Iba1 positive (Figure 3L). EVs carry nucleic acids, such as mRNA and miRNA. We hypothesized that miRNAs were partially responsible for selective targeting to microglia. Therefore, prior to treatment, NSC P100 EVs were subjected to UV-treatment, but no significant change in Iba1 colocalization was detected (control 24 hr =  $76.52 \pm 4.608$ , UV-treated 24 hr = 69.64 $\pm$  9.661, control 48 hr = 77.57  $\pm$  6.263. UV-treated 48 hr = 61  $\pm$  8.860) (**Figure 3L**). Exosomes were purified from SVZ NSC EVs, labeled with Dil, and transplanted into P0 mice. More than half of all Dil labeled cells were Iba1-positive microglia (P1  $-57.07 \pm 8.134$ , P2 = 51.46  $\pm$  7.996, P7 = 51.28  $\pm$  12.13) (**Figure 3M**). Although

highly abundant in the developing SVZ, microglia account for less than 10% of total cells in the SVZ (Shigemoto-Mogami et al. 2014). Thus, NSC exosome uptake is not random, but is selectively targeted to microglia.

#### SVZ NSC EVs Act as a Microglia Morphogen

NSC EVs selectively target microglia, but to what effect this has on microglia is unclear. To understand the functions of NSC EVs, small RNA sequencing was performed. RNA sequencing identified numerous miRNA in NSC P100 EVs, with the most abundant miRNAs having reads 10-fold greater than the average miRNA (Figure 4A). Specifically, miR-9, Let-7, miR-26, and miR-181 families were highly enriched in NSC EVs. Interestingly, members of these miRNA families regulate microglia physiology and morphology (Kumar et al. 2015; Lehmann et al. 2012; Yao et al. 2014; L. Zhang et al. 2015). Based on previous reports, we hypothesized that NSC EVs induce a change in CD11b/lba1-positive microglia morphology from a stellate to a rounded non-stellate phenotype (Figure 4B). NSC P100 EVs increased CD11b expression when compared with the contralateral hemisphere of transplanted brains (Figure 4E). 24 hr post-transplantation, Iba1/CD11b-positive microglia were found contiguous with and on the apical side of the lateral ventricle, and in addition, in clusters within the choroid plexus. Dil/CD11b- positive microglia found within the ventricle and in the choroid plexus were rounded, having an average ellipticity of 0.64, whereas unlabeled CD11b-positive microglia were more stellate with a lower ellipticity of 0.36 (Figure 4F). Due to this observation, microglia morphology was assessed following NSC P100 EV treatment. Microglia are complex cells that project processes out into the extracellular environment in order to sense and survey their surroundings (Nimmerjahn, Kirchhoff, and Helmchen 2005). Therefore, we assessed the number of processes in Iba1positive microglia both with and without Dil labeling. NSC EV-labeled microglia were less complex than non-labeled cells within the same SVZ. This phenotype persisted up to seven days (Figure 4G). UV pretreatment of SVZ NSC exosomes reversed the reduced complexity phenotype (Figure 4H). Because UV treatment was able to partially rescue the non-stellate morphology of microglia, we concluded that the content of NSC exosomes, and likely EVs, is important for the morphological changes of microglia. The Let-7 family was the most abundant miRNA found in NSC EVs, therefore we hypothesized that Let-7 might regulate microglia morphology. Exosomes isolated from N2A cells transfected with a Let-7 sponge were collected. Exosomes were then transfected with either a mock or synthetic Let-7 and subsequently transplanted into P0 lateral ventricles. Interestingly, synthetic Let-7 miRNA transfected exosomes, but not the mock, induced a morphological shift in microglia, similar to the shift caused by NSC EVs (Figures 4I-4L). Taken together, these results confirm that SVZ NSCs release EVs that are targeted to, taken up by, and modify microglia.

NSC EVs Activate a Microglia Transcriptional Network, Resulting in an NSC Feedback Loop

Primary cultures of microglia were subjected to next-generation RNA sequencing following NSC EV treatment. In cultures treated with NSC EVs, 1,713 transcripts

were upregulated by greater than 2-fold, and 1,175 were significantly downregulated by greater than 2-fold (Figure 5A). Gene ontology analysis revealed that immune system processes and inflammatory responses were the most highly enriched and significantly represented terms (Figure 5B). A heat map of altered transcripts revealed that the most highly upregulated transcripts included cytokines such as interleukin-1 $\alpha$  (IL-1 $\alpha$ ), IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 (**Figure 5C**). This observation was consistent with network analysis which included a cytokine node at the core of this network (Figure 5D). Luminex assay was performed on microglia conditioned media either treated or untreated with NSC EVs. The cytokine profile from treated vs. untreated microglia was consistent with the transcriptional data in that upregulated transcripts, such as IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6, were also increased in the cytokine profile of treated microglia (Figure 5E). Regulation of cytokines is likely dependent on NSC exosome content. Since Let-7 was the most abundant miRNA transcript detected and since Let-7 activates the endosomal TLR-7 receptor(Lehmann et al. 2012), we investigated whether Let-7 family members could modulate transcriptional changes that induce cytokine responses in microglia. Plasmids expressing Let-7 sponges were transfected into N2A cells. N2A media was collect and EVs were isolated using an ultracentrifugation protocol (P100 EVs). Synthetic Let-7 miRNAs were transfected into isolated P100 EVs and transfected EVs were used to treat cultures of microglia. Measured cytokine responses revealed that synthetic Let-7-containing P100 EVs stimulated robust release of cytokines from microglia that mimicked the effect of NSC EVs (Figure **5F**). Interestingly, when NSC EVs were used to treat RAW 264.7 macrophages, the cytokine response differed from microglia (Figure S3). For example, macrophages released IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-6, and granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), whereas G-CSF was not increased for treated microglia, and IL-1 $\beta$  was unchanged in macrophages after NSC EV treatment. Suggesting that depending on the source of EVs, varied responses in target cells are observed. We hypothesized that the release of factors from microglia following exosomes uptake may exert a feedback response to SVZ NSCs. To test this, microglia conditioned media from NSC EV treated and untreated microglia was depleted of EVs and injected into the lateral ventricles of P0 mice. EdU (5-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine) labeling was performed 2 hr prior to tissue harvesting (Figure 5G). Conditioned media from treated microglia with NSC EVs, but not untreated microglia, caused a reduction in the number of dividing NSCs in the SVZ (Figure 5H). Taken together, these results demonstrated a robust and significant effect of SVZ NSC EVs on microglia signaling that results in a negative feedback loop to NSCs during early postnatal development.

## Discussion:

In this study, we provide evidence of EV release from SVZ NSCs that are selectively targeted to microglia. NTA, western blotting and EM were used to confirm the release of EVs from primary SVZ NSCs. Fluorescent staining *in vivo* and *in vitro* confirmed the presence of EV marker protein CD9 in Nestin-positive NSCs. CD9 was found to be highly enriched in EV fractions, including EVs isolated

from N2A cells. These findings support other reports of CD9 in stem and stem-like cells, including adult SVZ NSCs (Bolukbasi et al. 2012; Karlsson et al. 2013; Kolle et al. 2009; Leung et al. 2011; Llorens-Bobadilla et al. 2015; Terada et al. 2002).

The CSF of embryonic and postnatal brains contain an abundance of EVs, but the sources, targets. and function are mostly undiscovered (Feliciano et al. 2014; Tietje et al. 2014). One study reported that CSF EVs isolated from rat embryonic CSF had a proliferative effect on mixed NSC cultures (Feliciano et al. 2014). Due to their location at the latero-ventricular interface, we investigated whether SVZ NSCs were a possible source of CSF EVs. Neonatal electroporations were preformed using CD9 fused to a green fluorescent tag (CD9-GFP). Extracellular CD9-GFP could be detected 48 hrs post-electroporation near Nestin-positive cells in the SVZ. Previous studies have identified the release of particles during neurogenesis whose targets and functions are not well understood (Das and Storey 2014; Dubreuil et al. 2007). For instance, neuroepithelial stem cells (NESCs) release a particle from the midbody during NESC progenitor pool expansion (Dubreuil et al. 2007). Thus, SVZ NSC EVs simply add to a growing list of the ever-increasing developmental EVs.

The number of extracellular CD9-GFP particles decreased over time. This reduction correlated with the influx of microglia into the SVZ of the neonatal brain. To unbiasedly identify the targets of SVZ NSC EVs, EVs were labeled with the lipophilic dye Dil, and transplanted into the lateral ventricles of P0 mice. We discovered that a majority of Dil labeled SVZ NSC EVs target lba1/CD11b/CD68-

positive microglia. However, how EVs are targeted to microglia remains unclear. Other studies have also documented the uptake of oligodendrocyte and glioma exosomes by microglia (Fitzner et al. 2011; van der Vos et al. 2016). Since EVs carry various RNA species, including miRNA, and that other studies have identified the regulatory role of miRNA on microglia morphology and physiology, nextgeneration small RNA sequencing was used to identify miRNA content within SVZ NSC EVs. Several miRNA families were enriched in SVZ NSC EVs including miR-9, lethal-7 (let-7), and miR-181. Due to previous findings of miRNA regulation of microglia, we hypothesized that NSC EVs may function as a non-canonical microglia morphogen. Indeed, NSC EV uptake in microglia resulted in a morphological shift from a stellate to a rounded morphology, in agreement with previous reports (Kumar et al. 2015; Lehmann et al. 2012; Yao et al. 2014; L. Zhang et al. 2015). Since EVs also carry non-nucleic acids components, we cannot rule out the possibility of other NSC EV cargo contributing to the observed effects on microglia.

RNA sequencing of NSC EV treated microglia revealed a significant change in transcriptional networks. Of the transcripts, a notable change was associated with the immune system gene ontology terms, including immune system process, inflammatory response, defense response to viruses, neutrophil chemotaxis, positive regulation of cytokine secretion, and I-kappa B kinase/nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) signaling. In agreement with transcriptional changes, Luminex analysis of cytokine profiles showed an increased secretion of IL-6, IL-1 $\alpha$ , and IL-1 $\beta$  from

treated microglia. Let-7 transfected EVs were sufficient to alter treated microglia cytokine profiles, although how this occurs is unclear. To understand the consequences of the altered cytokine profiles of treated microglia, microglia conditioned media was depleted of EVs and injected into the lateral ventricles of P0 mice. Transplantation of conditioned media from treated microglia resulted in a reduction of the number of proliferating SVZ NSCs, as determined by EdU labeling. Other studies have also reported the regulatory effect of microglia on dentate gyrus and embryonic ventricular zone NSCs (Cunningham, Martínez-Cerdeño, and Noctor 2013; Gebara et al. 2013).

The results of this study are two-fold: 1) EVs act as a method of intercellular communication and 2) SVZ NSC EVs are targeted to and alter microglia physiology and morphology. We propose that during neonatal SVZ neurogenesis, SVZ NSCs release EVs that act as a non-canonical microglia morphogen which affect the phenotype, location, and function of microglia in the developing brain. Many studies have reported the presence of EVs in normal and pathophysiological states during development and disease. While NSC EVs are just one population of EVs that likely contribute to normal brain development, future studies will be required to understand the far-reaching implications of SVZ NSC EVs in development and disease.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

D.M.F. and M.C.M. performed all electroporations. Immunohistochemistry was conducted by M.C.M, V.N.N and C.M.S. Imaging was done by M.C.M, V.N.N.

and D.M.F. Exosome isolations were carried out by M.C.M and V.N.N. Labeling of EVs was done by M.C.M. and transplantations were done by M.C.M. and D.M.F. Media transplantations and Click-iT EdU labeling was performed by M.C.M. Western blotting was conducted by J.C.H., V.N.N. and M.C.M. Culturing of primary SVZ NSCs was primarily conducted by M.C.M. with technical assistance from V.N.N. and C.M.S. All analysis was performed by M.C.M. Microglia were cultured by M.C.M. Exo-fection was conducted by J.C.H. All statistics were done by D.M.F. This manuscript was written by M.C.M with assistance from D.M.F.

D.M.F. is supported by grants from the Whitehall Foundation and National Institutes of Health 1R15NS096562. We thank Dr. Angelique Bordey for providing Tomato plasmids. We thank Joseph Caruso for technical assistance. We thank Dr. Matthew J. Haney of the Nanomedicine Characterization core facility at the Center for Nanotechnology in Drug Delivery at the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill. We thank Sue Ann Mentone of the Department of Cellular and Molecular Physiology, Yale University School of Medicine, for expertise in electron microscopy. We thank Paulomi Aldo and Dr. Gil Mor of the Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Sciences at Yale University for assistance with Luminex assays.

## DISCLOSURES

The authors have nothing to disclose.

## **Experimental Procedures**

Animals

Experiments were performed according to guidelines set forth by the Clemson University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and NIH Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. Pregnant CD-1 mice obtained from Charles River Laboratories were housed under pathogen-free conditions with a 12-hr light/dark cycle. For primary cell culture, EV and exosome preparation, and sequencing, pooled samples of both genders were used.

#### Cell Culture, Transfections, and Immunocytochemistry

N2a mouse neuroblastoma cells (American Type Culture Collection CCL-131) were maintained in tissue culture-treated polystyrene multi-well plates or flasks (Falcon; BD Biosciences Discovery Labware) in a 37°C incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. N2a cells were routinely propagated and DNA transfections were performed with PolyJet (SignaGen Laboratories) as previously described (<u>Feliciano et al. 2013b</u>).

For immunocytochemistry experiments, when Neuro-2a cells reached 80-90% confluence, they were passaged onto circular coverslips in six-well plates 24 hours prior to transfection. Cells were then transfected with PolyJet (SignaGen Laboratories) with DNA vectors according to manufacturer's recommendations. 48 hours post-transfection, cells were subjected to live imaging (see below) or fixed using 4% paraformaldehyde in 1X DMEM by replacing half of the media three consecutive times. In short, half of the DMEM media was removed and replaced with 4% PFA. This was repeated three times over a course of 10 minutes.

Coverslips were then rinsed three times in wash buffer (PBS, 0.1% Tween-20) and incubated with 1 nM TO-PRO-3 lodide (Topro) in DMSO (Life Technologies). Coverslips were then washed sequentially in wash buffer and 1X PBS and mounted in ProLong Gold antifade reagent (Life Technologies) and imaged at described.

## Live Imaging

24-48 hrs after transfection of N2a cells with CD9-GFP and Tomato plasmids, coverslips containing cells were placed in a perfusion chamber. Cells were continuous perfused using pre-warmed culture media (37°C) through a pump (Harvard Apparatus, Catalog # 70- 2027)/vacuum system (Warner Instruments, Model # 64-1940 (DMV). Cells were subjected to live imaging in 4 hr intervals. Movies were collected, and representative snapshots were chosen for further analysis.

## Electroporation

Electroporations were performed as described previously (Feliciano et al., 2013). Briefly, DNA combined with fast green was injected into the lateral ventricle. Pups were electroporated with a BTX ECM 830 Square Wave Pulse generator and Tweezertrodes (Harvard Apparatus).

# Slice Preparation and Immunohistochemistry

Slices were prepared as described previously (Feliciano et al., 2011). Antibodies used included Nestin (Novus Biologicals, NB100-

1604), CD9 (eBioscience, 14-0091-81), Iba1 (Novus, NB100-2833), CD68 (Bio-Rad, MCA1957), CD11b (Bio-Rad, MCA711G), or GFAP (Cell Signaling Technology, 12389S). Secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa Fluor 488 or Alexa Fluor 633 (Life Technologies) were incubated overnight at 4°C.

## Imaging

Images were taken on a Leica TCS SPE spectral confocal microscope using 20×, 40×, or 63× oil immersion lenses. Images were processed using Leica Application Suite X software (Leica Microsystems).

## Exosome Isolation

Supernatant was collected and centrifuged at 300  $\times$  q for 10 min and 2,000  $\times$  q for 10 min, followed by 100,000  $\times q$  centrifugation in a Beckman Coulter Optima MAX-XP with a TLA 100.3 rotor for 90 min (P100 fraction). EVs were then subjected to further purification via sucrose density gradients consisting of 8%, 30%, 45%, and 60% layers in PBS and centrifuged at 232,000  $\times$  g for 30 min to 18 hr at 4°C. 10 fractions were collected, diluted 1:10 in PBS, and centrifuged for 1 hr at 100,000 x q. Each fraction was re-suspended in 4x Laemmli buffer and subjected PBS to western blotting or for further analysis. For exosome transfection experiments, P100 fractions were resuspended in 2.5 M sucrose, and density gradients were constructed from 2.5 M to 0.25 M (2.5 M, 2 M, 1.5 M, 1 M, 0.5 M, and 0.25 M). Gradients were centrifuged at 100,000  $\times q$  for 18 hr at 4°C. 10 Fractions were collected and diluted 1:10 in PBS and centrifuged

for 1 hr at 100,000 × g at 4°C. Fractions were resuspended in Dulbecco's PBS and stored at –20°C.

#### Electron Microscopy

Preformed at Department of Cellular and Molecular Physiology, Yale University School of Medicine.

EVs suspended in 4% paraformaldehyde were embedded in a formvar carboncoated grid, washed in PBS, fixed in 1% glutaraldehyde, and stained with saturated aqueous uranyl oxalate. EVs were embedded in 0.4% w/v uranyl acetate and 1.8% w/v methylcellulose. Samples were imaged with a Carl Zeiss 910 electron microscope (Carl Zeiss Microscopy, Thornwood, NY).

#### Neonatal Transplantation and Click-iT EdU Labeling

Dil-labeled P100 fractions were preloaded into capillary tubes and loaded with 2  $\mu$ L of EV/Dil/PBS mixture, and EVs were injected into the lateral ventricle. Pups were placed onto a heating pad for 5 min until recovered and placed back into cages. Medium collected from cultured microglia was loaded into capillary tubes, and approximately 2  $\mu$ L of medium was transplanted into the lateral ventricles of P0 pups. The Click-iT EdU imaging kit (Invitrogen, C10338) was used according to the manufacturer's protocol to assess proliferation.

#### Dil Labeling of P100 Fractions

P100 fractions were isolated as described above. P100 fractions were centrifuged at  $14,000 \times g$  for 30 min. Pellets were re-suspended in PBS and subjected
to Dil labeling (1:1,000 at room temperature [RT], Life Technologies, V22889) for 10 min while vortexing periodically during incubation. Dil-labeled P100 fractions were centrifuged at 14,000 × g for 30 min and re-suspended in 1× PBS. Centrifugation was repeated a total of three times. The final pellet was resuspended in 50 µL 1× PBS and stored at –20°C.

#### Western Blot

Samples were lysed in radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer, 2% SDS, and Halt protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Samples were placed on ice, sonicated with a Q55 sonicator (Qsonica), and centrifuged, and the supernatant was placed into fresh tubes. The following antibodies were used: CD63 (1:1,000, System Biosciences), CD9 (1:1,000, System Biosciences), ALIX (3A9, 1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, 21711), βtubulin III (Aves Labs, TUJ), or His tag (D3I1O, 1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, 12698). Horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated antibodies from Life Technologies а secondary antibody (1:3,333–1:5,000). were used as Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes were incubated with ECL substrate (Pierce) and exposed to Amersham Hyperfilm ECL (GE Healthcare).

## Primary Neural Stem Cell Culture and Immunocytochemistry

The protocol was derived from Walker and Kempermann (2014). Cells were cultured in 500 µL Neurobasal A complete medium (1X Glutamax, 50 units/mL penicillin/streptomycin, 20 ng/mL epidermal growth factor (EGF), 20 ng/mL fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF-2), and 2% B27 Supplement). Cells were

placed on laminin-coated plates or coverslips in 24-well plates in Neurobasal A complete medium. The following day, complete media was refreshed, and the supernatant was stored at –20°C.

24 hr later, culture medium was collected and used for exosome and P100 isolation. Cells were lysed with 1X RIPA, 2% SDS, and PBS and used for western blotting or fixed by adding equal volumes of 37°C fixative solution (4% paraformaldehyde in 300 mM sucrose and Neurobasal A) directly to the wells and incubated at 37°C for 10 min. Coverslips were then washed three times, blocked in antibody buffer (PBS, 2% BSA, and 0.1% Tween 20) with 0.1% Triton X-100 and then washed again three times. Coverslips were incubated with antibodies against anti-CD9 mouse (eBioscience, 1:1,000), Nestin (Novus, 1:1,000), Iba1 (Vector Laboratories, VP-RM04, 1:500), and DCX (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, C-18, 1:500), washed three times, and then incubated in antibody buffer with the appropriate secondary antibodies (1:1,000, Life Technologies). Following four 15-min washes, coverslips were mounted in ProLong Gold Antifade with DAPI (Life Technologies) on Superfrost microscope slides (Thermo Scientific).

#### Analysis: Distribution

Co-localization and distribution of CD9-GFP in electroporated postnatal neural stem cells were analyzed using Fiji. Z stack images were loaded into Fiji software, Z-projected (Max Intensity), and separated from stacks to images based on fluorescent channels (i.e., green, red, or blue). Brightness/contrast was adjusted for each Z-projected image to reduce background noise. Using the Co-localization

plugin in Fiji, Z-projected images were assessed for co-localization of CD9-GFP and Tomato. The co-localization threshold of each image was set between 85–130 using 5-point increments when adjusting. Images were subjected to particle analysis through the Analyze Particle plugin. Green particle size was set from 1 micron to infinity to detect small CD9-GFP particles, and Tomato particle size was set from 10 microns to infinity to only count the number of cells and not cell debris. The percentage of CD9-GFP and Tomato co-localization was recorded.

# Dil and Cell Type Co-localization (Iba1, CD11b, and CD68)

Images were loaded into Fiji (ImageJ) and converted into composite images. Z sections were selected based on Dil and Iba1/CD11b/CD68 co-localization within the selected Z section. Selected sections were Z-projected using max project and separated into individual color channels. Brightness and contrast were adjusted to correct for background noise within each image. Co-localization analysis was performed on Z-projected Dil and Iba1/CD11b/CD68 images. Co-localized images were converted to 8 bits, inverted, and thresholded to 0 and 255 (only co-localized particles were visible). Thresholds of Z-projected Dil and Iba1/CD11b/CD68 images were set to 10/255 and 85–100/255, respectively. All images were then subjected to particle analysis. The percentage of co-localized Dil particles was in relation to the total number of Dil particles.

# Morphological Analysis: Ellipticity and Process Number

Cellular ellipticity was measured using Shape Description in Particle Analysis in ImageJ. Images were loaded into ImageJ, Z-projected, and separated into

individual channels (green, red, and blue). Thresholds were set at 100–120 and 255. Cells either in the SVZ or in the ventricular wall were outlined using the freehand tool and assessed through particle analysis. Circularity was reported as a value between 0 and 1, with 1 describing a perfect circle. Microglia complexity analysis was conducted using Leica Application Suite X (LASx) 1.1.0.12420 3D module software. Processes of Iba1+ cells were quantified manually in the 3D module. The average number of processes in Dil+/Iba1+ cells was compared with Dil-/Iba1+ cells.

#### Nanosight Particle Tracking Analysis

Samples were shipped on wet ice to the Nanomedicine Characterization Core facility in the Center for Nanotechnology in Drug Delivery at the University of North Carolina (UNC) at Chapel Hill. Samples were prepared in a laminar flow hood and thawed at RT. Sample dilutions were based on an initial run with PBS, 10 mM salt. Samples were loaded onto a pre-cleaned and pre-warmed Nanosight NS 500 nanoparticle characterization system (NanoSight, UK) equipped with a 532-nm laser and a 565-nm long pass filter. Mean size and particle concentration values were calculated by the nanoparticle tracking software. The Nanosight NS 500 was calibrated with 100 nm polystyrene latex microsphere standards (Nanosight, UK), and readings were acquired at 23.3°C.

# RNA Sequencing

Small RNA sequencing was performed by System's Biosciences (SBI). RNA Sequencing of microglia was performed by GeneWiz.

For EV small RNA sequencing, RNA was isolated by Trizol extraction from EVs from P100 fractions of primary SVZ NSCs. Samples were quantified using the Agilent Bioanalyzer small RNA assay. Libraries were prepared according to manufacturer's protocol (Illumina small RNA preparation kit). Samples were subjected to 1 × 75 bp single-end reads at an approximate depth of 10–15 million reads per sample on an Illumina Hi-Seq.

RNA was isolated from microglia cell cultures using Trizol in accordance with the manufacturer's protocol. Three samples from 1–2 RNA isolations for each condition were used to generate libraries. RNA concentrations and purity were assessed by Nanodrop, Qubit assay, and Agilent Tapestation. RNA library preparation with poly(A) selection was performed using the NEBNext Ultra RNA Library Preparation Kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (New England Biolabs). 2 × 150 bp reads were generated at a depth of 56–84 million reads per sample on an Illumina HiSeq. Samples had a mean quality score of 38.52, with 92.76% of bases having a  $\geq$  Q30 score. Sequence reads were trimmed to remove possible adaptor sequences and nucleotides with poor quality using Trimmomatic v0.36. The reads were then mapped to the *Mus musculus* GRCm38 reference genome available on ENSEMBL using the STAR aligner. The RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) aligner is executed using a splice aligner that detects splice junctions and incorporating them to help align the entire read sequences. Unique exon hit counts were calculated using feature counts from the Subread package. After mapping unique hit count calculations, downstream and exon

differential expression analysis was performed using DESeq2. Gene ontology (GO) analysis was performed on the statistically significant set of genes by implementing the software GeneSCF. The Mouse Genome Informatics GO list was used to cluster the set of genes based on their biological process and determine their statistical significance. Gene interaction networks were determined by Cytoscape 3.60 using Genemania.

#### Luminex

Cytokine concentrations were quantified with the cytokine multiplex assay from Bio-Rad as described previously (Racicot et al., 2017). Wells of a 96-well filter plate were loaded with 50  $\mu$ L of prepared standard solution or 50  $\mu$ L of cell-free supernatant and incubated with the Bio-Plex Pro mouse 23-plex assay from Bio-Rad at ± 800 rpm for 30 min in the dark at RT. Wells were vacuum-washed three times with 100  $\mu$ L wash buffer. Samples were then incubated with 25  $\mu$ L of biotinylated detection antibody at ± 800 rpm for 30 min at RT in the dark. After three washes, 50  $\mu$ L of streptavidin-phycoerythrin was added to each well and incubated for 10 min at ± 800 rpm at RT in the dark. After a final wash, the beads were resuspended in 125  $\mu$ L of sheath buffer for measurement with the Luminex 200 (Luminex, Austin, TX)

#### Microglia Culture

24 hr prior to plating microglia, 6 well plates were coated with 10 µg/mL poly-Llysineaccording to the supplier's instructions. The protocol was derived from Bohlen et al. (2017). Primary microglia cells isolated from CD1 mice were

reconstituted in а 37°C water bath immediately prior to plating. For immunohistochemistry following exosome treatment experiments, 3,500 cells plated in 500  $\mu$ L microglia complete medium (2 ng/mL TGF- $\beta$ 2, were 100 ng/mL IL-34, 1.5 mg/mL cholesterol, 100 units/mL penicillin-streptomycin [pen-strep], 1x Glutamax, and microglia medium [Sciencell, 1901]) and allowed to adhere for 10 min at RT in 24-well plates.

#### Exo-fection

After sucrose density gradient isolation of Neuro-2a exosomes or extracellular vesicles, the respective vesicles were transfected (System Biosciences, EXFT10A-1). In brief, isolated vesicles were mixed with 10 µL Exo-Fect solution, synthetic Let-7 miRNAs (Sigma; HMI0007, HMI0009, and HMI0017, which also correspond to mouse Let-7), and Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (dPBS). Tubes were incubated at 37°C for 10 min then immediately placed on ice. Samples were centrifuged at 14,000 x g for 15 min at 4°C. Samples were either used to treated cultured primary microglia or labeled with Dil and injected into the lateral ventricles of P0 pups as described previously.

#### Statistics

Statistics were performed with Prism software (version 6; GraphPad). Significance was calculated using unpaired t tests and one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05. All data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. The Wald test, p values, and absolute Log<sub>2</sub>Fold changes were generated for gene expression analysis. Genes with adjusted p <

0.05 and absolute  $Log_2Fold$  change > 2 were called as differentially expressed genes for each comparison.

#### REFERENCES

- Alliot, F, E Lecain, B Grima, and B Pessac. 1991. "Microglial Progenitors with a High Proliferative Potential in the Embryonic and Adult Mouse Brain." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 88 (4): 1541–45. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.88.4.1541.
- Alliot, Francoise, Isabelle Godin, and Bernard Pessac. 1999. "Microglia Derive from Progenitors, Originating from the Yolk Sac, and Which Proliferate in the Brain." *Developmental Brain Research* 117 (2): 145–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-3806(99)00113-3.
- Andreu, Zoraida, and María Yáñez-Mó. 2014. "Tetraspanins in Extracellular Vesicle Formation and Function." *Frontiers in Immunology* 5: 442. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00442.
- Bolukbasi, Mehmet Fatih, Arda Mizrak, Gokhan Baris Ozdener, Sibylle Madlener,
  Thomas Ströbel, Erdogan Pekcan Erkan, Jian-Bing Fan, Xandra O
  Breakefield, and Okay Saydam. 2012. "MiR-1289 and 'Zipcode'-like
  Sequence Enrich MRNAs in Microvesicles." *Molecular Therapy Nucleic Acids* 1 (January): e10. https://doi.org/10.1038/MTNA.2011.2.
- Choe, Youngshik, Samuel J. Pleasure, and Helena Mira. 2016. "Control of Adult Neurogenesis by Short-Range Morphogenic-Signaling Molecules." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (3): a018887. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a018887.

Cocucci, Emanuele, and Jacopo Meldolesi. 2015. "Ectosomes and Exosomes:

Shedding the Confusion between Extracellular Vesicles." *Trends in Cell Biology* 25 (6): 364–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TCB.2015.01.004.

- Cossetti, Chiara, Nunzio Iraci, Tim R. Mercer, Tommaso Leonardi, Emanuele Alpi, Denise Drago, Clara Alfaro-Cervello, et al. 2014. "Extracellular Vesicles from Neural Stem Cells Transfer IFN-γ via Ifngr1 to Activate Stat1 Signaling in Target Cells." *Molecular Cell* 56 (2): 193–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2014.08.020.
- Cunningham, Christopher L, Verónica Martínez-Cerdeño, and Stephen C Noctor. 2013. "Microglia Regulate the Number of Neural Precursor Cells in the Developing Cerebral Cortex." *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 33 (10): 4216–33. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3441-12.2013.
- Das, Raman M, and Kate G Storey. 2014. "Apical Abscission Alters Cell Polarity and Dismantles the Primary Cilium during Neurogenesis." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 343 (6167): 200–204. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1247521.
- Dietrich, Jörg, Jaime Imitola, and Santosh Kesari. 2008. "Mechanisms of Disease:
  The Role of Stem Cells in the Biology and Treatment of Gliomas." *Nature Clinical Practice Oncology* 5 (7): 393–404.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/ncponc1132.
- Dubreuil, Véronique, Anne-Marie Marzesco, Denis Corbeil, Wieland B Huttner, and Michaela Wilsch-Bräuninger. 2007. "Midbody and Primary Cilium of Neural Progenitors Release Extracellular Membrane Particles Enriched in the

Stem Cell Marker Prominin-1." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 176 (4): 483–95. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200608137.

- Feliciano, David M., Shiliang Zhang, Carole M. Nasrallah, Steven N. Lisgo, and Angélique Bordey. 2014. "Embryonic Cerebrospinal Fluid Nanovesicles Carry Evolutionarily Conserved Molecules and Promote Neural Stem Cell Amplification." Edited by Christophe Egles. *PLoS ONE* 9 (2): e88810. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088810.
- Fitzner, Dirk, Mareike Schnaars, Denise van Rossum, Gurumoorthy Krishnamoorthy, Payam Dibaj, Mostafa Bakhti, Tommy Regen, Uwe-Karsten Hanisch, and Mikael Simons. 2011. "Selective Transfer of Exosomes from Oligodendrocytes to Microglia by Macropinocytosis." *Journal of Cell Science* 124 (Pt 3): 447–58. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.074088.
- Gebara, Elias, Sebastien Sultan, Jacqueline Kocher-Braissant, and Nicolas Toni.
  2013. "Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis Inversely Correlates with Microglia in Conditions of Voluntary Running and Aging." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 7: 145. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2013.00145.
- Ginhoux, Florent, Melanie Greter, Marylene Leboeuf, Sayan Nandi, Peter See,
  Solen Gokhan, Mark F Mehler, et al. 2010. "Fate Mapping Analysis Reveals
  That Adult Microglia Derive from Primitive Macrophages." *Science (New York, N.Y.*) 330 (6005): 841–45. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1194637.
- Henry, Alex M., and John G. Hohmann. 2012. "High-Resolution Gene Expression Atlases for Adult and Developing Mouse Brain and Spinal Cord." *Mammalian*

*Genome* 23 (9–10): 539–49. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00335-012-9406-2.

- Karlsson, Göran, Emma Rörby, Cristina Pina, Shamit Soneji, Kristian Reckzeh,
  Kenichi Miharada, Christine Karlsson, et al. 2013. "The Tetraspanin CD9
  Affords High-Purity Capture of All Murine Hematopoietic Stem Cells." *Cell Reports* 4 (4): 642–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2013.07.020.
- Kolle, Gabriel, Mirabelle Ho, Qi Zhou, Hun S. Chy, Keerthana Krishnan, Nicole Cloonan, Ivan Bertoncello, Andrew L. Laslett, and Sean M. Grimmond. 2009. "Identification of Human Embryonic Stem Cell Surface Markers by Combined Membrane-Polysome Translation State Array Analysis and Immunotranscriptional Profiling." Stem Cells 27 (10): 2446-56. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.182.
- Kumar, Asit, Harsharan Singh Bhatia, Antonio Carlos Pinheiro de Oliveira, and Bernd L. Fiebich. 2015. "MicroRNA-26a Modulates Inflammatory Response Induced by Toll-like Receptor 4 Stimulation in Microglia." *Journal of Neurochemistry* 135 (6): 1189–1202. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13364.
- Lehmann, Sabrina M, Christina Krüger, Boyoun Park, Katja Derkow, Karen Rosenberger, Jan Baumgart, Thorsten Trimbuch, et al. 2012. "An Unconventional Role for MiRNA: Let-7 Activates Toll-like Receptor 7 and Causes Neurodegeneration." *Nature Neuroscience* 15 (6): 827–35. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3113.
- Lehtinen, Maria K., and Christopher A. Walsh. 2011. "Neurogenesis at the Brain– Cerebrospinal Fluid Interface." *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental*

*Biology* 27 (1): 653–79. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-092910-154026.

- Leung, Kam Tong, Kathy Yuen Yee Chan, Pak Cheung Ng, Tze Kin Lau, Wui Man Chiu, Kam Sze Tsang, Chi Kong Li, Carrie Ka Lai Kong, and Karen Li. 2011. "The Tetraspanin CD9 Regulates Migration, Adhesion, and Homing of Human Cord Blood CD34+ Hematopoietic Stem and Progenitor Cells." *Blood* 117 (6): 1840–50. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-04-281329.
- Lim, Daniel A, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2016. "The Adult Ventricular-Subventricular Zone (V-SVZ) and Olfactory Bulb (OB) Neurogenesis." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (5): a018820. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a018820.
- Lledo, Pierre-Marie, and Matt Valley. 2016. "Adult Olfactory Bulb Neurogenesis." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (8): a018945. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a018945.
- Llorens-Bobadilla, Enric, Sheng Zhao, Avni Baser, Gonzalo Saiz-Castro, Klara Zwadlo, and Ana Martin-Villalba. 2015. "Single-Cell Transcriptomics Reveals a Population of Dormant Neural Stem Cells That Become Activated upon Brain Injury." *Cell Stem Cell* 17 (3): 329–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2015.07.002.
- Maas, Sybren L.N., Xandra O. Breakefield, and Alissa M. Weaver. 2017.
  "Extracellular Vesicles: Unique Intercellular Delivery Vehicles." *Trends in Cell Biology* 27 (3): 172–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TCB.2016.11.003.

- Morton, Mary C., and David M. Feliciano. 2016. "Neurovesicles in Brain Development." *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology* 36 (3): 409–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-015-0297-0.
- Nimmerjahn, Axel, Frank Kirchhoff, and Fritjof Helmchen. 2005. "Resting Microglial Cells Are Highly Dynamic Surveillants of Brain Parenchyma in Vivo." *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*) 308 (5726): 1314–18. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1110647.
- Pluchino, Stefano, and Chiara Cossetti. 2013. "How Stem Cells Speak with Host Immune Cells in Inflammatory Brain Diseases." *Glia* 61 (9): 1379–1401. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22500.
- Prinz, Marco, Daniel Erny, and Nora Hagemeyer. 2017. "Ontogeny and Homeostasis of CNS Myeloid Cells." *Nature Immunology* 18 (4): 385–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3703.
- Raposo, Graça, and Willem Stoorvogel. 2013. "Extracellular Vesicles: Exosomes, Microvesicles, and Friends." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 200 (4): 373–83. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201211138.
- Sato, Kaoru. 2015. "Effects of Microglia on Neurogenesis." *Glia* 63 (8): 1394–1405. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22858.
- Shigemoto-Mogami, Yukari, Kazue Hoshikawa, James E Goldman, Yuko Sekino, and Kaoru Sato. 2014. "Microglia Enhance Neurogenesis and Oligodendrogenesis in the Early Postnatal Subventricular Zone." *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 34 (6):

2231-43. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1619-13.2014.

- Su, Peng, Jianbin Zhang, Fang Zhao, Michael Aschner, Jingyuan Chen, and Wenjing Luo. 2014. "The Interaction between Microglia and Neural Stem/Precursor Cells." *Brain Research Bulletin* 109 (October): 32–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRESBULL.2014.09.005.
- Terada, Nobuo, Karen Baracskay, Mike Kinter, Shona Melrose, Peter J. Brophy, Claude Boucheix, Carl Bjartmar, Grahame Kidd, and Bruce D. Trapp. 2002.
  "The Tetraspanin Protein, CD9, Is Expressed by Progenitor Cells Committed to Oligodendrogenesis and Is Linked to B1 Integrin, CD81, and Tspan-2." *Glia* 40 (3): 350–59. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.10134.
- Théry, Clotilde, Laurence Zitvogel, and Sebastian Amigorena. 2002. "Exosomes: Composition, Biogenesis and Function." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2 (8): 569–79. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri855.
- Tietje, Ashlee, Kourtney N. Maron, Yanzhang Wei, and David M. Feliciano. 2014.
   "Cerebrospinal Fluid Extracellular Vesicles Undergo Age Dependent Declines and Contain Known and Novel Non-Coding RNAs." Edited by Gerrit J. Bouma.
   *PLoS ONE* 9 (11): e113116. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0113116.
- Vescovi, Angelo L., Rossella Galli, and Brent A. Reynolds. 2006. "Brain Tumour Stem Cells." *Nature Reviews Cancer* 6 (6): 425–36. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1889.
- Vos, Kristan E. van der, Erik R. Abels, Xuan Zhang, Charles Lai, Esteban Carrizosa, Derek Oakley, Shilpa Prabhakar, et al. 2016. "Directly Visualized

Glioblastoma-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Transfer RNA to Microglia/Macrophages in the Brain." *Neuro-Oncology* 18 (1): 58–69. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/nov244.

- Yao, Honghong, Rong Ma, Lu Yang, Guoku Hu, Xufeng Chen, Ming Duan,
  Yeonhee Kook, et al. 2014. "MiR-9 Promotes Microglial Activation by
  Targeting MCPIP1." *Nature Communications* 5 (1): 4386.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5386.
- Zhang, Haiying, Daniela Freitas, Han Sang Kim, Kristina Fabijanic, Zhong Li, Haiyan Chen, Milica Tesic Mark, et al. 2018. "Identification of Distinct Nanoparticles and Subsets of Extracellular Vesicles by Asymmetric Flow Field-Flow Fractionation." *Nature Cell Biology* 20 (3): 332–43. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-018-0040-4.
- Zhang, Li, Ya-Jian Li, Xun-Yi Wu, Zhen Hong, and Wen-Shi Wei. 2015. "MicroRNA-181c Negatively Regulates the Inflammatory Response in Oxygen-Glucose-Deprived Microglia by Targeting Toll-like Receptor 4." *Journal of Neurochemistry* 132 (6): 713–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13021.
- Zhou, Jing, Gayatri Shrikhande, Jing Xu, Renée M McKay, Dennis K Burns, Jane E Johnson, and Luis F Parada. 2011. "Tsc1 Mutant Neural Stem/Progenitor Cells Exhibit Migration Deficits and Give Rise to Subependymal Lesions in the Lateral Ventricle." *Genes & Development* 25 (15): 1595–1600. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.16750211.

# FIGURES AND LEGENDS:



#### Figure 1. Neonatal SVZ NSCs Release EVs

(A) Immunocytochemistry for Nestin (green) and TO-PRO-3 (blue) in primary cultures of P0 SVZ NSCs 48 hrs after culture initiation. Scale bar, 25  $\mu$ m.(B) Nanosight particle profile of EVs derived from the P100 fraction of SVZ NSCs. (C) Electron micrograph of an NSC-derived exosome. Scale bar, 100 nm. (D) Western blot of CD63 in NSC lysate or NSC EV P100 fractions. (E) Western blot of CD9 and  $\beta$ 3-tubulin from dorsal forebrain extracts. (F) Western blot for ALIX in SVZ NSC EV P100 fractions as in (D). (G) Western blot for CD9 from NSC EV P100 fractions as in (D). (H and I) Immunohistochemistry of Nestin (green), TO-PRO-3 (blue), CD9 (red) (H), and CD9 (I) in P0 SVZ NSC cultures. Scale bars, 12.5  $\mu$ m. (J) Nestin (green) and CD9 (red) expression within the SVZ at P0. Scale bar, 5  $\mu$ m. (K and L) Nestin (green), CD9 (red), and TO-PRO-3 (blue) within the SVZ at P4. Scale bars, 25  $\mu$ m. (M) *In situ* hybridization of CD9 in a P14 sagittal brain section from the Allen Brain Institute Developing Mouse Brain Atlas. Image credit: Allen Institute.



# Figure 2. SVZ NSCs Release CD9 In Vivo

(A) Schematic diagram of a coronal section, indicating the direction of electrodes used for neonatal electroporation; black rectangles indicate the corresponding regions imaged. Image credit: Allen Institute. (B) 5x image of the SVZ of a P2 mouse following P0 electroporation with Tomato (red) and CD9-GFP (green).

Scale bar, 100 µm. (C) 20x image of the dorsolateral SVZ from (B). Scale bar, 50 µm. (D) 20x image of the ventro-lateral SVZ from (B). Scale bar, 50 µm. (E–H) 63x images of SVZ NSCs electroporated with Tomato (red) and CD9-GFP (green) demonstrating differences in CD9-GFP localization in apical and basal processes (E) and soma(F). Note the distribution of Tomato and CD9-GFP (G, merge) and CD9-GFP alone (H). Scale bars, 50 µm. (I) CD9-GFP distribution in relation to the Tomato-positive SVZ NSC soma located at the ventricle. Arrows point to CD9-GFP in the basal fiber, and arrowheads point to apical fibers with CD9-GFP present. Scale bar, 50 µm. (J) SVZ from a Tomato-electroporated (red) and CD9-GFPelectroporated (green) mouse stained for GFAP (blue). Scale bar, 25 µm. (K) Individual Z section from (J). Scale bar, 25 µm. (L) 20x image of a CD9-GFPelectroporated (green) and Tomato-electroporated (red) brain stained for Nestin (white). Scale bar, 25 µm. (M) Individual Z section from (L). Scale bar, 25 µm. (N) 63x zoom-2 image within the SVZ of Tomato-electroporated (red) and CD9-GFP-electroporated (green) mice showing extracellular CD9-GFP-positive particles. Scale bar, 5 µm. (O) A tracing of an individual slice showing a Tomatopositive cell body (red) and CD9-GFP (green). (P) Quantification of the number of Tomato-positive SVZ cells from P2-P28. (Q) Quantification of CD9-GFP and Tomato-positive cells in the SVZ from P2–P28. (R) Quantification of the number of extracellular CD9-GFP-positive particles in the SVZ from P2-P28. See also Figure S1. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001. \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.



#### Figure 3. NSC EVs Selectively Target Microglia

(A) 20x image showing Iba1-positive microglia (blue) in proximity to Tomatoelectroporated (red) cells and CD9-GFP-positive particles (green). Scale bar, 50 µm. (B) 20x image of (A). (C) Schematic of EV transplantations. (D and E) Dil (D) and CD9-GFP (E, green) fluorescence within the SVZ of P7 brains following CD9-GFP N2A EV transplantation. Scale bar, 50 µm. (F) Brain transplanted with Dil-labeled EVs (red) and stained for the microglia marker Iba1(white). Scale bar, 50 µm. (G) Quantification of co-localization of Iba1 and Dil following N2A transplantations and analysis at P2 and P7. (H) 20x image of a lateral SVZ following primary NSC Dil-labeled EV (red) transplantation stained for Iba1 (green). Scale bar, 50 µm. (I) 20x image of a dorso-lateral SVZ following primary NSC Dil-labeled EV (red) transplantation stained for CD68 (green). Scale bar, 50 µm. (J and K) 20× (J) and 63x (K) image of SVZ following primary NSC Dillabeled EV (red) transplantation stained for CD11b (green) and Iba1 (white). Scale bars, 25 µm. (L) Quantification of Iba1 co-localized EVs without (green) or with (red) UV treatment from NSC EV transplantations. (M) Quantification of the number of Iba1-positive, Dil-positive cells in the SVZ from P1-P7 from NSC exosome transplantations. Data are represented as mean ± SEM.



Figure 4. NSC EVs Act as a Microglial Morphogen

(A) Identity and quantity of NSC EV miRNAs. (B) Schematic of predicted NSC EV miRNA functions. (C and D) Image demonstrating CD11b-labeled (green) cells in Dil-labeled EV-transplanted (red) ipsilateral (C) or contralateral (D) hemispheres.

Scale bar, 25  $\mu$ m. (E) Quantification of the percentage of CD11b- or CD68positive microglia. (F) Measurement of regional microglia ellipticity. (G) Average number of cellular processes in Iba1-positive microglia following EV transplantation. (H) Quantification of the number of cellular processes in Iba1positive microglia labeled by control or UV pre-treated NSC exosomes. (I) Quantification of the number of cellular processes following treatment with control N2A exosomes or N2A exosomes packaged with synthetic Let-7. (J and K) Representative images of control (J) or Let-7 (K) EV transplantations from (I). Scale bars, 50  $\mu$ m. (L) Quantification of microglia ellipticity following control or Let-7 exosome uptake. Data are represented as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.



# Figure 5. NSC EVs Activate a Microglia Transcriptional Network, Resulting in an NSC Feedback Loop

(A) Volcano plot of p values and fold changes of microglia mRNAs after NSC EV treatment. (B) Gene ontology terms represented by p value and number of genes changed in the microglia gene network. (C) Bi-clustering heatmap of the top 30 significantly altered mRNAs from control or NSC EV-treated microglia. (D) Gene network analysis of the top differentially expressed microglia mRNAs demonstrates clustering of cytokines and cytokine receptors. (E) Cytokine levels in medium from control and NSC EV-treated microglia. (F) Cytokine levels from microglia-conditioned medium from N2A synthetic control and Let-7 transfected exosomes. #, = fluorescence. (G) Representative images of brains injected with control or NSC EV microglia-conditioned medium, Edu-labeled (green), subjected to immunohistochemistry for Nestin (red), and counterstained with TO-PRO-3 (blue). Scale bar, 25 µm. (H) Quantification of the percentage of EdU-positive, Nestin-positive neural stem cells. See also Figure S2. Data are represented as mean ± SEM. \*\*p < 0.01.

Figure S1:



Primary SVZ NSC Lysates

Figure S1. Western blot of primary SVZ NSC lysates. A) Western blot of primary

SVZ NSC lysates were probed for the NSC marker Nestin. Nestin = 176 kDa.

# Figure S2:



#### Figure S2. CD9 is Released with N2A EVs, Related to Figure 2.

A) Image of N2A cells transfected with CD9-GFP (green) and Tomato (red) and DNA counter-stained with TO-PRO-3 (blue). B) N2A EVs were subjected to sucrose gradient fractionation and subsequently western blotted for CD9, Alix, CD63, and His-tag. P=P100 fraction. C) Quantification of the percentage of extracellular CD9-GFP. D) Exosomes from CD9-GFP (green) transfected N2A cells were isolated and incubated with naïve N2A cells and counterstained for TO-PRO-3 (grey). E) Same experiment as D with the exception that CD9-GFP exosomes (green) were added to tomato (red) transfected N2A and imaged. F) Live imaging of CD9-GFP (grey) and tomato transfected N2A cells with CD9-GFP particle trajectories labeled (multi-color). G) Live imaging of tomato (red) and CD9-GFP (green) transfected N2A cells. Arrow points to CD9-GFP being released. Data are represented as mean ± SEM.

# **Supplemental Figure 3:**





#### CHAPTER FOUR

A CRE-Recombinase-Inducible and Fluorescent Extracellular Vesicle Transgenic Model System Labels Neural Stem Cells in the Subventricular Zone of Neonatal

Mice

## ABSTRACT

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are primarily membrane-derived vesicles that transfer encapsulated RNA and protein from donor to recipient cells. EV content is dependent upon its cell of origin and thus each EV generated contains a unique molecular signature. Tetraspanin proteins, namely CD9, CD63, and CD81, have been used to identify and characterize EVs. EV marker proteins fused to fluorescent tags have been utilized to study EVs in vitro and in vivo. Recently, transgenic model systems have been generated to better understand EV implication in development. Subventricular zone (SVZ) neural stem cells (NSCs) reside at the lateral-ventricular interface of neonatal and adult mice. SVZ NSCs generate multiple cells types including olfactory bulb neurons and astrocytes. Moreover, SVZ NSCs interact with EV containing cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) throughout life. In the present study, a CRE-recombinase inducible expression plasmid where CD9 was fused to GFP derived from the copepod Pontellina plumata (CD9-GFP) was used to identify CD9-GFP-positive EVs in SVZ NSCs. Electroporation of CRE-recombinase into CD9-GFP mice resulted in expression of CD9-GFP in a subset of cells within the SVZ. Moreover, CD9-GFP expression was detected in Nestin-positive cells in the SVZ. These results demonstrate the utility of CD9-GFP mice to study EVs *in vivo*. Future studies using CD9-GFP mice can be accomplished in a cell-type and time specific manner.

#### INTRODUCTION

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are nanometer-sized vesicles that carry molecular cargo, such as miRNA, mRNA, and protein (Théry et al. 2006; Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013; Maas, Breakefield, and Weaver 2017; Morton and Feliciano 2016). Molecular cargo of EVs is dependent on its cell of origin. In glioma stem cells, exosome-associated miRNA was reflective of the cellular transcriptome (Wei et al. 2017). Furthermore, in a study regarding alcoholic hepatitis, inflammatory miRNAs found in exosomes isolated from rodent and human sera were enriched in alcohol-treated conditions (Momen-Heravi et al. 2015). Validation of exosome miRNA between species and treatment conditions demonstrated the potential use of exosomes as a diagnostic biomarker tool. Three types of EVs have been described: exomeres, exosomes, and microvesicles ((Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002; Zhang et al. 2018; Maas, Breakefield, and Weaver 2017). Exomeres are comprised of metabolic, translational, and coagulation regulating proteins, and unlike other EVs, are not derived from the cell membrane (Zhang et al. 2018). Exosomes are generated when multivesicular bodies (MVBs) fuse with the cell membrane and release vesicles, called exosomes, into the extracellular space (Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002; Maas, Breakefield, and Weaver 2017). Conversely, microvesicles are produced through the outward budding and scission of the cell membrane (Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013; Maas, Breakefield, and Weaver 2017). EVs modulate intercellular communication through the transfer of RNA and proteins from donor to recipient cells (Cocucci and Meldolesi 2015; Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002; Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013). For instance, EVs released from primary cultures of neonatal subventricular zone (SVZ) neural stem cells (NSCs) play an immuno-modulatory role in NSC-microglia communication (Morton et al. 2018). Furthermore, other studies have identified the release of particles during neurogenesis whose targets and functions are unknown (Das and Storey 2014; Dubreuil et al. 2007). EVs are found in most biological fluids including cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), but again, the sources, targets, and functions remain elusive (Feliciano et al. 2014; Tietje et al. 2014).

CD9 is a tetraspanin protein enriched in fractions of EVs (Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013). First discovered in hematopoietic cells derived from acute lymphoblastic leukemia, CD9 is one of the most commonly identified EVs marker proteins along with CD63 and CD81 (Kersey et al. 1981; Cocucci and Meldolesi 2015; Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013; Maas, Breakefield, and Weaver 2017; Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002). It was later discovered that CD9 was released into the CSF of acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients (Komada et al. 1990). Of note, EV marker proteins are beneficial in identifying and studying EVs. However, EV marker proteins can distinguish similar and unique EV populations (Booth et al. 2006; Fang et al. 2007; Bobrie et al. 2012; Crescitelli et al. 2013). Interestingly, not all EVs are CD9-positive (Crescitelli et al. 2013). Similarly, through

immunohistochemistry, one study demonstrated the lack over overlap between CD9-positive and CD63-positive staining in cells (Bobrie et al. 2012). CD9 and CD63 are enriched in MVBs and are found throughout the secretory pathway including the cell membrane and lysosomes (Andreu and Yáñez-Mó 2014). Additional studies have also identified CD9 in EV fractions isolated from rodent and human CSF (Feliciano et al. 2014; Tietje et al. 2014). Studies involving the nervous system and nervous system development have identified the expression of CD9 in SVZ NSCs (Morton et al. 2018; Cossetti et al. 2014; Llorens-Bobadilla et al. 2015).

Fluorescently tagged EV marker proteins have historically been used to study EVs. CD9 fused to copepod GFP (CD9-GFP) has recently been used to label EVs *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Morton et al. 2018). In lower-order model systems, such as *Drosophila*, CD63-GFP has been used in studies of bone morphogenic protein (BMP), Hedgehog, Wingless, and Wnt signaling (Corrigan et al. 2014; Gross et al. 2012; Panáková et al. 2005). CD63-GFP has also been implicated in exosome studies in mammalian cells, including mouse, rat, and human cells (Yoshimura et al. 2016; Melo et al. 2015; Kosaka et al. 2013). One study reported the unidirectional transfer of miRNA from T cells to antigen presenting cells through exosomes tagged with CD63-GFP (Mittelbrunn et al. 2011). Transgenic model systems have also been implicated in the study of EVs and EV marker proteins. Early studies of transgenic CD9 mice discovered that knockout animals were infertile (Miyado et al. 2000). To investigate the role CD9 plays in reproduction,

researchers generated a CD9-eGFP mouse (Miyado et al. 2008). It was discovered that CD9-containing vesicles released from oocytes are required for proper egg-sperm fusion (Miyado et al. 2008). More recently tag-GFP from copepods was fused to human CD63 and used to create transgenic rats (Yoshimura et al. 2016). CD63-GFP expression is controlled via a constitutively activate CAG promoter. CD63-GFP was located within perinuclear regions within cells and could be detected in EVs fractions. Interestingly, transgenic animals were found to have shortened lifespans (4-6 months). To study CD63-GFP expression in neuronal cells, *CD63-GFP* was inserted downstream of a *Sox2* promoter (Yoshimura et al. 2018). *Sox2* driven CD63-GFP expression successfully labeled neuronal cells during embryonic development, and unlike CAG driven CD63-GFP, Sox2-CD63-GFP animals did not have shortened lifespans. These studies demonstrate the utility of transgenic animals to label and track EVs *in vivo* in a cell-type specific manner.

The SVZ is one of two neurogenic regions in the postnatal brain (Taverna, Götz, and Huttner 2014; Lim and Alvarez-Buylla 2016; Bjornsson et al. 2015). The SVZ is comprised of multiple cell types including neural-derived cells, such as astrocytes and ependyma, and non-neural-derived cells, such as microglia, endothelial cells, and pericytes (Bjornsson et al. 2015). Cells in the adult SVZ are arranged in a pinwheel structure surrounding NSCs (Mirzadeh et al. 2008). What developmental factors contribute to the generation of this architecture is only partially understood. Due to their abundance in the CSF, some studies point to

EVs as a source of neuro-developmental factors (Bátiz et al. 2016). Indeed, in a study conducted on rat embryonic CSF (eCSF) EVs, it was demonstrated that isolated eCSF EVs have a proliferative effect in mixed cultures of NPCs (Feliciano et al. 2014). Moreover, Coultier and colleagues demonstrated that mutations in the exosome biogenesis pathway resulted in microcephaly in patients via a reduction in Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) signaling (Coulter et al. 2018).

To study EV release from SVZ NSCs *in vivo*, a CRE-recombinase inducible transgenic mouse to label and track EVs was generated. CD9 was fused to the copepod GFP (CD9-GFP) and inserted downstream of a stop sequence flanked by loxP excision sites. The transgene backbone was modeled of off previous studies (Sasaki et al. 2006; Zambrowicz et al. 1997). 48 hrs following electroporation of CRE-recombinase into postnatal day 0 (P0) transgenic mice, CD9-GFP could be detected in Nestin-positive cells in the SVZ. This study demonstrates the potential of Nestin-positive SVZ NSCs to release EVs. Furthermore, the generation of this *in vivo* EV labeling system will allow for studies of EVs to be carried out in a spatial- and temporal-specific manner.

# RESULTS

# Generation and Validation of Transgenic CD9-GFP Mouse

To study EVs *in vivo*, a CRE inducible CD9-GFP plasmid using the backbone of a previously described targeting plasmid was generated (Sasaki et al. 2006; Zambrowicz et al. 1997) **(Fig. 1A).** Since cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoters
do not stimulate robust transcription of their downstream gene in the nervous system, CD9-GFP was placed into a plasmid containing a pCAGGs promoter used in the generation of transgenic mice (Gray et al. 2011). Previous reports have identified the utility of pCAGGs-CD9-GFP plasmids in studies of EVs (Morton et al. 2018). The new plasmid contains targeting arms for homologous recombination and insertion of CD9-GFP into the mouse Rosa26 locus and a neomycin resistance (NeoR) cassette for selection. Moreover, upstream of CD9-GFP is a stop sequence flanked by loxP sites. The configuration of the targeting plasmid therefore allows insertion of an inducible CD9-GFP that is activated by CRE mediated recombination.

In trial experiments, mouse neuroblastoma Neuro 2A (N2A) cells robustly express CD9-GFP when co-transfected with CAG-CRE (**Fig. 1B-C**). The mouse was generated through electroporation of the targeting plasmid into mouse embryonic stem cells (ESCs). Positive clones were screened for neomycin resistance. Long-range PCR was performed to validate proper insertion of the transgene into the Rosa26 locus. In-house long-range PCR was utilized to genotype CD9-GFP mice (**Fig. 1D-E**). Transgenic mice containing CD9-GFP were crossed with inducible *Tomato*<sup>+/+</sup> mice to generate *CD9-GFP*<sup>+/-</sup>; *Tomato*<sup>+/-</sup> mice. Tomato is only expressed with the addition of CRE-recombinase, similar to CD9-GFP. Thus, cells carrying CD9-GFP and Tomato should express both transgenes with the addition of CRE-recombinase.

To test whether *CD9-GFP*<sup>+/-</sup>; *Tomato*<sup>+/-</sup> expression can be induced, CAG-CRE and was electroporated into the neonatal SVZ of P0 CD9-GFP mice. Within 48 hrs, CD9-GFP and Tomato expression was detected in cells surrounding the lateral ventricle (**Fig. 1F-H**), CD9-GFP expression was surprisingly lower in abundance than anticipated. In contrast to Tomato expression, CD9-GFP expression could only be detected in a subset of Tomato positive (**Fig. 1F**) and Tomato negative cells (**Fig. 1G-H**). Taken together, these results indicate *CD9-GFP* mice were generated, and in the presence of CRE-recombinase, CD9-GFP could be detected in cells within the SVZ of postnatal mice.

## CD9-GFP Labels Nestin+ cells in perinatal SVZ

Tissue collected from *CD9-GFP* mice electroporated with CAG-CRE were subjected to immunohistochemistry to study cell types expressing the transgene. It was found that CD9-GFP particles colocalized with Nestin-positive cells in the SVZ (**Fig. 2A**). Given that CD9-GFP was localized to the apical side of the soma, contiguous with the lateral ventricle (**Fig. 2A**), it is likely that SVZ NSCs release EVs containing CD9-GFP into the CSF of postnatal mice.

# DISCUSSION

In the present study, we have reported use of a transgenic inducible system to label and track EVs *in vivo*. EVs are released from most, if not all, cell types (Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013; Théry, Zitvogel, and Amigorena 2002). Furthermore, their abundance in biological fluids, including CSF, blood, and urine,

renders difficulty for researchers when identifying their sources, targets, and functions. Historically, EVs have been isolated from media collected from *in vitro* cell cultures, labeled using lipophilic dyes, and then transplanted either *in vivo* or *in vitro*; however, these techniques are limited in that over-abundance of transplanted EVs may result in super-physiological responses (Morton, Neckles, and Feliciano 2018). Additionally, transfection and electroporation techniques have also been implemented to label and track EVs. However, due to plasmid dilution over time, these techniques make tracking labeled cells more challenging in lengthier studies (Lacar et al. 2010). Generating a genetic *in vivo* model to label and track EVs to circumvent issues observed with other labeling techniques will be paramount to future studies of EVs.

In the nervous system, many cells types release EVs during development and throughout life (Morton and Feliciano 2016). Recent studies have reported the release of EVs from primary cultures of SVZ NSCs in both adult and neonatal cultures (Cossetti et al. 2014; Morton et al. 2018), but evidence of *in vivo* release is lacking. In this study, a transgenic model system, in which *CD9-GFP* was inserted downstream of a stop sequence flanked by loxP sites and driven by a pCAGGs promoter, was used to identify EVs in SVZ NSCs. Studies in N2A cultures demonstrated that co-transfection of *CAG-CRE* and *CD9-GFP* DNA plasmids resulted in robust CD9-GFP expression. Transgenic CD9-GFP mice were crossed with CRE-recombinase inducible *Tomato*<sup>+/+</sup> to generate *CD9-GFP*<sup>+/-</sup>; *Tomato*<sup>+/-</sup>

mice. CAG-CRE was electroporated into P0 *CD9-GFP*<sup>+/-</sup>; *Tomato*<sup>+/-</sup> mice. CD9-GFP was expressed in Nestin-positive SVZ NSCs.

Previous reports have used other EV marker proteins to label and track EVs in vivo. However, it is important to note that different EV marker proteins label different populations of EVs, thus the ability to label and track specific marker proteins may only provide insight into a small subset of EVs (Wei et al. 2017; Momen-Heravi et al. 2015). Recently, Yoshimira and colleagues generated a transgenic rat model in which CD63 was fused to copepod GFP and inserted downstream of a CAG promoter (Yoshimura et al. 2016). Unlike the mouse model system described here, the CD63-GFP is continuously expressed in the rat model from conception to adulthood. The constitutive expression has many pros and cons. For example, during embryonic development where outside perturbances, such as electricity or tamoxifen, can cause lethality, constitutive expression of the CD63-GFP transgene allows for EV detection without any threat to embryonic development. Although, CD63-GFP transgenic rats were shown to have a reduction in life expectancy. However, since CD63-GFP is expressed in all cell types during all stages of development and adulthood, sources, targets, and functions are difficult to decipher. To circumvent the ubiquitous expression of CD63-GFP, Yoshimira and colleagues published another manuscript in which CD63-GFP was expressed under the control of the Sox2 promoter (Yoshimura et al. 2018). Sox2 regulated expressed of CD63-GFP was used to label and track neuronal CD63-positive EVs during development. This approach demonstrated

specific expression of CD63-GFP and allowed for better tracking of fluorescently labeled EVs released from *Sox2* cell lineages during embryonic neurogenesis.

Conversely, the model described here offers the ability to temporally and spatially regulate the expression of the transgene, thus allowing for studies of individual cell types or cell populations during development. For instance, Nestin is a marker protein enriched in NSCs in the developing brain. To study the release of CD9-GFP from NSCs, transgenic mice carrying CRE-recombinase driven by a Nestin specific promotor (*Nestin-CRE*<sup>+/+</sup>) could be crossed with *CD9-GFP*<sup>+/+</sup> mice. *Nestin-CRE*<sup>+/-</sup>; *CD9-GFP*<sup>+/-</sup> mice would offer researchers spatial control over CD9-GFP expression. Additionally, to temporally regulate *CD9-GFP* expression, *Nestin-CRE*-ER<sup>T2</sup> mice could be used. *ER*<sup>T2</sup> is a modified estrogen receptor (Feil, Valtcheva, and Feil 2009). In the presence of Tamoxifen, the receptor dimerizes and translocates into the nucleus, and in the case of Nestin-CRE-ER<sup>T2</sup>, the translocation of Cre-ER<sup>T2</sup> into the nucleus would result in CD9-GFP expression in Nestin-expressing cells. The integration of Nestin-CRE-ER<sup>T2</sup> would allow for a temporal regulation of CD9-GFP expression.

The growing understanding of EV biology is only limited by the tools available. As the understanding of processes and functions expands, scientific tools must do the same. It is our hope that with the generation of better tools and scientific collaboration, the scientific community will only continue to move forward.

## METHODS

#### Mice

Research protocols were approved by the Clemson University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and NIH Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. For neonatal electroporations, pregnant CD-1 were provided by Charles River Laboratories. Tomato mice (B6.Cg-Gt(ROSA)26Sortm9(CAG-td-Tomato) Hze/J; Stock No: 007909 Ai9) were obtained from Jackson Laboratories and crossed to CD9-GFP mice.

# Cell Culture, Transfections and Immunocytochemistry

N2A mouse neuroblastoma cells (American Type Culture Collection CCL-131) were maintained in tissue culture-treated polystyrene multi-well plates or flasks (Falcon; BD Biosciences Discovery Labware) in a 37°C incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. When N2A cells reached 80-90% confluence, they were passaged onto circular coverslips in six-well plates 24 hours prior to transfection. Cells were then transfected with PolyJet (SignaGen Laboratories) with DNA vectors (CD9-GFP and CAG-CRE) according to manufacturer's recommendations. 48 hours posttransfection, cells were fixed using 4% paraformaldehyde in 1x DMEM by replacing half of the media three consecutive times for 10 minutes. Coverslips were washed three times for 5 minutes in wash buffer (PBS, 0.1% Tween-20) and incubated with 1 nM TO-PRO-3 lodide (Topro) in DMSO (Life Technologies) for 10 minutes. Coverslips were then washed in wash buffer five times for a total of 45 minutes and then 1X PBS and mounted in ProLong Gold antifade reagent (Life Technologies) and imaged at described.

#### Postnatal Electroporations

Electroporations were performed on CD1 mice as previously described with minor modifications (Feliciano, Lafourcade, and Bordey 2013). Briefly, high purity DNA (OD 260/280 > 1.80) high concentration (1-10  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l) DNA was prepared in sterile PBS and preloaded into a 10 cm fire polished borosilicate glass capillary tubes (O.D.: 1.5 mm, I.D.:1.10 mm) pulled with a Sutter Instrument Company Model P-97 glass pipette puller. Forceps were used to manually break tips prior to use. 10 µg/µL DNA solution containing CAG-CRE was combined with 0.1% weight/volume fast green solution and diluted in 1x dPBS. CD9-GFP Postnatal day 0-1 pups were placed onto a Petri dish and placed on wet ice. DNA mixture was loaded into the pulled glass and injected into the left lateral ventricle. Pups were electroporated with a BTX ECM 830 Square Wave Pulse generator and Tweezertrodes (Harvard Apparatus) using 5 square pulses, 50 msec/pulse at 100 volts, with 950 msec intervals. The negative electrode on the contralateral hemisphere ventral lateral to the pup's snout was used to direct DNA into the SVZ and electrodes were swept from dorsal to lateral positions using ~25° angle intervals. Pups were placed onto a heating pad for 5 min until recovered and placed back into cages.

# Transgenic mice

Transgenic mice were generated through the assistance of the Yale Transgenic Core Facility and Charles River. Human CD9 fused to copepod GFP (CD9-GFP) was inserted into a modified version of pROSA26-1 containing *loxP*-flanked *neoR*-stop cassette as previously described (Sasaki et al. 2006). Mouse embryonic stem cells were electroporated, cultured and selected for using neomycin resistance. Long range PCR was used to identify positive clones for GFP and proper insertion into the Rosa26 locus. F1 mice were crossed with *Tomato*<sup>+/+</sup> mice ((B6.Cg-Gt(ROSA)26Sortm9(CAG-td-Tomato) Hze/ice) to generate double transgenic strains.

## Slice Preparation and immunohistochemistry

Brains were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in 1X PBS for 4 hours at room temperature. Brains were rinsed overnight in 1X PBS at 4°C. 3% low-melt agar was used to mount brains for sectioning. Brains were sliced into 200 µm coronal sections on a Leica VTS1000 vibratome. Sections were incubated for 1 hour in blocking buffer (2% Bovine Serum Albumin, 0.1% Triton-X, 0.1% Tween20 and 1X PBS) at room temperature. Following blocking, sections were rinsed three times with wash buffer (0.1% Tween 20 and 1X PBS) at room temperature, and incubated with antibody solution (2% Bovine Serum Albumin, 0.1% Tween20 and 1X PBS) overnight at 4°C along with Nestin (1:500, Novus, Catalog # NB100-1604) primary antibody. Following incubation, slices were washed in wash buffer three times for 5 min each time at room temperature. Sections were subsequently

incubated with secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa Fluor-647 (1:500, Life Technologies) for 1 hr at room temperature. Sections were then rinsed in wash buffer five times for 10 min each at room temperature. Sections were mounted in ProLong Anti-fade mounting reagent (ThermoFischer Scientific).

# Imaging

Images were taken on a Leica TCS SPE spectral confocal microscope using 63x oil immersion lense. Images were processed using Leica Application Suite X software (Leica Microsystems) to render confocal sections into 2D and 3D Z-stacks.

# Long-range PCR

Long range PCR was performed according to manufacturer's instructions. In brief, toe snips were collected from transgenic mice. DNA was isolated using DNeasy Blood and Tissue kit (Qiagen, Catalog #69506) . Tissues were place in Buffer ATL and Proteinase K solution and incubated at 56°C until tissues were completely digested. Buffer AL was added to the samples and vortexed for 15 s. Ethanol (95%) pre-chilled at -20°C was added and the samples were again vortexed. Samples were transferred into a DNeasy Mini spin column with collection tube and centrifuged at 6,000 x g for 1 min. Flow through was discarded. Samples were washed with Buffer AW1 and again centrifuged for 1 min at 6,000 x g. Flow through was discarded. Samples were then washed with Buffer AW2 and centrifuged at

14,000 x g for 5min. Flow through was discarded. Buffer AE was added to DNeasy Mini spin column and incubated at room temperature for 5 min. Samples were centrifuged at 6,000 x g for 1 min. Samples were subjected to nanodrop technology to determine DNA concentrations.

Samples were then subjected to Long Range PCR. Using a Long Range PCR Kit a reaction mix was made as follows: 1x LongRange PCR Buffer with Mg<sup>2+</sup>, 500  $\mu$ M of 10 mM dNTP mix, 1x Q-solution, 0.4  $\mu$ M forward and reverse LongRange primers (see Table 1.), 2 units per 50  $\mu$ L reaction of LongRange PCR Enzyme Mix and nuclease free water to bring each reaction to 50  $\mu$ L total volume (Qiagen, Catalog #206403). 1.5  $\mu$ L of DNA sample was added to each reaction. Thermocycler protocol was programmed following manufacturer's instructions. 1.5% agarose gel was made using 1x TAE buffer. SYBR safe DNA gel stain (Thermo Fisher, Catalog #S33102) was added to get to visualize DNA. Samples were loading with BlueJuice gel loading buffer (Thermo Fisher, Catalog #10816015) and run at 104 V for 20 min.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Plasmid design was done by D.M.F. and Dr. Timothy Nottoli (T.N.). Transgenic mice were generated in collaboration with the Feliciano Lab at Clemson University, Yale Transgenic Core Facility and Charles River. In-house long-range PCR and mouse colony maintenance was done by V.N.N and M.C.M. Electroporations were performed by M.C.M. and D.M.F. Transfections were done by M.C.M. Western

blotting and isolations were conducted by M.C.M. Manuscript was written by M.C.M. with assistance from V.N.N and D.M.F.

David M. Feliciano is supported by grants from the Whitehall Foundation and National Institutes of Health 1R15NS096562.

# REFERENCES

- Andreu, Zoraida, and María Yáñez-Mó. 2014. "Tetraspanins in Extracellular Vesicle Formation and Function." *Frontiers in Immunology* 5: 442. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00442.
- Bátiz, Luis Federico, Maite A. Castro, Patricia V. Burgos, Zahady D. Velásquez,
  Rosa I. Muñoz, Carlos A. Lafourcade, Paulina Troncoso-Escudero, and
  Ursula Wyneken. 2016. "Exosomes as Novel Regulators of Adult
  Neurogenic Niches." *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 9 (January): 501.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2015.00501.
- Bjornsson, Christopher S., Maria Apostolopoulou, Yangzi Tian, and Sally Temple. 2015. "It Takes a Village: Constructing the Neurogenic Niche." *Developmental Cell* 32 (4): 435–46.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DEVCEL.2015.01.010.

Bobrie, Angélique, Marina Colombo, Sophie Krumeich, Graça Raposo, and Clotilde Théry. 2012. "Diverse Subpopulations of Vesicles Secreted by Different Intracellular Mechanisms Are Present in Exosome Preparations Obtained by Differential Ultracentrifugation." *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles* 1 (1): 18397. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v1i0.18397.

- Booth, Amy M., Yi Fang, Jonathan K. Fallon, Jr-Ming Yang, James E.K. Hildreth, and Stephen J. Gould. 2006. "Exosomes and HIV Gag Bud from Endosomelike Domains of the T Cell Plasma Membrane." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 172 (6): 923–35. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200508014.
- Cocucci, Emanuele, and Jacopo Meldolesi. 2015. "Ectosomes and Exosomes: Shedding the Confusion between Extracellular Vesicles." *Trends in Cell Biology* 25 (6): 364–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TCB.2015.01.004.

Corrigan, Laura, Siamak Redhai, Aaron Leiblich, Shih-Jung Fan, Sumeth M W Perera, Rachel Patel, Carina Gandy, et al. 2014. "BMP-Regulated Exosomes from Drosophila Male Reproductive Glands Reprogram Female Behavior." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 206 (5): 671–88.

https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201401072.

Cossetti, Chiara, Nunzio Iraci, Tim R. Mercer, Tommaso Leonardi, Emanuele Alpi, Denise Drago, Clara Alfaro-Cervello, et al. 2014. "Extracellular Vesicles from Neural Stem Cells Transfer IFN-γ via Ifngr1 to Activate Stat1 Signaling in Target Cells." *Molecular Cell* 56 (2): 193–204.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2014.08.020.

Coulter, Michael E., Cristina M. Dorobantu, Gerrald A. Lodewijk, François Delalande, Sarah Cianferani, Vijay S. Ganesh, Richard S. Smith, et al. 2018. "The ESCRT-III Protein CHMP1A Mediates Secretion of Sonic Hedgehog on a Distinctive Subtype of Extracellular Vesicles." *Cell Reports* 24 (4): 973– 986.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2018.06.100.

- Crescitelli, Rossella, Cecilia Lässer, Tamas G. Szabó, Agnes Kittel, Maria Eldh, Irma Dianzani, Edit I. Buzás, and Jan Lötvall. 2013. "Distinct RNA Profiles in Subpopulations of Extracellular Vesicles: Apoptotic Bodies, Microvesicles and Exosomes." *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles* 2 (1): 20677. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v2i0.20677.
- Das, Raman M, and Kate G Storey. 2014. "Apical Abscission Alters Cell Polarity and Dismantles the Primary Cilium during Neurogenesis." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 343 (6167): 200–204. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1247521.
- Dubreuil, Véronique, Anne-Marie Marzesco, Denis Corbeil, Wieland B Huttner, and Michaela Wilsch-Bräuninger. 2007. "Midbody and Primary Cilium of Neural Progenitors Release Extracellular Membrane Particles Enriched in the Stem Cell Marker Prominin-1." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 176 (4): 483– 95. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200608137.
- Fang, Yi, Ning Wu, Xin Gan, Wanhua Yan, James C Morrell, and Stephen J
  Gould. 2007. "Higher-Order Oligomerization Targets Plasma Membrane
  Proteins and HIV Gag to Exosomes." Edited by Peter Walter. *PLoS Biology*5 (6): e158. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0050158.
- Feil, Susanne, Nadejda Valtcheva, and Robert Feil. 2009. "Inducible Cre Mice."
  In , 343–63. Humana Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-471-1\_18.
  Feliciano, David M., Carlos A. Lafourcade, and Angélique Bordey. 2013.

"Neonatal Subventricular Zone Electroporation." *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, no. 72 (February): e50197–e50197. https://doi.org/10.3791/50197.

Feliciano, David M., Shiliang Zhang, Carole M. Nasrallah, Steven N. Lisgo, and Angélique Bordey. 2014. "Embryonic Cerebrospinal Fluid Nanovesicles Carry Evolutionarily Conserved Molecules and Promote Neural Stem Cell Amplification." Edited by Christophe Egles. *PLoS ONE* 9 (2): e88810. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088810.

Gray, Steven J., Stacey B. Foti, Joel W. Schwartz, Lavanya Bachaboina, Bonnie Taylor-Blake, Jennifer Coleman, Michael D. Ehlers, Mark J. Zylka, Thomas J. McCown, and R. Jude Samulski. 2011. "Optimizing Promoters for Recombinant Adeno-Associated Virus-Mediated Gene Expression in the Peripheral and Central Nervous System Using Self-Complementary Vectors." *Human Gene Therapy* 22 (9): 1143–53.

https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2010.245.

Gross, Julia Christina, Varun Chaudhary, Kerstin Bartscherer, and Michael Boutros. 2012. "Active Wnt Proteins Are Secreted on Exosomes." *Nature Cell Biology* 14 (10): 1036–45. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2574.

Kersey, J H, T W LeBien, C S Abramson, R Newman, R Sutherland, and M
Greaves. 1981. "P-24: A Human Leukemia-Associated and
Lymphohemopoietic Progenitor Cell Surface Structure Identified with
Monoclonal Antibody." *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 153 (3): 726–

31. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.153.3.726.

Komada, Y, H Ochiai, K Shimizu, E Azuma, H Kamiya, and M Sakurai. 1990.
"Shedding of CD9 Antigen into Cerebrospinal Fluid by Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Cells." *Blood* 76 (1).

http://www.bloodjournal.org/content/76/1/112.short?sso-checked=true.

- Kosaka, Nobuyoshi, Haruhisa Iguchi, Keitaro Hagiwara, Yusuke Yoshioka,
  Fumitaka Takeshita, and Takahiro Ochiya. 2013. "Neutral Sphingomyelinase
  2 (NSMase2)-Dependent Exosomal Transfer of Angiogenic MicroRNAs
  Regulate Cancer Cell Metastasis." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 288
  (15): 10849–59. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.446831.
- Lacar, Benjamin, Stephanie Z Young, Jean-Claude Platel, and Angélique Bordey. 2010. "Imaging and Recording Subventricular Zone Progenitor Cells in Live Tissue of Postnatal Mice." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2010.00043.

Lim, Daniel A, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2016. "The Adult Ventricular-Subventricular Zone (V-SVZ) and Olfactory Bulb (OB) Neurogenesis." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 8 (5): a018820. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a018820.

Llorens-Bobadilla, Enric, Sheng Zhao, Avni Baser, Gonzalo Saiz-Castro, Klara Zwadlo, and Ana Martin-Villalba. 2015. "Single-Cell Transcriptomics Reveals a Population of Dormant Neural Stem Cells That Become Activated upon Brain Injury." *Cell Stem Cell* 17 (3): 329–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2015.07.002.

- Maas, Sybren L.N., Xandra O. Breakefield, and Alissa M. Weaver. 2017. "Extracellular Vesicles: Unique Intercellular Delivery Vehicles." *Trends in Cell Biology* 27 (3): 172–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TCB.2016.11.003.
- Melo, Sonia A., Linda B. Luecke, Christoph Kahlert, Agustin F. Fernandez, Seth T. Gammon, Judith Kaye, Valerie S. LeBleu, et al. 2015. "Glypican-1 Identifies Cancer Exosomes and Detects Early Pancreatic Cancer." *Nature* 523 (7559): 177–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14581.
- Mirzadeh, Zaman, Florian T. Merkle, Mario Soriano-Navarro, Jose Manuel
  Garcia-Verdugo, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. 2008. "Neural Stem Cells Confer
  Unique Pinwheel Architecture to the Ventricular Surface in Neurogenic
  Regions of the Adult Brain." *Cell Stem Cell* 3 (3): 265–78.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2008.07.004.
- Mittelbrunn, María, Cristina Gutiérrez-Vázquez, Carolina Villarroya-Beltri, Susana González, Fátima Sánchez-Cabo, Manuel Ángel González, Antonio Bernad, and Francisco Sánchez-Madrid. 2011. "Unidirectional Transfer of MicroRNA-Loaded Exosomes from T Cells to Antigen-Presenting Cells." *Nature Communications* 2 (1): 282. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1285.
- Miyado, Kenji, Gen Yamada, Shuichi Yamada, Hidetoshi Hasuwa, Yasuhiro
  Nakamura, Fuminori Ryu, Kentaro Suzuki, et al. 2000. "Requirement of CD9
  on the Egg Plasma Membrane for Fertilization." *Science (New York, N.Y.)*287 (5451): 321–24. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.3027891.

- Miyado, Kenji, Keiichi Yoshida, Kazuo Yamagata, Keiichi Sakakibara, Masaru Okabe, Xiaobiao Wang, Kiyoko Miyamoto, et al. 2008. "The Fusing Ability of Sperm Is Bestowed by CD9-Containing Vesicles Released from Eggs in Mice." www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/.
- Momen-Heravi, Fatemeh, Banishree Saha, Karen Kodys, Donna Catalano,
  Abhishek Satishchandran, and Gyongyi Szabo. 2015. "Increased Number of
  Circulating Exosomes and Their MicroRNA Cargos Are Potential Novel
  Biomarkers in Alcoholic Hepatitis." *Journal of Translational Medicine* 13 (1):
  261. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-015-0623-9.
- Morton, Mary C., and David M. Feliciano. 2016. "Neurovesicles in Brain Development." *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology* 36 (3): 409–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-015-0297-0.
- Morton, Mary C., Victoria N. Neckles, and David M. Feliciano. 2018. "Isolation of Extracellular Vesicles from Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells." In *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)*.

https://doi.org/10.1007/7651\_2018\_183.

- Morton, Mary C, Victoria N Neckles, Caitlin M Seluzicki, Jennie C Holmberg, and David M Feliciano. 2018. "Neonatal Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells Release Extracellular Vesicles That Act as a Microglial Morphogen." *Cell Reports* 23 (1): 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.03.037.
- Panáková, Daniela, Hein Sprong, Eric Marois, Christoph Thiele, and Suzanne Eaton. 2005. "Lipoprotein Particles Are Required for Hedgehog and

Wingless Signalling." Nature 435 (7038): 58–65.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03504.

- Raposo, Graça, and Willem Stoorvogel. 2013. "Extracellular Vesicles: Exosomes,
  Microvesicles, and Friends." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 200 (4): 373–83.
  https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201211138.
- Sasaki, Yoshiteru, Emmanuel Derudder, Elias Hobeika, Roberta Pelanda,
  Michael Reth, Klaus Rajewsky, and Marc Schmidt-Supprian. 2006.
  "Canonical NF-KB Activity, Dispensable for B Cell Development, Replaces
  BAFF-Receptor Signals and Promotes B Cell Proliferation upon Activation." *Immunity* 24 (6): 729–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2006.04.005.
- Taverna, Elena, Magdalena Götz, and Wieland B. Huttner. 2014. "The Cell Biology of Neurogenesis: Toward an Understanding of the Development and Evolution of the Neocortex." *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* 30 (1): 465–502. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-101011-155801.
- Théry, Clotilde, Sebastian Amigorena, Graça Raposo, and Aled Clayton. 2006.
  "Isolation and Characterization of Exosomes from Cell Culture Supernatants and Biological Fluids." *Current Protocols in Cell Biology* 30 (1): 3.22.1-3.22.29. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471143030.cb0322s30.
- Théry, Clotilde, Laurence Zitvogel, and Sebastian Amigorena. 2002. "Exosomes: Composition, Biogenesis and Function." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2 (8): 569–79. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri855.

Tietje, Ashlee, Kourtney N. Maron, Yanzhang Wei, and David M. Feliciano. 2014.
"Cerebrospinal Fluid Extracellular Vesicles Undergo Age Dependent Declines and Contain Known and Novel Non-Coding RNAs." Edited by Gerrit J. Bouma. *PLoS ONE* 9 (11): e113116.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0113116.

- Wei, Zhiyun, Arsen O. Batagov, Sergio Schinelli, Jintu Wang, Yang Wang,
  Rachid El Fatimy, Rosalia Rabinovsky, et al. 2017. "Coding and Noncoding
  Landscape of Extracellular RNA Released by Human Glioma Stem Cells." *Nature Communications* 8 (1): 1145. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-01701196-x.
- Yoshimura, Aya, Naoki Adachi, Hitomi Matsuno, Masaki Kawamata, Yusuke Yoshioka, Hisae Kikuchi, Haruki Odaka, et al. 2018. "The Sox2 Promoter-Driven CD63-GFP Transgenic Rat Model Allows Tracking of Neural Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles." *Disease Models & Mechanisms* 11 (1). https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.028779.
- Yoshimura, Aya, Masaki Kawamata, Yusuke Yoshioka, Takeshi Katsuda, Hisae Kikuchi, Yoshitaka Nagai, Naoki Adachi, et al. 2016. "Generation of a Novel Transgenic Rat Model for Tracing Extracellular Vesicles in Body Fluids." *Scientific Reports* 6 (1): 31172. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep31172.
- Zambrowicz, B P, A Imamoto, S Fiering, L A Herzenberg, W G Kerr, and P
  Soriano. 1997. "Disruption of Overlapping Transcripts in the ROSA Beta Geo
  26 Gene Trap Strain Leads to Widespread Expression of Beta-

Galactosidase in Mouse Embryos and Hematopoietic Cells." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 94 (8): 3789–94. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9108056.

Zhang, Haiying, Daniela Freitas, Han Sang Kim, Kristina Fabijanic, Zhong Li, Haiyan Chen, Milica Tesic Mark, et al. 2018. "Identification of Distinct Nanoparticles and Subsets of Extracellular Vesicles by Asymmetric Flow Field-Flow Fractionation." *Nature Cell Biology* 20 (3): 332–43. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-018-0040-4.

# Figures:



Figure 1. Generation of Cre-Inducible CD9-GFP Mice. A) Schematic diagram of Cre-inducible CD9-GFP targeting plasmid. B-C) Transfections of N2A cells with CD9-GFP (green), Tomato (red) and CAG-CRE. Nuclei were counterstained with TOPRO-3 (blue) Scale bar 10  $\mu$ m. D) Long-rage PCR of ESC clones using a 5' end primers. Lanes 4-6 depict long-range PCR product expected in CD9-GFP positive

mice. Arrow = 1.5 kb. E) Genotyping PCR of *CD9-GFP*<sup>+/-;</sup> *Tomato*<sup>+/-</sup> mice. Wild type = 297 bp. Tomato heterozygote = 297 bp and 196 bp. Tomato homozygote = 196 bp. F) 20x image of brain section from *CD9-GFP*<sup>+/-</sup>;*Tomato*<sup>+/-</sup> mice 48 hrs post-electroporation with CAG-CRE. CD9-GFP (green) is observed in a subset of Tomato-positive (red) cells. Scale bar 50 µm. G-H) *CD9-GFP*<sup>+/-</sup>;*Tomato*<sup>+/-</sup> mice 48 hrs after electroporation with CAG-CRE. CD9-GFP (green) is detected in perinuclear regions in cells within the SVZ. DNA is counterstained with TOPRO-3 (blue). Scale bar 50 µm.



**Figure 2. CD9-GFP Labels Nestin-positive cells in perinatal SVZ.** A) CD9-GFP (green) particles are found within Nestin-positive (blue) and Tomato-positive (red) cells in the SVZ of postnatal day 2 (P2) mice following electroporation with CAG-CRE. Scale Bar 50µm.

# TABLES:

PRIMER	SEQUENCE	Size
5' End	F = CGCCTAAAGAAGAGGCTGTG	1.5 kb
	R = TCATCAAGGAAACCCTGGAC	
3' End	F = AACAAGCACTGTCCTGTCCTCA	4.9 kb
	R = TAGTTGCCAGCCATCTGTTGTT	
Tomato	F = CTGTTCCTGTACGGCATGG	196 kb
	R = GGCATTAAAGCAGCGTATCC	
Wild Type	F = CCGAAAATCTGTGGGAAGTC	296 kb
	R = AAGGGAGCTGCAGTGGAGTA	

Table 1. Primers Used for Long Range PCR and Genotyping

## CONCLUSION

Previous studies in our lab found the presence of extracellular vesicles (EVs) in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of embryonic and adult mammals (Feliciano et al. 2014). EV abundance was found to under-go age-dependent declines, which suggested to us that EVs have both a developmental and homeostatic role (Tietje et al. 2014). Additionally, EVs isolated from the CSF of rodent embryos had a proliferative effect when used to treat neuroprogenitor cells in vitro (Feliciano et al. 2014). Moreover, many of the contents found within EVs isolated from CSF were found to be conserved between rodent and human embryos (Feliciano et al. 2014). These finding prompted us to ask what are the sources, targets, and functions of EVs. Due to the availability of tools to study neural stem cells (NSCs) both in vivo and *in vitro* and the lack of documentation of EV release from NSCs, I chose to focus this dissertation on NSCs. Subventricular zone (SVZ) NSCs line the lateral ventricle and interact with the CSF during early postnatal development. Thus, SVZ NSCs may be a source of CSF EVs. In Chapter 2, I developed a protocol to study the release of primary SVZ NSC EVs. Currently, there is no standard for EV isolation. Many studies have implored the use of ultracentrifugation to isolate EVs and a subsequent clean-up step to isolate exosomes. Due to issues with reproducibility (Livshits et al. 2015; Bobrie et al. 2012), ultracentrifugation alone was not sufficient to isolate and study EVs. Using a sucrose density gradient, I isolated exosomes from primary SVZ NSC media. Sucrose density gradients can cause vesicle rupture and EV fusion during (Taylor and Shah 2015; Théry et al. 2006; Linares et al. 2015), but are one of the most widely used methods for exosome isolation. Then, by labeling EVs or exosomes with the lipophilic dye, Dil, I was able to visualize transplanted vesicles in early postnatal brains. In Chapter 3, I implemented this protocol to study the effects of primary SVZ NSC EVs in vivo. Dil labeled cells were primarily Iba1-positive microglia. Dil labeled microglia were found to have a rounded morphology. Small RNA sequencing uncovered miRNA families, such as the Let-7 family, were enriched within primary SVZ NSC EVs. When transfected into miRNA-depleted EVs, Let-7 could induce the microglia morphological shift from a stellate to a rounded morphology. Moreover, microglia morphology was partially rescued when EVs were subjected to UV treatment prior to transplantation. NSC EV treated microglia also underwent a transcriptional change. This alteration coincided with a change in the cytokine profile of treated vs untreated microglia. Interestingly, when media condition by either treated or untreated microglia was injected into the lateral ventricles of neonatal mice, the EV-treated media caused a reduction in the number of dividing NSCs within the SVZ. These data demonstrate a negative feedback loop in which NSCs release EVs that are taken up by microglia in the SVZ. Microglia then undergo a transcriptional change which in turn alters their cytokine prolife. This change results in the reduction of dividing NSCs, although the mechanism by which this occurs has yet to be uncovered. Finally, in Chapter 4 we implore the use of a transgenic model system to study the production and released of EVs from SVZ NSCs in vivo. Through the postnatal electroporation of Cre-Recombinase, we discovered that Nestin-positive cells lining the lateral ventricle co-localized with CD9-GFP-positive particles. Although it remains to be determined the frequency and abundance of EV release from SVZ NSCs, I propose that SVZ NSCs release EVs *in vivo*.

#### Early Postnatal SVZ NSCs Release Extracellular Vesicles

My focus while conducting these studies was to determine if neonatal SVZ NSCs release EVs. Previous reports have discovered the released of EVs from primary cultures of adult SVZ NSCs (Cossetti et al. 2014; Llorens-Bobadilla et al. 2015), but whether or not neonatal SVZ. Here we provide evidence to support the release of EVs from neonatal SVZ NSCs. Western blots of dorsal forebrain extracts showed an upregulation of tetraspanin CD9, an EV marker protein, beginning at postnatal day 2 (P2) and increasing exponentially into adulthood. Additionally, Nestin expressing cells in the SVZ stained positive for EV marker protein CD9. Electroporation of CD9-GFP into P0 SVZ NSCs showed a bipolar distribution in the apical and basal projecting processes in Nestin-positive cells 48 hrs later. GFP was also detected in perinuclear regions within the soma of Nestin-positive cells. In some cases, GFP was located outside of cells, suggestive of release. However, since SVZ NSCs generate multiple cells types in the SVZ, cortex, and olfactory bulbs, it was inconclusive as to which cell types released CD9-GFP positive particles. Therefore, I dissected and placed SVZ NSCs in culture. Approximately 92% of cells in the primary cultures stained positive for Nestin. Endogenous CD9 was detected in Nestin-positive cells exhibiting a bipolar morphology, similar to in vivo phenotypes. Western blot confirmed the presence of Nestin-positive cells in primary SVZ cultures. Culture media was subjected to EV isolation via ultracentrifugation. EV pellets produced following an 18 hr centrifugation at 100,000 x g were subjected to western blotting and electron microscopy. CD63 was detected in both primary SVZ NSC cell lysates and isolated EVs. Additionally, EVs were enriched for CD9 and Alix when compared to cell lysates. Electron microscopy images showed the presence of multiple types of EVs, including microvesicles, exosomes, and exomeres, within the isolated EV pellet. Finally, since primary SVZ NSC cultures were not purely NSCs, further validation of *in vivo* EV release was required. Transgenic mice expressing CD9-GFP under control of Cre-mediated recombination of *loxP* sites flanking a stop codon were electroporated with CAG-CRE. CD9-GFP was detected in Nestin-positive cells exhibiting an SVZ NSC morphology in P2 brain sections. Furthermore, CD9-GFP was predominately localized to the apical surface which directly interfaces the CSF. Taken together, these results suggest that SVZ NSCs release EVs.

# Final Concluding Thoughts

The field of EV biology has rapidly expanded over the last decade, and while many studies have led to profound discoveries, there is still much left to uncover. Specifically during nervous system development, studies have demonstrated the importance of factors within the CSF to control NSC proliferation (Lehtinen et al. 2011). When added to cultures of neural progenitor cells, EVs isolated from rodent CSF had a proliferative effect (Feliciano et al. 2014). Other studies have identified

the generation of particles during neurogenesis with unknown developmental implications (Das and Storey 2014; Dubreuil et al. 2007). Recently it was discovered that genetic loss of exosome release resulted in microcephaly in patients, suggesting that EVs play an important neurodevelopmental role (Coulter et al. 2018).

My dissertation focuses on the release of EVs from neonatal SVZ NSCs (Morton, Neckles, and Feliciano 2018; Morton et al. 2018). We demonstrated the regulatory effects of SVZ NSC EVs on microglia. While the results are provocative, it is important to state that transplantation experiments involving EVs raises the concentration of EVs exponentially. Therefore, the data obtained may only offer insight into the super-physiological response of microglia to SVZ NSC EVs. However, the data does suggest a developmental role in which SVZ NSC EVs act as a microglia morphogen within the SVZ. The early migration of microglia to the neonatal SVZ might then be a result of EVs released from SVZ NSCs. Upon arrival into the SVZ, microglia possibly regulate SVZ NSC proliferation and allow for the sufficient production of olfactory bulb neurons and other NSC-derived cell types. These data support the release of EVs from SVZ NSCs in vitro. Using our transgenic model system, we induced CD9-GFP expression in neonatal SVZ NSCs through electroporation of Cre recombinase. We found a low number of SVZ NSCs that expressed CD9-GFP. Of the cells expressing CD9-GFP, it was discovered that CD9-GFP localized to the apical side of Nestin-positive cells in the SVZ. It was surprising to see such a low number of NSCs expressing CD9-GFP;

however, this could simply be due to inefficient incorporation of the *CD9-GFP* transgene into the Rosa26 locus. Since the *Tomato* transgene also occupies the Rosa26 locus, there is the possibility that only one transgene is expressed in one cell at any given time. The likelihood of both *Tomato* and *CD9-GFP* expression, although possible, is very low. Since experiments were conducted on *Tomato*+/-;*CD9-GFP* mice, it would be important to re-visit this issue with a *CD9-GFP*-positive *Tomato*-/- animal. Finally, while the generation of this transgenic model system that allows for the tracking of EVs *in vivo*, it is important to note that not all EVs carry CD9 and thus CD9-GFP will not label all EVs. Other model systems utilizing other EV marker proteins will be required to study all populations of EVs *in vivo*.

My dissertation demonstrates the release of EVs from SVZ NSCs and uncovers a neuro-developmental role for these nanometer sized messengers. Future studies will be required to further validate these findings *in vivo*. Knockdown and over-expression experiments will be needed to prove the necessity and sufficiency of NSC EV release and uptake *in vivo*. While the field of EV biology is relatively new, it has already altered our understanding of intercellular communication. Further advances to scientific tools will allow for more precise and in-depth characterization of these lucrative vesicles.

#### **REFERENCES**:

Bobrie, Angélique, Marina Colombo, Sophie Krumeich, Graça Raposo, and

Clotilde Théry. 2012. "Diverse Subpopulations of Vesicles Secreted by Different Intracellular Mechanisms Are Present in Exosome Preparations Obtained by Differential Ultracentrifugation." *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles* 1 (1): 18397. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v1i0.18397.

- Cossetti, Chiara, Nunzio Iraci, Tim R. Mercer, Tommaso Leonardi, Emanuele Alpi, Denise Drago, Clara Alfaro-Cervello, et al. 2014. "Extracellular Vesicles from Neural Stem Cells Transfer IFN-γ via Ifngr1 to Activate Stat1 Signaling in Target Cells." *Molecular Cell* 56 (2): 193–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2014.08.020.
- Coulter, Michael E., Cristina M. Dorobantu, Gerrald A. Lodewijk, François Delalande, Sarah Cianferani, Vijay S. Ganesh, Richard S. Smith, et al. 2018.
  "The ESCRT-III Protein CHMP1A Mediates Secretion of Sonic Hedgehog on a Distinctive Subtype of Extracellular Vesicles." *Cell Reports* 24 (4): 973– 986.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2018.06.100.
- Das, Raman M, and Kate G Storey. 2014. "Apical Abscission Alters Cell Polarity and Dismantles the Primary Cilium during Neurogenesis." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 343 (6167): 200–204. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1247521.
- Dubreuil, Véronique, Anne-Marie Marzesco, Denis Corbeil, Wieland B Huttner, and Michaela Wilsch-Bräuninger. 2007. "Midbody and Primary Cilium of Neural Progenitors Release Extracellular Membrane Particles Enriched in the Stem Cell Marker Prominin-1." *The Journal of Cell Biology* 176 (4): 483–95. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200608137.

- Feliciano, David M., Shiliang Zhang, Carole M. Nasrallah, Steven N. Lisgo, and Angélique Bordey. 2014. "Embryonic Cerebrospinal Fluid Nanovesicles Carry Evolutionarily Conserved Molecules and Promote Neural Stem Cell Amplification." Edited by Christophe Egles. *PLoS ONE* 9 (2): e88810. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088810.
- Lehtinen, Maria K., Mauro W. Zappaterra, Xi Chen, Yawei J. Yang, Anthony D. Hill, Melody Lun, Thomas Maynard, et al. 2011. "The Cerebrospinal Fluid Provides a Proliferative Niche for Neural Progenitor Cells." *Neuron* 69 (5): 893–905. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.01.023.
- Linares, Romain, Sisareuth Tan, Céline Gounou, Nicolas Arraud, and Alain R. Brisson. 2015. "High-Speed Centrifugation Induces Aggregation of Extracellular Vesicles." *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles* 4 (1): 29509. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v4.29509.
- Livshits, Mikhail A., Elena Khomyakova, Evgeniy G. Evtushenko, Vassili N.
  Lazarev, Nikolay A. Kulemin, Svetlana E. Semina, Edward V. Generozov,
  Vadim M. Govorun, and Vadim M Govorun. 2015. "Isolation of Exosomes by
  Differential Centrifugation: Theoretical Analysis of a Commonly Used
  Protocol." *Scientific Reports* 5 (1): 17319. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17319.
- Llorens-Bobadilla, Enric, Sheng Zhao, Avni Baser, Gonzalo Saiz-Castro, Klara Zwadlo, and Ana Martin-Villalba. 2015. "Single-Cell Transcriptomics Reveals a Population of Dormant Neural Stem Cells That Become Activated upon Brain Injury." *Cell Stem Cell* 17 (3): 329–40.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2015.07.002.

- Morton, Mary C., Victoria N. Neckles, and David M. Feliciano. 2018. "Isolation of Extracellular Vesicles from Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells." In *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)*. https://doi.org/10.1007/7651\_2018\_183.
- Morton, Mary C, Victoria N Neckles, Caitlin M Seluzicki, Jennie C Holmberg, and David M Feliciano. 2018. "Neonatal Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells Release Extracellular Vesicles That Act as a Microglial Morphogen." *Cell Reports* 23 (1): 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.03.037.
- Taylor, Douglas D., and Sahil Shah. 2015. "Methods of Isolating Extracellular Vesicles Impact Down-Stream Analyses of Their Cargoes." *Methods* 87 (October): 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2015.02.019.
- Théry, Clotilde, Sebastian Amigorena, Graça Raposo, and Aled Clayton. 2006. "Isolation and Characterization of Exosomes from Cell Culture Supernatants and Biological Fluids." *Current Protocols in Cell Biology* 30 (1): 3.22.1-3.22.29. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471143030.cb0322s30.
- Tietje, Ashlee, Kourtney N. Maron, Yanzhang Wei, and David M. Feliciano. 2014. "Cerebrospinal Fluid Extracellular Vesicles Undergo Age Dependent Declines and Contain Known and Novel Non-Coding RNAs." Edited by Gerrit J. Bouma. *PLoS ONE* 9 (11): e113116. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0113116.